
CABINET
4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 26TH SEPTEMBER, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER
This Agenda has been prepared by the 

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA
1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


OPEN SESSION

3. Scrutiny Report Recommendations – Capital 
Engineering Project Referral (Brandy Bridge 
Scheme/ Road Slip – South Of Pontygwaith 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

5 - 8

Strategic

4. Earmarked Reserves Review 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 9 - 14

5. Integrated Impact Assessment 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 15 - 44

Portfolio

6. Competitive Leagues In Schools 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 45 - 48

7. Cwm Taf Winter Pressures Plan 2018-19 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

49 - 96

8. Regional Strategy for Children, Young People and 
Families 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

97 - 112

9. Children’s Services Inspection 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

113 - 136

10. Petition - Reduction in speed limit on the A4054 
Merthyr Road Pentrebach from 40mph to 30mph 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

137 - 142



11. NEETs Prevention and Performance 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 143 - 148

12. Future Funding for Gypsy Roma and Traveller 
Learners and Pupils for whom English is an 
Additional Language (EAL) 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 149 - 174

13. Play Sufficiency Assessment 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 175 - 198

14. Flying Start Programme Performance 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 199 - 206

Information Reports

15. Employee Benefits and Rewards 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 207 - 210

16. MTCBC Change Programme – Quarter One 
Progress 2018-2019 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 211 - 218

17. Community Zones - Update 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

219 - 228

18. Implementation of the Section 117 Policy of the 
Mental Health Act 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

229 - 264

19. Valley Life Wellbeing Centre 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

265 - 268

20. Update on Young People's Participation and 
Facilitation of the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide 
Youth Forum (MTBWYF) and Office of Youth 
Mayor 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Education 269 - 272



CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph (14) under Part 4 of 
Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

21. Cyfarthfa Castle Developments 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

273 - 278

RE-OPENED SESSION

22. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors     K O'Neill (Chair)
                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors     A Barry, K Gibbs, D Hughes and 
G Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

SCRUTINY REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS – CAPITAL ENGINEERING 
PROJECT REFERRAL (BRANDY BRIDGE SCHEME/ ROAD SLIP – SOUTH 
OF PONTYGWAITH

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The scrutiny Committee for Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside 
received a referral from Councillor Andrew Barry in relation to overspends on the 
Brandy Bridge and the Pontygwaith road slippage engineering schemes in 
November 2017. 

1.2 The Scrutiny Committee set up a Task & Finish group to analyse the root cause of 
the overspends and subsequently prepared a report for Cabinet on behalf of the 
Committee.

1.3 During the Cabinet meeting of 25th July 2018, the Chair of the Neighbourhood 
Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee presented the findings of 
the report to Cabinet. The report included six recommendations for consideration.

1.4 The recommendations contained in the report have been examined further by 
Professional Officers of the Authority. The Officers’ responses to the Scrutiny 
recommendations are included within this report.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Scrutiny Committee’s recommendations outlined in this report under paras 3.1-
3.7 and para 3.9 be approved; and

2.2 The amended recommendations set out under paras 3.8 and 3.10 be approved.   

Date Written 21st August 2018
Report Author Cheryllee Evans
Service Area Neighbourhood Services
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The scrutiny Committee for Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside 
received a referral from Councillor Andrew Barry in relation to overspends on the 
Brandy Bridge and the Pontygwaith road slippage engineering schemes in 
November 2017. 

3.2 The Scrutiny Committee set up a Task & Finish group to analyse the root cause of 
the overspends and subsequently prepared a report for Cabinet on behalf of the 
Committee.

3.3 During the Cabinet meeting of 25th July 2018, the Chair of the Neighbourhood 
Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee presented the findings of 
the report to Cabinet. The report included six recommendations for consideration.

3.4 The recommendations contained in the report have been examined further by 
Professional Officers of the Authority. The Officers’ responses to the Scrutiny 
recommendations are shown below: 

Scrutiny Recommendations

3.5 Cabinet seeks assurances from the Engineering Department that all necessary 
procedures and processes around revising and updating of drawings and information 
on completion of any project is being done (i.e. internal record keeping) especially in 
these austere times when staffing capacities are under increased pressures and 
threat.

Officer Comment – Agreed

3.6 Whilst there are procedures in place to raise any concerns at an early stage with the 
Engineering Manager and the Accountancy Department, the Neighbourhood 
Services, Planning and Countryside Cabinet Portfolio Member and the Governance 
and Corporate Services Portfolio Member are also informed of any significant 
overspends or potential overspends as soon as they become apparent, if this is not 
already being done.

Officer Comment – Agreed

3.7 Each of the Scrutiny Committees receives quarterly reports on any significant project 
underspends/overspends, within the committees remit, in order that scrutiny 
committees may challenge the position.

Officer Comment – Agreed

3.8 Consideration is given to more robust and stringent procedures during the initial 
survey stages with the aim of reducing the possibility of unforeseen works later on 
during the project.

Officer comment:  Due diligence checks are already in place. Cabinet should 
note that as with all Engineering projects, detailed investigation work is 

Page 6



undertaken via professional specialists during the initial design stages of a 
project. However, due to the complex nature of Engineering works, there is no 
guarantee that unforeseen conditions will not be encountered. 

Para 4.16 of the scrutiny report on the Brandy Bridge project actually states 
‘when the original samples during the concrete testing were taken, it was very 
difficult to get the full picture of the condition and work required. As evidenced in 
photographs  there were areas where the original steel reinforcement was still in 
perfect condition, however, within 200mm the steel reinforcement was completely 
rusted away’.   

Suggested recommendation:  ‘on complex projects, the Engineering 
Department should allow a greater contingency sum within the contract to deal 
with unforeseen works’ 

3.9 As anyone can monitor the Authority’s approved Capital Programme by looking 
through Council reports and minutes (these reports are not exempt), consideration 
be given to these reports and minutes being made exempt until after the tendering 
process. 

Officer Comment - Agreed

3.10 Whilst appreciating that contractual documentation is subject to legislation and 
regulations, consideration is given to whether amending the contractual 
documentation could offer any or better protection to the Authority against 
overspends e.g. clawback, maximum contract amount.

Officer Comment:  It is a dangerous practice to amend core clauses of 
Standard Forms of Contract  (e.g. NEC, ICE, JCT). 

The Standard Forms of Contract contain mechanisms to deal with unforeseen 
works. It should be noted that when dealing with unforeseen works, the rates 
included in the contract are used when possible to value the additional works 
required.  The cost of the additional works is assessed and verified by 
professional Quantity Surveyors and Project Engineers. In essence, this 
means that the true value of the works, including the unforeseen element, 
should not be significantly greater than at tender stage if all works were clearly 
known. 

Suggested recommendation:  ‘The Engineering Department review the 
contract strategy for specific projects (i.e. choice of standard contract) to 
ensure greater certainty of price’. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

Page 7



5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR KEVIN GIBBS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Cabinet Report 

SCRUTINY 
RECOMMENDATIONS – 
CAPITAL ENGINEERING 
PROJECT REFERRAL 
(BRANDY BRIDGE SCHEME/ 
ROAD SLIP – SOUTH OF 
PONTYGWAITH

25th July 2018 MTCBC Website

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 8



Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Earmarked Reserves Review

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Local Authority responsibilities in respect of financial reserves are governed by 
statute and in particular the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

 
1.2 This report details the outcomes of a further review of the Authority’s Earmarked 

Reserves.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that:

2.1     The Earmarked Reserves Review Report be received.

2.2 The release of Earmarked Reserves surplus to requirement to the Budget Reserve, 
as detailed in Appendix 1 be approved.

2.3 The requests for utilisation of the Corporate Investment Fund to the value of £47,000 
be approved.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Corporate Reserves Policy approved by Council on 22nd March 2017 defines 
Earmarked Reserves as:

“Balances held for specific purposes across the range of Council services to meet 
known or predicted future requirements. These reserves are typically established to 

Date Written 11th September 2018
Report Author Steve Jones/Adele Lewis
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



address temporary need and considered on a risk basis and should only be created 
to meet one-off and time limited expenditure.”

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 £0.531 million of the Authority’s Earmarked Reserves have been identified as being 
surplus to requirement. An analysis of these reserves is detailed in Appendix 1.

4.2 Two requests have been made to utilise the Corporate Investment Fund. The 
purpose of the request and the timescales for utilisation are included within Appendix 
2.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE  

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Earmarked Reserves 
Review Spreadsheets

 
June to August 2018 Accountancy Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 10



Appendix 1
Earmarked Reserves Surplus to Requirements

Earmarked Reserve

31st 
March 
2018         
£'000

Explanation

Welfare Changes 2013 35 This relates to monies primarily received from the Department for Works and Pensions for 
various one off projects. Project expenditure has been funded from existing budgets, hence 
this balance is available for general release. 

Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) Improvement 
Fund

44 This relates to monies received several years ago from the WLGA to fund Improvement 
projects, the service area have confirmed the balance can be released.

Legal Aid, Sentencing, & Punishment of Offenders (LASPO) 127 This relates to monies received from the Home Office for Youth Offending . The funding is 
based on National trend data and the levels of Youth Offending experienced within the Borough 
has been significantly lower and has generated underspends against the allocation year on 
year. Unspent monies do not have to be returned to the funding body and has been held to 
drawdown against any upturn in the demand. This demand has not materialised and as new 
money is received each year to fund in year expenditure, the historic balance of £127,000 can 
be released.

Care Provision (Children Social Services) 20 Ongoing reviews of these balances have been carried out since 2014/15. The current review 
has confirmed that all previous earmarked commitments have been met and that there are no 
residual liabilities outstanding, the balance of £20,000 can be released.

Intermediate Care Fund (ICF) 12 The balance was generated in the 2016/17 financial year. The grant was fully spent however 
funding was set aside to cover a liability at year end which upon review had been charged as 
expenditure in the correct financial year, hence the balance is surplus to requirement.

Social Services Fund 76 Ongoing reviews of these balances have been carried out . The current review has confirmed 
that all previous earmarked commitments have been met and that there are no residual 
liabilities outstanding, the balance of £76,000 can be released.

Regional Adoption Consortia (VVC RAC) 23 The Regional Adoption Consortia (VVC RAC) had agreed additional funding for the Partnership 
and pilot projects within.  The monies were held for this commitment, however the overall VVC 
RAG fund was able to absorb the burden from within the pool and there is no residual liability 
for these funds, the full balance can be released

School Milk Grant 17 Grant funding for the Administration of the school milk scheme which was claimed in 
accordance with grant terms and conditions but not utilised within year to offset spend, hence 
the balance can be released.

P
age 11



WAG Preliminary Flood Defences Risk Assessment 21 This relates to monies received from Welsh Government over several years to fund flood risk 
management activities. A scheme of work has been completed and the balance of £21,000 is 
surplus to requirement.

Highways - S38 Road Agreements 145 This relates to monies received from contractors as a contribution to staff time attributable to 
various Highways projects throughout the Borough, expenditure has been financed through the 
Council's own monies instead of the contractors monies. This balance is therefore available for 
general release.

Land Drainage Works Aberfan 4 This relates to monies received from a contractor for historic land drainage works where 
subsequently the expenditure was financed through the Council's own monies instead of the 
contractors monies. This balance is therefore available for general release.

Syrian Resettlement Programme 7 This related to monies advanced by the Home Office for expenditure associated with the 
settlement of Syrian families in Merthyr. The families who originally resettled in Merthyr and for 
who funding was received have since moved out of the Borough, and no further families have 
been relocated – there is an amount of £7,000 that represents the balance of grant money 
claimed in accordance with grant terms and conditions not needed to fund direct costs.

Total 531

P
age 12



Appendix 2
Earmarked Reserves Request

Earmarked 
Reserve

31st 
March 
2018         
£'000

Purpose 2018/19 
£'000

2019/20 
£'000

2020/21 
£'000

2021/22 
£'000

Requested 
Utilisation of 
Corporate 
Investment Fund

30 To extend the temporary 0.5 FTE Grade 6 Additional Learning Needs (ALN) Officer for 
the academic years 2018-19 and 2019-20 to support the local authority's two year ALN 
transitional arrangements re Learning Resource Bases (LRBs) and Pupil Referral 
Units (PRU) restructuring; and to support the local authority, Headteachers, and school 
staff prepare in readiness for the ALN Transformation Bill 

8 15 7 0

Requested 
Utilisation of 
Corporate 
Investment Fund

17 To extend the temporary 0.6 FTE Grade3 Admissions Assistant role for the academic 
year 2018-19 (Sep 2018 - Aug 2019).
The service is not currently in a position to lose this post due to the ongoing workload 
demands with Admissions including three nursery/pre-nursery admission rounds per 
annum which has positively impacted on the access and availability of nursery places 
and there are also significant mid-term admissions across Primary and Secondary 
sectors. Neither Nursery nor mid-term admissions are online yet. The main Primary 
and Secondary Admissions are on-line currently but further work is required to bring all 
admission rounds online and to assess the corresponding efficiency saving in staff 
resources.
An academic year extension is requested to be reviewed in April 2019 to enable this 
work to be progressed and to consider further exploration of collaboration options with 
other Local Authorities regarding the Admissions administration process. 

10 7

Total 47 18 22 7 0

Financial Year to be Utilised

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Integrated Impact Assessment

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 In line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) 
Regulations 2011 and Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 the Council currently 
has an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) process, which is a mandatory 
accompaniment to reports on the Council’s Change Management Programme, and 
for Cabinet and Council.

1.2 In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 the Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). The IIA 
template and guidance, attached as Appendix 1, aim to support the Council in 
demonstrating how it is planning, delivering and monitoring services in line with the 
sustainable development principles and how it is seeking to improve the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Merthyr Tydfil, now and for future 
generations by:

- Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
- Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work could                                   
have on other services and organisations;
- Involving people in the decisions that affect them;
- Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
- Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

1.3 The IIA will replace the current EqIA process, and incorporates the Council’s Well-
being Objectives, the Sustainable Development principles, Equalities, Welsh 
language and Biodiversity, to support effective decision making and ensuring 
compliance with the following legislation:

Date Written 3rd September 2018
Report Author Kerry O’Donovan
Service Area Strategic Support Services
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



- Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
- Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011.
- Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.
- Section 6 of Part 1 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

1.4 Adopting the IIA for projects, when implementing significant change and for Council 
and Cabinet reports will ensure that the Council is taking into account the impact 
decisions could have on the people and communities of Merthyr Tydfil now and in 
the future.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that:

2.1  Cabinet consider and note the content of the report.

2.2 The Integrated Impact Assessment is rolled out for Council and Cabinet Reports 
from October 2018 onwards.

2.3 The Integrated Impact Assessment will be regularly reviewed to ensure that it 
remains fit for purpose in supporting the Council’s decision making processes.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Equality Impact Assessments

3.1 In line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) 
Regulations 2011 and Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 the Council currently 
has an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) process, which is a mandatory 
accompaniment to reports on the Council’s Change and Well-being Programme, and 
for Cabinet and Council. 

3.2 This demonstrates how Councillors, Report Authors and Project Managers consider 
Equality and Welsh language as part of their decision making.

Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment

3.3 In line with the development of the Council’s Single Integrated Plan for Merthyr Tydfil 
the Council has previously also adopted a Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability 
Impact Assessment. The aim of the Impact Assessment was to ensure that decisions 
and proposals to the Council and Cabinet were contributing towards delivery of the 
Single Integrated Plan.

3.4 This Impact Assessment was brought to an end following the new requirements of 
the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

3.5 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act) came into force in 
April 2016. The Act is about improving the economic, social, cultural and 

Page 16



environmental well-being of Wales. For the first time in law public bodies have a 
shared vision and a common purpose.

3.6 The Act makes the public bodies listed in the Act think more about the long-term, 
work better with people and communities and each other, look to prevent problems 
and take a more joined-up approach. To make sure public bodies are all working 
towards the same vision, the Act puts in place seven well-being goals. These are: A 
prosperous Wales; A resilient Wales; A healthier Wales; A more equal Wales; A 
Wales of cohesive communities; A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh 
language; A globally responsible Wales.

3.7 Together with this, the Act states the ways in which we should work to achieve the 
goals. These are known as the sustainable development principles (five ways of 
working) i.e. Long Term; Prevention; Integration; Collaboration; and Involvement.

3.8 The Act also sets out the four pillars of well-being, namely: economic, social, cultural 
and environmental well-being of Wales. 

3.9 The sustainable development principles and four pillars should be used when 
appraising options for change and in any work and/or projects going forward. They 
should also be used to challenge what is being done within service areas and offer 
the challenge around doing different things to make sure that when the Council 
makes decisions, it takes into account the impact they could have on the people and 
communities of Merthyr Tydfil now and in the future.

4.0 ASSESSING IMPACT

Integrated Impact Assessment

4.1 In line with the requirements of the Act the Council has developed an Integrated 
Impact Assessment (IIA). The IIA template and guidance, attached as Appendix 1, 
aim to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering and 
monitoring services in line with the sustainable development principles and how it is 
seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Merthyr Tydfil, now and for future generations by:

 Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
 Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work could 

have on other services and organisations;
 Involving people in the decisions that affect them;
 Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
 Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

4.2 The IIA will replace the current EqIA process, and incorporates the Council’s Well-
being Objectives, the Sustainable Development principles, Equalities, Welsh 
language and Biodiversity, to support effective decision making and ensuring 
compliance with the following legislation:

 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011.
 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.

Page 17



 Section 6 of Part 1 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

Benefits

4.3 Adopting the IIA for projects, when implementing significant change and for Council 
and Cabinet reports will ensure that the Council is taking into account the impact 
decisions could have on the people and communities of Merthyr Tydfil now and in 
the future. 

4.4 Implementation of the IIA will:

 Ensure that the sustainable development principles are at the heart of all we do 
and embedded in the governance processes of the Council. 

 Shape what we do, rather than justify what we have decided in the past - the 
shaping of services rather than the justifying of services. 

 Mean a focus up front and throughout the project/policy or decision cycle. 
 Mean better decision making that is transparent and based on evidence.
 Ensure that our decisions impact in a fair way.
 Provide a platform for partnership working.
 Ensure that risk is taken into account appropriately by enabling the identification 

of opportunities (positive impacts) and/or threats (negative impacts). This 
includes identifying actions that have been/will be taken to better contribute to 
positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts.

Council’s Project Management Framework

4.5 It is important to note that the IIA is already embedded in the Council’s Project 
Management Framework to:

 Ensure the right impacts are being considered at the right time.
 Ensure projects are appraised against the Council’s Well-being Objectives, the 

Sustainable Development Principles, Protected Characteristics (including Welsh 
language) and Biodiversity.

Council and Cabinet

4.6 It is proposed that the IIA will be introduced for Council and Cabinet reports from 
October onwards. This will further strengthen the Council’s governance 
arrangements by fully embedding the Council’s Well-being Objectives, the 
Sustainable Development principles, Equalities, Welsh language and Biodiversity in 
the Council’s decision making processes.

Proportionality and Reasonableness

4.7 It is also important to note that the development of the IIA has undergone a robust 
and challenged process to ensure that its requirements are proportionate and 
reasonable in supporting the Council’s governance arrangements. 

4.8 The development of the IIA has included the following listed below and will be 
regularly reviewed to ensure that it remains fit for purpose in supporting the Council’s 
decision making processes:

Page 18



 Identifying what is already in place across: 
o Other Councils in Wales e.g. Swansea, Powys, Torfaen, Monmouth.
o Scotland; and
o Other countries.

 Researching guidance from Welsh Government, the Future Generations 
Commissioner for Wales, Equality and Human Rights Commission, Welsh 
Language Commissioner and the Welsh Local Government Association.

 A visit to Powys County Council to look at how their Impact Assessment process 
had been developed and implemented.

 Consultation, presentations and workshops with the Council’s Senior Leadership 
Team, Change Management Steering Group and Business Change Team.

 Pilot and testing by the Business Change and Performance Teams, and other 
Service Managers across the Council.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report. Any financial 
implications arising from the report will be reported to Cabinet/Council as 
appropriate, including potential options for funding.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is required. The form can be 
accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.

6.2 The IIA positively impacts on the protected characteristics and Welsh language as it 
aims to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering and 
monitoring services in line with the sustainable development principles and how it is 
seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Merthyr Tydfil, now and for future generations.

 Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
 Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work could 

have on other services and organisations;
 Involving people in the decisions that affect them;
 Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
 Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

6.3 No negative impacts have been identified.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE,
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE & 

CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 19



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 20



Appendix 1

Before completing the Impact Assessment PLEASE REFER TO THE CORRESPONDING GUIDANCE DOCUMENT which provides essential background 
information. 

An Integrated Impact Assessment MUST be completed for:

1. Any project (i.e. something that has a start and end date and is different from day to day business).
2. Where you are implementing significant change e.g. service provision.
3. For any Council / Cabinet report that is not part of an above mentioned project or significant change.

Officer completing Impact Assessment:
Lead Officer/Project Manager:
Service:
Impact Assessment completion date:
Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal:

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
Integrated Impact Assessment
(includes Equalities, Welsh Language, Sustainability and Biodiversity)

P
age 21



1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives

Does your proposal help to deliver any of the Council’s Well-being Objectives identified below?

Does your proposal have a positive 
or negative impact on the Council’s 
Well-being Objectives? Please place 

an X in the relevant box

Well-being Objectives

Positive Negative N/A

Why have you come to this 
decision? Please provide an 

explanation

What actions have been/will be 
taken to better contribute to 

positive impacts and/or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get 
the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they 
need to be successful learners 
and confident individuals.
Working Life
People feel supported to 
develop the skills required to 
meet the needs of businesses 
with a developing, safe 
infrastructure making Merthyr 
Tydfil an attractive destination.
Environmental Well-being
Communities protect, enhance 
and promote our environment 
and countryside.
Living Well 
People are empowered to live 
independently within their 
communities, where they feel 
safe and enjoy good physical 
and mental health.
Sources of evidence to support the above: 

P
age 22



2. Sustainable Development Principles (The Five Ways of Working)

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met the sustainable development principles (five ways of working)? 

Five Ways of 
Working 

How does your proposal demonstrate you have met the 
five ways of working?

Are there any additional actions to be taken to better 
contribute to the five ways of working and/or mitigate any 

negative impacts?
Long Term -
Thinking and 
planning for the 
long term.

Prevention - 
Preventing 
problems before 
they happen.

Integration - 
Integrating with 
other strategies.

Collaboration - 
Collaborating with 
others.

Involvement - 
Involving people 
and communities.

Sources of evidence to support the above: 

P
age 23



3. Protected Characteristics (including Welsh Language)

Does your proposal directly impact on service users, employees and/or the wider community, including the nine protected characteristic groups 
and Welsh language as identified below?

Does your proposal have a positive 
or negative impact on service users, 

employees and/or the wider 
community, including the nine 

protected characteristic groups and 
Welsh language? Please place an X 

in the relevant box

Protected 
Characteristics

Positive Negative N/A

Why have you come to this 
decision? Please provide an 

explanation

What actions have been/will be 
taken to better contribute to 

positive impacts and/or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Age

Disability

Gender Reassignment

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership

Pregnancy and Maternity

Race

Religion or Belief

Sex (Gender)

Sexual Orientation

Welsh Language

Sources of evidence to support the above: 

P
age 24



4. Biodiversity

Does your proposal directly impact on Biodiversity?

Does your proposal have a positive 
or negative impact on Biodiversity?

Please place an X in the relevant 
box

Biodiversity

Positive Negative N/A

Why have you come to this 
decision? Please provide an 

explanation

What actions have been/will be 
taken to better contribute to 

positive impacts and/or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Maintain and enhance 
biodiversity and ecosystem 
resilience

Sources of evidence to support the above:

P
age 25



5. Summary

As a result of completing this Impact Assessment, how many positive and negative impacts does 
your proposal have? This section should then be included in the related Council/Cabinet report.

Please see the example provided in the guidance document.

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives of 4 of 4 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

of 5 of 5 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) of 10 of 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity of 1 of 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts against…are…

The main negative impacts against…are…

Page 26



6. Actions

Based on the summary of your positive and negative impacts, identified in Section 5 above, will you need to make changes to your proposal to 
better contribute to positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts? Please identify any further actions you will need to undertake to better 
contribute to positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts.

What are you going to 
do?

Estimated completion 
date

Who will be 
responsible?

Timelines/Milestones 
e.g. 6 months/over a 

year, etc.

Progress

7. Version Control 

The Impact Assessment should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then honed and refined throughout the decision making 
process. Please use the table below to keep a record of this process so that we can demonstrate how we have considered and built in the sustainable 
development principles where possible.

Version 
No.

Decision making stage Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 
consideration

8. Sign off section 

Approved by:________________________

Job Title:____________________________

Approval date:_________________

P
age 27



Please complete the corresponding Integrated Impact Assessment Template and do not “write over” this guidance document. 

Officer completing Impact Assessment:
Lead Officer/Project Manager:
Service:
Impact Assessment completion date:

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires all public bodies to demonstrate that we are improving social, economic, environmental 
and cultural well-being, whilst also looking to the future, planning for the long term and ensuring that we don’t compromise the ability of future generations 
to meet their own needs. This is called sustainable development.  

This guide aims to help officers in explaining how they are planning, delivering and monitoring services in line with the sustainable development 
principles (the five ways of working) and how we are seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Merthyr Tydfil, now 
and for future generations by:

1. Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
2. Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work could have on other services and organisations;
3. Involving people in the decisions that affect them;
4. Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
5. Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

The Welsh Government has set a high level vision for Wales, made up of seven well-being goals that the Council, and other public bodies in Wales, must 
continue to work towards to secure the long-term well-being of Wales. The Council must also show that it is maximising its contribution towards these 
seven goals through its work. 

The Act sets well-being goals to help the public sector deliver sustainable development:

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
Integrated Impact Assessment – GUIDANCE DOCUMENT
(includes Equalities, Welsh Language, Sustainability and Biodiversity)

P
age 28



 A prosperous 
Wales

 A resilient 
Wales

 A healthier 
Wales

 A more equal 
Wales

 A Wales of 
cohesive 
communities

 A Wales of 
vibrant culture 
and thriving 
Welsh language

 A globally 
responsible 
Wales

This Impact Assessment incorporates the Well-being Objectives of the Council and the Sustainable Development principles (the five ways of working), 
Equalities, Welsh language and Biodiversity, to support effective decision making and ensuring compliance with other pieces of legislation that the Council 
is subject to:

This Impact Assessment must be used at the outset of a proposal/initiative/project to help you shape the activity from inception rather than just 
for compliance purposes prior to any formal decision being made. To be clear it must be completed up-front. 

The content of the Impact Assessment will need to be reviewed periodically during the life of the proposal/initiative/project leading up to the 
finalised Impact Assessment being prepared for Council/Cabinet.

An Integrated Impact Assessment MUST be completed for:

1. Any project (i.e. something that has a start and end date and is different from day to day business).
2. Where you are implementing significant change e.g. service provision.
3. For any Council / Cabinet report that is not part of an above mentioned project or significant change.

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011

The legislation:
 Gives the Welsh language official status in Wales.
 Ensures promoting and facilitating the use of the 

Welsh language and treating the Welsh language 
no less favourably than the English language.

 Allows the freedom to use the Welsh language.
 Requires public bodies to comply with a set of 

standards relating to services delivered through 
the medium of Welsh.

The Policy Making Standards require us to assess the 
impact on the Welsh Language from the outset when 
developing policies and strategies or when 
considering new ways of providing services.

Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 
2011 

Under this Act we must have due regard to: 
 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 

victimisation and other conduct that is prohibited by the 
Act.

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and those who 
do not;

 Foster good relations between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not.

The Act also requires us to assess the impact of policies 
and practices on people or groups of people with protected 
characteristics.

Section 6 of Part 1 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016

Under this Act we must seek to 
maintain and enhance biodiversity 
in exercising our functions.

P
age 29



When submitting a report for Council / Cabinet the Impact Assessment must be submitted as a separate document the same time as the related 
report. If the Impact Assessment forms part of a Business Case, the Impact Assessment must be extracted and submitted as a separate 
document.

The prompts in the sections below are just that. Please do not think that you need to answer all the questions – they are for you to consider as 
you identify both the positive and negative impacts of your proposal.  

In relation to sources of evidence – the suggested list of examples (see Section 9 below) is not exhaustive and is for guidance. This is not about 
just listing evidence but identifying why you have used it to support your response.       

P
age 30



1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives

Does your proposal help to deliver any of the Council’s Well-being Objectives as identified below?

Here you need to complete the headings in the table below explaining the direct impacts (positive/negative/not applicable) you expect, together with 
suggestions of how to better contribute to positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts.

Does your proposal have a positive 
or negative impact on the Council’s 
Well-being Objectives? Please place 

an X in the relevant box

Well-being Objectives

Positive Negative N/A

Why have you come to this 
decision? Please provide an 

explanation

What actions have been/will be 
taken to better contribute to 

positive impacts and/or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

For more information on the Well-being Objectives and related Components, please:

 See the table below and the Council’s Statement of Well-being and “Focus on the Future,” which can be accessed by following the link: 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-well-being/

 See Section 9 of this guidance for possible sources of evidence to support this section.
 Contact the Performance Team at wellbeing@merthyr.gov.uk

Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and 
confident individuals.
Children live in a nurturing and 
stimulating home environment
Children have access to high 
quality pre-school and school 
education
Improve the educational 
outcomes for all children and 
young people

Children and young people have 
good health and well-being

What this means:
Children, have a positive early experience to ensure they are ready to learn, ready for school and can develop the 
knowledge skills and attributes they will need to flourish in life, learning and work.

Education is one of the clearest predictors of life outcomes, such as employment, income and social status, and is a predictor of 
attitudes and well-being. The objective integrates the complete educational journey, from the early years through to compulsory 
years, and post-16. The objective provides children and young people with the skills and attributes to help them improve their own 
lives.

Improving early years support is crucial in tackling the root causes of adverse childhood experiences, which we know have a 
detrimental impact on future health and well-being. We define early years as pre-birth to 7 years old. This broad definition 
recognises the importance of pregnancy in influencing outcomes and the transition into primary school as a critical period in 
children’s lives.

Research evidence shows that there is value for schools to promote health and well-being among pupils.
Pupils with better health and well-being are more likely to be ready to learn and achieve better academically.

P
age 31

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3781/our-shared-vision-document-april-2018.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3781/our-shared-vision-document-april-2018.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-well-being/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-well-being/
mailto:wellbeing@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:wellbeing@merthyr.gov.uk


How will we know if things are getting better?
By monitoring key performance indicators, we will know things are better when:
 Outcomes and educational standards for learners and groups of learners improve;
 Early language development of children improves;
 The health and well-being of children and young people improves;
 The resilience among families in receipt of support improves; and
 The maternal health of mothers in receipt of support improves.

Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses with a developing, safe infrastructure 
making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination.
Making skills work for Merthyr 
Tydfil: Developing the workforce 
of the future

Developing the environment and 
infrastructure for business to 
flourish

Communities protect, enhance 
and promote our heritage and 
cultural assets

Developing safer communities

Supporting and accommodating 
those most disadvantaged in the 
housing market.

What this means:
People live in safe, well-connected communities where heritage, language and culture are valued and strengthened for 
future generations. Highly skilled and qualified people are equipped to meet the changing needs of employers. The 
developing infrastructure sustains and improves both the built and natural environment. 

Research1 shows that people who report no educational qualifications are more likely to have relatively low income and that 
people who are not in employment with no qualification are more likely to be economically inactive. There is also evidence to 
suggest that a well-managed urban environment and high quality local services are important to create conditions that are 
attractive to business investors, visitors and local residents.  

When local people talk about culture, it is often referred to as an opportunity for celebration. The refurbished Town Centre has 
become an asset for hosting cultural activities that bring people together such as the Merthyr Rising festival, the Awesome Annual 
Chilli Festival. Making these social connections is directly correlated with improvements in physical and mental well-being and can 
help combat the growth in social isolation and loneliness. Cultural events can also help bolster the prosperity of the County 
Borough by attracting visitors and tourists, providing employment and skills development opportunities.

How will we know if things are getting better?
By monitoring key performance indicators, we will know things are better when:
 People in Merthyr Tydfil will have the skills to meet employers changing needs;
 Our developing environment and infrastructure will encourage inward investment;
 Our heritage and cultural assets will continue to be valued, protected and promoted;
 People living, working and visiting Merthyr Tydfil will feel safe and included; and
 Those most disadvantaged in the housing market will feel connected and supported.

Environmental Well-being - Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside.

Minimise environmental damage 
through prevention of pollution

What this means:
People, proud of the area’s outstanding landscape, regularly spend time outdoors in good quality, accessible 
greenspace. Communities help improve their local areas, learning new skills, building strong social bonds and helping 
wildlife flourish.

Research shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple benefits for people and wildlife from 
improved air, water and land quality, habitat protection and enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and 
mental health2,3. Therefore, the focus of this Well-being Objective is the work we do with our communities to protect, enhance 1  JRF (2015) Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2015

2 Chief Medical Officer Annual Report 2014-15

P
age 32

https://www.jrf.org.uk/mpse-2015
https://www.jrf.org.uk/mpse-2015
http://www.primarycareservices.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1150/CMO%20Report%202014-15.Eng.pdf
http://www.primarycareservices.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1150/CMO%20Report%202014-15.Eng.pdf


Maximise efficient use of 
materials and resources by 
means of the waste hierarchy

Developing good quality, 
biodiverse and connected green 
infrastructure and open spaces

Promoting and supporting the use 
of renewable and low carbon 
energy

and promote the environment and countryside.

How we act toward the environment and countryside will be a critical factor of a sustainable future in Merthyr Tydfil because the 
benefits of improving our environment will be felt across all of our Well-being Objectives.  We define the environment as 
countryside and all greenspace (natural environment) and urban locations (urban environment) within the Council boundary.  This 
broad definition of the environment recognises the importance of nature in both rural and urban environments.

This Well-being Objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the environmental well-being needs in Merthyr 
Tydfil. Those needs should be interpreted broadly to include quality greenspace and connectivity, habitat protection and 
biodiversity, resilient ecosystems, landscape character and pollution prevention. While this approach is important for the 
environment as a whole, it will particularly benefit areas where there are key environmental issues or risks.  

A degraded environment means our residents, communities and businesses will have a lower resilience to environmental risks.  
As the environment is an underlying factor and influencer to many other Well-being Objectives, the risks presented by degraded 
environment also include a range of economic, social, health, community safety and cultural perspectives.

How will we know if things are getting better?
By monitoring key performance indicators, we will know things are better when:
 The air quality on Twynyrodyn Road improves;
 The local authority's CO2 emissions reduce by 3% from its buildings (per annum);
 Reported fly-tipping incidents are cleared within five days;
 The cleanliness of our streets improve;
 Our recycling rates improve and we landfill less waste; and
 The overall numbers of priority spaces that meet the quality standards improve.

Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they feel safe and enjoy good physical and mental 
health.
Safeguarding children and adults 
who are at risk of harm

Tackling adverse childhood 
experiences and developing 
community resilience

Promoting healthy behaviours 
and increased levels of physical 
activity

Promote good emotional well-
being and improved mental health

What this means:
People who are empowered to live independently within their communities, have the appropriate support, advice and 
assistance to meet their personal needs, live safely and access opportunities available to them. People, adopting health 
behaviours earlier in their life, are healthier, feel good and function well.

People need support to live independently and well in their communities for longer. Research undertaken by the Office for 
Disability Issues suggests that independent living provides significantly more benefits at an individual level than conventional 
forms of service provision. There is also evidence to suggest that older people living locally wish to remain living in their homes as 
long as possible.   

The link between physical health and mental health is incontrovertible. Poor physical health can lead to poor mental health and 
vice versa. Conversely, good physical health can improve a person’s state of mind; a strong and healthy mind can greatly 
improve our ability to cope with physical ailments. There is a growing body of evidence that indicates nature provides added value 
to the known benefits of physical activity. 

3 Life Course, Greenspace and Health, 2016.

P
age 33

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4808994/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4808994/


Clear and accessible information 
and advice 

Services that provide people with 
the ability to live in their own 
home.

Feeling safe influences how people value their community, and is important to people’s quality of life; often making the difference 
between people wanting to live and stay in their neighbourhood or not. There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and 
resilience in individuals and their communities is an important step towards improving well-being.

How will we know if things are getting better?
By monitoring key performance indicators, we will know things are better when:
 Adult protection enquiries are completed within statutory timescales;
 Fewer adults at risk of abuse or neglect are reported more than once during the year;
 There are fewer re-registrations of children on the child protection register;
 More children are supported to remain living within their family;
 More people visit our sport and leisure facilities and participate in physical activity;
 Pupil participation in sport and physical activity improves;
 More people receive the right information, advice and assistance when they needed it;
 More adult service users can live independently;
 The delayed transfers of care reduce; and
 The time to deliver adaptations using the disabled facilities grant process reduce.

Sources of evidence to support the above – Please see Section 9 of this guidance for possible sources of evidence to support this section.

P
age 34



2. Sustainable Development Principles (The Five Ways of Working)

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met the sustainable development principles (five ways of working)?

Here you need to complete the headings in the table below explaining how your proposal have met the five ways of working, and if not, explain why, 
together with suggestions of how to better contribute to the five ways of working and/or mitigate any negative impacts.

In the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, any reference to a public body doing something in accordance with the sustainable development 
principles (five ways of working) means that the body must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

For more information on the five ways of working, please:

 See the Council’s Focus on the Future
 See the definitions and prompts in the table below.
 See Section 9 of this guidance for possible sources of evidence to support this section.
 Contact the Performance Team at wellbeing@merthyr.gov.uk

Five Ways of 
Working 

How does your proposal demonstrate you have met the 
five ways of working?

Are there any additional actions to be taken to better 
contribute to the five ways of working and/or mitigate any 

negative impacts?

The importance of
balancing short-term
needs with the need
to safeguard the
ability to also meet
long-term needs.

We are required to look beyond the usual short term timescales for financial planning and political cycles and instead 
plan with the longer term in mind (guidance says at least 10 years, but preferably 25)

This link may help you with long term planning: 
http://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=68

 Have you considered what this intervention or service will look like in 10 or 20 years?
 Do you know what the long term “call” on the service is likely to be?
 Have you done any long term, generational or decadal planning?

P
age 35

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-2018.pdf
mailto:wellbeing@merthyr.gov.uk
http://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=68


How acting to 
prevent problems 
occurring or getting 
worse may help 
public bodies meet 
their objectives.

 How does your proposal / activity / strategy identify/put resources into preventing problems occurring or getting 
worse?  

 Deploying resources to prevent problems occurring or getting worse - including for other people, communities, 
services or organisations. 

 Have you identified the root of the issues you need to address?
 Will your proposal reduce or eliminate the problem or calls on the service, or other services?
 Will it empower people to take action themselves?

Considering how 
public bodies’ well-
being objectives
may impact upon 
each of the well-
being goals, on their 
other objectives, or 
on the objectives of 
other public bodies.

 How will you better integrate and balance any competing impacts?
 Think about impacts the proposal may have on another organisation.
 Have you considered the relationships and possible tensions between your service and others?
 Could something be done, or not done by another service or organisation to help, or hinder, your ability to provide 

the service?

Acting in collaboration 
with any other person 
(or different parts of 
the body itself) that 
could help the body 
meet its well-being 
objectives. 

 Are there opportunities to work with others to deliver improved outcomes?
 Can others take on delivery with support?
 Are we encouraging our partners to play an active role? 
 Do partners identify, understand and manage their role in the partnership in the most appropriate way – identifying 

factors which influence the success of the partnership and the relationships, identifying the risks, what might go 
wrong, what might prevent the partnership from achieving its objectives and outcomes. 

 Have the risks associated with creating, establishing, managing and delivering successful partnerships been 
identified and are being managed? Examples of some of the risks that could be considered include financial, legal, 
reputation, resource conflicts, reliance on a particular partner, how well other partners are managing risk  

P
age 36



The importance of
involving people
with an interest
in achieving the
well-being goals,
and ensuring that
those people reflect
the diversity of the
area which the body
serves.

Ensuring the views and voices of the stakeholders are sought, heard and used to inform and influence decisions made. 
 Who are the stakeholders who will be affected by your proposal? 
 Have they been involved?
 Are the views of stakeholders being sought early enough so that they can generally influence the 

outcome/decision?
 Do those people reflect the diversity of the area which is served?
 How are you planning to reach the people you need to hear from and are you allowing them sufficient time and 

providing clear information for people to make informed decisions? 
 Have you considered a method by which you will continuously involve your stakeholders?
 How will you feedback to those who have been involved/ explain how their views/voices have influenced the final 

decision?
These links may help you think about involvement: 

 National Principles for Public Engagement: www.participationcymru.org.uk

 National Participation Standards for Children and Young People: http://www.childreninwales.org.uk/

Sources of evidence to support the above – Please see Section 9 of this guidance for possible sources of evidence to support this section.

P
age 37

http://www.participationcymru.org.uk/
http://www.childreninwales.org.uk/


3. Protected Characteristics (including Welsh Language)

Does your proposal directly impact on service users, employees and/or the wider community, including the nine protected characteristic groups 
and Welsh language as identified below? 

Here you need to complete the headings in the table below explaining the direct impacts (positive/negative/not applicable) you expect, together with 
suggestions of how to better contribute to positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts.

Does your proposal have a positive 
or negative impact on service users, 

employees and/or the wider 
community, including the nine 

protected characteristic groups and 
Welsh language? Please place an X 

in the relevant box

Protected 
Characteristics

Positive Negative N/A

Why have you come to this 
decision? Please provide an 

explanation

What actions have been/will be 
taken to better contribute to 

positive impacts and/or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

For more information on the Equality Act 2010, protected characteristics and the Welsh Language Standards, please:

 See the definitions and prompts in the table below.
 See the Council’s intranet pages for Equalities and Welsh language (including the Protected Characteristic Fact Sheets), which can be accessed by 

following the link: http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/corporate/equalities-and-welsh-language/
 See Section 9 of this guidance for possible sources of evidence to support this section.
 Contact the Equality and Welsh Language Team at Equalities@merthyr.gov.uk

Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language - Prompts
  
Age
A person belonging to a particular age (e.g. 25 
year olds); age group (over 50s); age range (e.g. 
11 to 25 year olds).

Consider the impact(s) on people of all ages e.g. children and young people, older people.

Disability
A person has a disability if she or he has a 
physical or mental impairment which has a 
substantial and long-term adverse effect on that 
person's ability to carry out normal day-to-day 
activities.

Consider the impact(s) on people with disabilities e.g. access to buildings/services, how we provide services and 
the way we do this, producing information in alternative formats, employment issues.

P
age 38

http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/corporate/equalities-and-welsh-language/
mailto:Equalities@merthyr.gov.uk


Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language - Prompts
  
Gender Reassignment
A person proposing to undergo, is undergoing, or 
has undergone a sex change process.

Consider the impact(s) on transgender people e.g. provision of inclusive services.

Marriage and Civil Partnership
A person who is married or in a civil partnership.

Consider the impact(s) on married and same-sex couples e.g. same-sex couples who register as civil partners 
must be treated the same as married couples on a wide range of matters, for example, flexible working, statutory 
paternity pay, paternity and adoption leave, health insurance and survivor pensions.

Pregnancy and Maternity
Pregnancy is the condition of being pregnant or 
expecting a baby. Maternity refers to the period 
after the birth, and is linked to maternity leave in 
the employment context. In the non-work context, 
protection against maternity discrimination is for 
26 weeks after giving birth, and this includes 
treating a woman unfavourably because she is 
breastfeeding. 

Consider the impact(s) on pregnant women/ women on maternity leave e.g. In employment a woman is protected 
from discrimination during the period of her pregnancy and during any period of compulsory or additional maternity 
leave. In the provision of services, goods and facilities, recreational or training facilities, a woman is protected from 
discrimination during the period of her pregnancy and the period of 26 weeks beginning with the day on which she 
gives birth.

Race
Race includes colour; nationality; ethnic or 
national origins.

Consider the impact(s) on different racial groups e.g. translation/interpreting services, cultural issues and customs, 
access to services, issues relating to Asylum Seekers, Refugees, Gypsies &Travellers, migrant communities.

Religion or Belief
The protected characteristic of religion or belief 
includes any religion and any religious or 
philosophical belief. It also includes a lack of any 
such religion or belief.

Consider the impact(s) on people with different religions or beliefs e.g. dietary issues, religious holidays or days 
associated with religious observance, cultural issues and customs.

Sex (Gender)
A male or female of any age.

Consider the impact(s) on males and females e.g. equal pay, responsibilities for dependents, issues for carers, 
access to training, employment issues.

Sexual Orientation
A person’s sexual orientation towards:
 Persons of the same sex (that is, the person is 

a gay man or a lesbian);
 Persons of the opposite sex (that is, the 

person is heterosexual); or
 Persons of either sex (that is, the person is 

bisexual).

Consider the impact(s) on persons who are gay, lesbian, heterosexual, bisexual e.g. provision of inclusive 
services. 

P
age 39



Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language - Prompts
  
Welsh Language
The two main principles of the Welsh Language 
(Wales) Measure 2011 are that: 
 The Welsh Language should be treated no 

less favourably than the English language;
 That persons should be able to live their lives 

through the medium of Welsh if they choose 
to do so.

Under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011, we need to be considering Welsh Language in signage, 
documentation, posters, language skills etc. and also the requirement to promote the language.

 Will the proposal increase opportunities for people to use the Welsh language?
 Does the proposal treat the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language?
 How will the proposal increase or maintain the number of Welsh language speakers in the area?
 Will the information and delivery of the proposal be available in Welsh? 
 How will the proposal incorporate the Welsh language in signage, documentation and posters?
 How will the proposal improve Welsh Language skills? This includes the wider community and our staff. 
 How can elements be proactively added to the proposal which helps to promote the use of the Welsh 

language within the demands of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011?
Sources of evidence to support the above – Please see Section 9 of this guidance for possible sources of evidence to support this section.

P
age 40



4. Biodiversity

Does your proposal directly impact on Biodiversity?

Here you need to complete the headings in the table below explaining the direct impacts (positive/negative/not applicable) you expect, together with 
suggestions of how to better contribute to positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts.

Does your proposal have a positive 
or negative impact on Biodiversity?

Please place an X in the relevant 
box

Biodiversity

Positive Negative N/A

Why have you come to this 
decision? Please provide an 

explanation

What actions have been/will be 
taken to better contribute to 

positive impacts and/or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 we must seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in exercising our functions. All parts of the Council must show 
how they maintain and improve the diversity of plants and animals. 

For further information on the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, please:

 See the definition and prompts in the table below.
 Contact the Town Planning Team at yourspace@merthyr.gov.uk

Prompts

Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystem resilience

 Diversity between and within ecosystems.
 The connections between and within ecosystems.
 The scale of ecosystems.
 The condition of ecosystems (including their structure and functioning).
 The adaptability of ecosystems.

Sources of evidence to support the above – Please see Section 9 of this guidance for possible sources of evidence to support this section.

P
age 41

mailto:yourspace@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:yourspace@merthyr.gov.uk


5. Summary

As a result of completing this Impact Assessment, how many positive and negative impacts does 
your proposal have?

Here you need to identify the number of impacts (positive/negative/not applicable) in the table below 
against each of the above sections of the Impact Assessment. You will also need to summarise the results 
of the table in the summary below. This section should then be included in the related Council/Cabinet 
report.

Example:

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives 3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4

2. Sustainable Development Principles 
- How have you considered the five 
ways of working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

4 of 5 0 of 5 1 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 9 of 10 1 of 10 0 of 10

4. Biodiversity 1 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10

Summary:

The main positive impacts against:

 The Well-being Objectives are that the proposal would provide a training, learning and 
educational facility for citizens of all ages across the County Borough creating jobs, inward 
investment, tourism, physical, social and economic regeneration.

 The Sustainable Development Principles are that the proposal would safeguard the long 
term educational needs of children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities 
and have control over their lives. The project has been developed with community groups 
and local businesses and will be delivered working in partnership with key stakeholders in 
the County Borough.

 The Protected Characteristics and Welsh language are that the proposal will provide 
arts and culture to all customers across the County Borough and will promote the use of 
the Welsh language and encourage people to use their Welsh skills when using Council 
services.

 Biodiversity are that the proposal would encourage awareness raising and understanding 
about the diversity of plants and animals as part of its educational provision.

The main negative impacts against:

 The protected characteristics are that wheelchair access is to the side entrance of the 
building.

No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, the Sustainable 
Development Principles and Biodiversity.

Page 42



6. Actions

Based on the summary of your positive and negative impacts, identified in Section 5 above, will you need to make changes to your 
proposal to better contribute to positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts? 

Here you need to complete the headings in the table below identifying any further actions you will need to undertake to better contribute to 
positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts.

What are you going to 
do?

Estimated completion 
date

Who will be 
responsible?

Timelines/Milestones 
e.g. 6 months/over a 

year, etc.

Progress

7. Version Control 

The Impact Assessment should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then honed and refined throughout the 
decision making process. 

Here you need to complete the headings in the table below to keep a record of this process so that we can demonstrate how we have 
considered and built in the Sustainable Development Principles where possible.

Version No. Decision making stage Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 
consideration

It is important to ensure that the decision making stage in the table above should be throughout the life of the Impact Assessment e.g. at 
each stage of the project, when reviewing the project e.g. monthly/annually etc.

8. Sign off section 

Approved by:________________________

Job Title:____________________________

Approval date:_______________________

The sign off section should be approved by the relevant Head of Service/Chief Officer for the Department.

9. Sources of Evidence

P
age 43



The following table below is not exhaustive, but lists some possible sources of evidence to support the completion of the Impact 
Assessment.

Please reference any source of evidence to support your judgement  - List 
key sources of evidence 

Possible Examples:

 Well-being Assessment
 Population Needs Assessment 
 Census data 
 National and local indicators 
 Engagement and consultation analysis 
 Relevant strategies, including Regeneration and Economic Growth 

Strategy, Biodiversity Action Plan, Healthy Weight, Healthy Valleys, Open 
Spaces Strategy, community safety strategies, community cohesion 
strategies, housing strategies, Welsh Language Promotional Strategy, 
Strategic Equality Plan, Sports Development Strategy, Leisure Strategy, 
Cultural Strategy

 Climate Change data
 Procurement data
 Local Development Plan information
 Business community information

 Educational attainment data 
 Workforce data 
 Adult/ Children’s Services information 
 Service user profile 
 Data gathered from those currently not accessing services 
 Service user satisfaction rates 
 Health and Social Care service provision 
 Public Health Information 
 Play Sufficiency Audit 
 Transport information 
 Community asset information 
 Workforce data e.g. Equality data, Welsh language skills 
 Welsh language requirements of service users 
 Welsh Language Standards information 
 Leisure Trust Information 
 insport information
 Complaints/compliments monitoring 

P
age 44



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

COMPETITIVE LEAGUES IN SCHOOLS

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 As part of reviewing the work of the Sports Development Team and the Cabinet work 
programme it was identified that there was a need to increase the opportunities for 
competitive sport between schools in the County Borough. 

1.2 Following a number of meetings with Councillors, Schools, National Sports 
Governing Bodies and club a plan was formulated and costed to deliver competitive 
sporting opportunities across primary and secondary schools within the County 
Borough.

1.3 In the first instance the following sports have been prioritised: Netball, Rugby, 
Football, Cricket and Tennis for the introduction of leagues and competive structures 
for schools to compete in.

1.4 The leagues and competive structures will be run with the support of the sports 
National Governing Bodies and Local Clubs.

1.5  To build capacity and sustainability, Schools will be offered support in upskilling staff 
and opportunities to work with National Governing Bodies to grow the sports within 
the school.

1.6 Funding has been identified to support this initiative for 2018/19 but budget growth is 
required of £5,000 per annum  to support the project into 2019/20 and beyond.  

Date Written 15th August 2018
Report Author Mark Thomas/John Sellwood
Service Area Leisure, Culture and Sports 

Development
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



1.7 This initiative will help promote Physical Activity and improve wellbeing and 
contribute towards the Councils Wellbeing Objectives.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The request for £5,000 in budget growth for 2019/20 to the Leisure, Culture and 
Sports Development be approved.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 As part of reviewing the work of the Sports Development Team and the Cabinet work 
programme it was identified that there was a need to increase the opportunities for 
competitive sport between schools in the County Borough. 

3.2 Following a number of meetings with Councillors, Schools, National Sports 
Governing Bodies and clubs a plan was formulated and costed to deliver competitive 
sporting opportunities across primary and secondary schools within the County 
Borough

4.0 THE COMPETITIVE LEAGUES IN SCHOOLS PROJECT

4.1 In the first instance the following sports have been prioritised:
 Netball, Rugby, Football, Cricket and Tennis.

4.2 For the Primary Schools the monthly fixtures for Netball, Rugby and Football will be 
held at:

 Cyfarthfa High School for its cluster and the welsh medium and faith schools 
from the area, 

 Penydre High School for its cluster and faith schools and 
 Afon Taf High School for its cluster and welsh medium school.

4.3 The fixtures will see each school playing multiple games on each fixture date. The 
section winners will attend finals days at Merthyr Leisure Centre, Merthyr Rugby 
Club or Merthyr Football Club in March.

4.4 Secondary School will play monthly fixtures on school premises with each other in a 
round robin format with finals days held at Merthyr Leisure Centre, Merthyr Rugby 
Club or Merthyr Football Club.

4.5 The Cricket league will be based around a single venue (Hoovers) and will run 
during April, May and June with a finals day in July.

4.6 As with the Cricket league Tennis will run at a single venue (Thomastown Park) and 
will take the format of a Wimbledon style competition over 2 – 3 weeks in May and 
June.

Page 46



4.7 The Sports Development Team have received the commitment of all the Sport’s 
National Governing Bodies to support delivery of the leagues and competitions along 
with Merthyr Town Football club and Merthyr Tennis Clubs.

4.8 In addition to the on field activities each participating school will have the opportunity 
to receive support from the National Governing Bodies to deliver sport in school 
along with upskilling opportunities for school staff.

4.9 This initiative will help promote Physical Activity and improve wellbeing and 
contribute towards the Councils Wellbeing Objectives.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 In order to deliver the project into 2019/20 and beyond a modest budget growth for 
the Leisure, Culture and Sports Development budget of £5,000 per year is required. 
This will be used to finance venue hire, additional staff time & trophies. 

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECITIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE, 

PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE, 
AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cwm Taf Winter Pressures Plan 2018-19

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 There is a requirement that Merthyr Tydfil CBC contribute to the development of a 
winter plan to support the increased pressures placed upon Cwm Taf UHB during the 
winter period.

1.2 This report outlines the key area of responsibility placed on MTCBC to support this 
process.

1.3 The effectiveness of the plan will be monitored locally through planned monthly 
winter pressures and unscheduled care meetings.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The content of the Winter Pressures Plan be noted and endorsed.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Cwm Taf University Health Board (CTUHB) is required to prepare an annual Winter 
Pressures Preparedness plan in partnership with the Local Authorities of Merthyr 
Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Welsh Ambulance Service Trust (WAST).  A 
copy of the plan is available via the background papers link.

Date Written August 2018 *
Report Author Angela Edevane
Service Area Adult Social Care
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



3.2 The winter preparedness plan predominantly focuses on the contingency plans that 
CTUHB have in place to deal with periods of increased demand and inclement 
weather to ensure that they continue to deliver services during these periods.

3.3 There is a requirement that the winter preparedness plan is available to the public 
and is published annually.

4.0 LOCAL AUTHORITY CONTRIBUTION 

4.1 The Local Authority contribution to the plan is outlined in Section 21 (page 24) of the 
plan.  The support arrangements that are to be delivered by the Local Authority focus 
on the existing arrangements between MTCBC, RCTCBC & CTUHB that support the 
hospital discharge process. 

4.2 The key element of the contribution from the Local authorities is that Cwm Taf, in 
partnership with the both local authorities, Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf, 
have developed a multi-disciplinary team, Stay Well @home Team (SW@HT)  
based on the two acute hospital sites of Royal Glamorgan and Prince Charles.  The 
teams are primarily based at A&E but also support discharges from the Acute 
Medical Unit and Clinical Decision Unit additionally supporting all wards as capacity 
dictates.  The aim of the service is to improve individual service user outcomes 
through enhanced communication and integration of health and social care services 
at the critical interface that occurs during presentation at A&E and hospital admission 
through to discharge. 

4.3 The SW@HT undertake a proportionate assessment and commission appropriate 
community services to support discharge home with the aim of supporting the 
individual at A&E to safely return home and avoid any unnecessary hospital 
admissions. 

4.4 The SW@HT can commission a range of community responses such as Nursing 
@home including the IV service and social care community package of support 
within 4 hours, 7 days a week.  To support these arrangements the capacity of 
community services have been enhanced and access arrangements and eligibility 
criteria have been revised.

4.5 The 2 Local Authorities community domiciliary care support @home service will 
support discharge through:

 Providing a 4 hour response to referrals from the SW@HT 7 days a week.
 Provide Intermediate Care and Reablement Services.

4.6 In addition the Local Authority continue to support the discharge arrangements 
through the core Social Services teams of Initial Support & Care Management 
services.

Page 50



5.0 MONITORING ARRANGEMENTS

5.1 The position across Wales is monitored by Welsh Government via weekly 
conference calls for each Health Board.  Previously this has not included Local 
Authority representation however Welsh Government has written to Directors of 
Social Services requesting that Local Authority views are represented as part of this 
process. 

5.2 Locally the Winter Plan will be monitored via monthly planned joint Winter Pressures 
Meetings.  However during periods of increased demand the frequency of these 
meetings will increase. 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The financial implications of potential increased demand are difficult to predict as 
they are influenced by the weather conditions and seasonal illnesses however in 
previous years fluctuations in demand have been met from within established 
budgets.  The position will continue to be monitored utilising existing budget 
monitoring arrangements and any significant budget changes will be reported. 

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is required.   The form can be 
accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.

7.1.1 The positive impacts are health services continue to be available to people who 
require them.

7.1.2 There are no negative impacts.

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR                  

SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location
Winter Plan 2018-19

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



1

  

WINTER PLANNING 
AND PREPAREDNESS PLAN 

2018-2019 

INITIATED BY: Chief Operating Officer 
Director of Planning & Performance 

APPROVED BY:   Cwm Taf Executive Board

DATE APPROVED: June 2018 

OPERATIONAL DATE: 1 October 2018 to 31 March 2019

Page 53



2

CONTENTS

Page No.
1.

    2.        
Introduction
Evaluating & reflection on Winter Planning 2017/18      

3
4

3. Key Areas of Risk 11
4. Severe Weather Contingency Plan – Snow & Ice 12
5. Infection Control Outbreak Management Procedure 12
6. Short Term Surge Capacity Planning 13
7. Emergency Pressures Escalation Procedure 13
8.

9.

Operational Winter Readiness
- Local Winter Pressures Group

Using Data to Facilitate Action

14

16
10. Protecting The Elective Capacity 16
11. Medium And Longer Term Surge Capacity 17
12. Critical Care Services 18
13. Supporting The Emergency Departments 19
14. Ward Based Care 19
15. Locality Based Care 19
16. Diagnostic And Support Services 21
17. Mental Health (Adult and CAMHS) 21
18. Primary Care 22
19. GP Out Of Hours Services 23
20. Development Of A Workforce Plan 23
21. NHS / Social Care Joint Arrangements 24
22. Ambulance Services 25
23. Christmas And New Year Service Provision 28
24. Prevention And Protection

- Weather Watch 
- Seasonal Flu Campaign
- Pneumococcal vaccine

29

25.
26.

Communications
Summary of Key themes and Actions in 
preparedness Winter 2018/19 

31
32

27. Conclusion And Organisational Risks 35

Appendix 1 Risk analysis
Appendix 2 References
Appendix 3 Severe Weather Contingency Plan – Snow and Ice
Appendix 4 Outbreak Management Procedure
Appendix 5 Escalation Plan – triggers
Appendix 6 Christmas and New Year service provision
Appendix 7 Seasonal Flu Management Plan

Page 54



3

1. INTRODUCTION

This plan sets out the University Health Board (UHB) seasonal planning 
and delivery arrangements for unscheduled care (including mental health) 
and seeks to provide assurance to the Board that the organisation has 
robust plans in place to respond to anticipated increased pressures and 
seasonal risk factors during the 2018-19 winter period. It seeks to also 
provide assurance that we will preserve elective capacity as far as possible 
to allow scheduled care services to continue during the winter months as 
set out in the All Wales Delivery Framework and meet the legal 
requirements of the Mental Health Act.

The plan does not rely upon the introduction of surge capacity although 
there are plans in place for the short, medium and longer term and it is 
important that the plan is considered in conjunction with other plans and 
policies as listed in Appendix 2. 

The plan has been developed in collaboration with key partners including 
primary care, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust (WAST), Merthyr 
Tydfil Local Authority and Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Authority. It aims to 
demonstrate how joint plans will ensure the delivery of safe and high 
quality services to the population during potential periods of pressure.

The Winter Planning and Preparedness Plan: -

 reflects a whole system approach to the delivery of services over the 
forthcoming winter period;

 builds upon lessons learnt within Cwm Taf over recent years and the 
best practice, knowledge and experiences of our peers;

 identifies the potential risks and sets out options and solutions to 
mitigate against them.

It is vital that the standard of care, quality of services and legal 
requirements are maintained even during the most challenging of 
situations. The potential impact on the patient experience is considerable 
and during the winter period we will aim to ensure: -

- no avoidable deaths, injury or illness
- no avoidable suffering or pain
- no unnecessary waiting or delays
- no inequality of access to our services
- no referral to high cost mental health placements

This Plan sets out the lessons learnt from the Winter 2017/18 and key 
risks for 2018/19.  A number of review meetings with colleagues from the 
local authorities, WAST and Community Health Council have been held. 
From these reviews key clear actions have been identified in preparedness 
for Winter 2018/19.  This plan will describe the key actions to be 
undertaken.

Page 55



4

2.   EVALUATING AND REFLECTION ON WINTER PLANNING  
  2017/18 

Volume and Acuity Challenges

Colleagues will be aware from recent media stories that the first week 
after Christmas saw the pressure on services reach extreme levels across 
the UK. For Cwm Taf UHB this meant that we had over 500 additional 
attendances at the emergency departments and from 8 January to the 
end of the month, there were an additional 244 major cases.  GP urgent 
cases tripled during this first full week in January with high levels of A&E 
attendances. This increase in attendances equates to more than 32 
additional patients each day and we have seen the main increase in the 
65-85 age group. 

More patients have been admitted during this winter period compared to 
last.  We can show improvements in the length of stay throughout the last 
year linked to our improved productivity, however average length of stay 
increased in January and February due to the increased acuity of the 
patient. 

There are a number of challenges in meeting high levels of demand, 
especially during winter months where many of the patients who require 
care, treatment and support have increasingly complex needs and acuity. 
The most significant issue is not always the numbers of people presenting 
at emergency departments but also the complexity and severity of 
conditions of those admitted, the ability to transfer patients safely from 
hospital to their place of residence and to prevent readmission.

The above Warwick chart is reviewed on a monthly basis, and compares 
mortality rates against 4 hour performance on the date of attendance at 
the emergency departments. Over the past three years the mortality rate 
has reduced in overall terms but clearly demonstrates seasonal variation. 

Page 56



5

The above also appears to reflect the acute nature of the winter pressure 
encountered this year across Cwm Taf.

During this time the UHB had maintained its zero tolerance approach to 
ambulance handover delays at our emergency departments. The UHB 
continues to perform well in this area, which in turn supports the WAST 
with its ongoing delivery of red 1 calls performance within the Cwm Taf 
UHB area. Our continued zero tolerance approach to ambulance handover 
delays has been kept under constant review with daily operational 
management and improvement reviews where necessary. Our approach 
continues to be recognised as best practice across NHS Wales by the 
WAST and Welsh Government.

Performance against the tier 1 targets for the emergency departments 
had deteriorated during the winter months with a significant dip in 
achievement of the 4 hour performance target during January and 
February 2018. The performance prior to December remained well above 
the previous year’s performance reflecting a more resilient system, which 
is in part as a result of the integrated service developments we have 
implemented with local authority colleagues. This also appears to be 
influencing the UHBs ability to return to a stable state of delivery post the 
winter period.

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%
100%

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

October November December January February March April May

A&E 4 Hour Target 
October 2016 - May 2017 and October 2017 - May 2018

Last year < 4 hours This year < 4 hours Last year > 4 hours

This year > 4 hours Last years performance Latest Performance

Target

Performance against the 12 hour performance target was also maintained 
in the later months of 2017, with performance dipping in February as a 
result of the acute level of pressure at this time. The UHB continued to 
undertake a senior review on a case by case basis of all patients who 
remained in the emergency department over 12 hours to ensure care and 
treatment was delivered in line with medical and nursing plans.

Page 57



6

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%
100%

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

October November December January February March April May

A&E 12 Hour Target 
October 2016 - May 2017 and October 2017 - May 2018

Last year < 12 hours This year < 12 hours Last year > 12 hours

This year > 12 hours Last years performance Latest Performance

Target

As mentioned above, the UHB has now returned to a stable state of 
delivery post the winter period and the first 18 days of May saw 91% 
performance against the 4 hour target (2017 was 85.4%) and 98.98% 
performance against the 12 hour target (2017 was 98.8%). The number 
of 12 hour breaches has reduced from 89 patients in 2017 to 70 patient 
this year and this is against an increase in attendances.  The contribution 
of our winter plan to this ongoing sustained improvement should not be 
underestimated.

Managing Demand at the Front Door

A number of key initiatives were in place across Cwm Taf to manage the 
high levels of demand and complexity of the patients attending our 
emergency departments during winter and these included:

 Increase in the hours covered by acute physicians to integrate with the 
emergency departments to support more effective front-door decision 
making

 Dedicated space on each district general hospital (DGH) site to protect 
minor injuries stream

 Ambulatory care facilities aligned with the emergency departments on 
both acute sites with read across to the Stay Well @Home services 
(SW@HT)

 Pilot project with St John’s Practice in Aberdare and the WAST for the 
virtual ward

 Development of a number of cluster schemes around chronic conditions 
management

 Patient pathways in place with the WAST to reduce the ambulance 
conveyance rates

 Psychiatric liaison and crisis resolution services.

Page 58



7

The Stay Well at Home Team was established in April 2017. The 
SW@HT includes a skill mix of social workers, occupational therapists, 
occupational therapy technicians and physiotherapists, working 7 days a 
week to undertake assessments at the emergency departments and 
support individuals to be discharged home. The SW@HT can  access a four 
hour response from social care and the nursing @home service to ensure 
appropriate support can be provide in the community to ensure a safe and 
timely discharge. This service has been incrementally implemented across 
the CTUHB footprint with some aspects of the service yet to be rolled out 
fully e.g. medicines @ home.

The Early Supportive Discharge Support Service provided by Age 
Connect Morgannwg is in operation across two district general hospital 
sites to assist in unlocking additional capacity by speeding up hospital 
discharge, in a supportive way for patients and families. This service links 
seamlessly with the Stay Well @ Home service.

The Virtual Ward concept at St Johns Surgery in Aberdare continues to 
be developed with proactive support from community paramedics, 
occupational therapists, physiotherapists and other key professionals and 
discussions are underway to develop the next phase of this initiative for 
roll out across the Cwm Taf area.  In the cohort of 150 complex patients 
identified within the ward there was a 60% decrease in GP appointments, 
80% decrease in hospital admissions and a 90% reduction in Out of Hours 
(OOHs) demand (currently being validated).

Robust plans were implemented to ensure the provision of GP Out of 
Hours Services with additional GP support over Christmas / New Year 
and other peak times during the winter. New clinical roles, such as 
advanced nurse practitioners and community paramedics were developed 
and worked alongside the GPs in the clinical team.  The Christmas shift fill 
stabilised at over 80%, with 4,500 patients seen over three weekends 
with an average of 3.5% conversion to A&E.  Where the GP fill rate was 
not 100% we secured additional Advanced Nurse Practitioner and ST3 
doctor cover and increased coverage in other areas to compensate.

Delayed Transfers of Care

The “Delayed Transfer of Care” (DToC) position in Cwm Taf saw a 
dramatic reduction from 43 cases reported in October 2017 to just 16 
cases identified in March 2018. The total number of delays during 2017 
were the lowest on record since records began 12 years ago and the DToC 
figure in January 2018 was the third lowest January in the last 13 years. 
This can in part be attributed to the focused efforts during the period of 
Gold Command as set out later in the report. 

Page 59



8

Infection Prevention and Control 

An increase in Influenza cases was evident this year in particular across 
the Merthyr and Cynon area during January and February. We saw a sharp 
increase in admissions with suspected influenza in January and a cohort 
area consisting of 2 bays and 3 side rooms was introduced on ward 11 on 
the 15 January 2018. Ward 11 was used as a cohort area and was needed 
until 5 February with suspected and confirmed cases of influenza admitted 
to this area. The plan worked well and prevented the spread of cases 
across the hospital site. The admissions were also kept to a minimum with 
most patients being managed in a primary care setting.

From 1 January to 31 March 2018, we had a total of 109 suspected cases 
of influenza who attended the emergency department and paediatric ward 
or were admitted to PCH - 64 of those were confirmed influenza.

Influenza has caused less disruption at the Royal Glamorgan Hospital and 
we did not need to cohort patients in one area and managed to isolate 
patients in single rooms. From 1 January – 31 March 2018, 84 patients 
attended the emergency department and paediatric ward or were 
admitted with suspected influenza – 28 of those were confirmed. 

We had a number of suspected/ confirmed outbreaks of Norovirus which 
mostly affected the Royal Glamorgan Hospital which resulted in bay 
restrictions and ward closures.  Early identification and management is 
key to secure a timely resolution. 

Flu vaccination rates

The school vaccination programme saw the highest percentage uptake in 
Wales during 2016/17. The school vaccination programme continued to be 
in the top two UHBs for uptake 2017/18, 3 year olds continued to be 
vaccinated in Local Authority Nurseries uptake remained high at 64%. A 
formal evaluation of the pilot is due to be completed July 2018.  The pilot 
won the Beat the Flu Award for most innovative flu campaign.

This year saw the implementation of a scheme where midwives vaccinated 
pregnant women in one of our community hospitals. The pilot commenced 
very late in the season (January) with 20+ women vaccinated.  The 
results from the pilot are awaited.

Staff uptake increased by 6.1 % and 53.1% of frontline staff were 
vaccinated, plans are underway to increase this rate for the forthcoming 
winter and to also consider a joint approach with key partners such as the 
local authorities and WAST.  There was an increase in uptake recorded 
across all age groups.

Page 60



9

Maintaining our Capacity for Elective Operations

During the winter period – 1 October 2017 to 31 March 2018 - 167 
elective cases were cancelled due to winter bed pressures. This was an 
improvement on last year and the lowest number of cancelled operations 
in the last 7 years as illustrated below. 

2011/12 361
2012/13 886
2013/14 176
2014/15 605
2015/16 1114
2016/17 399
2017/18 167

It is clearly evident that there has been a significant reduction in 
cancellations this year, enabling achievement of the scheduled care year 
end position.

Staffing Profile and Surge Capacity

The availability and sustainability of staff over the winter period was a key 
challenge for the UHB and workloads were prioritised on a daily basis to 
ensure that patient flow was maintained.  We continued to engage with 
staffing agencies to ensure that areas were staffed appropriately however 
on occasion our challenging staffing position worsened due to lost agency 
shifts.

The availability of suitable staffing also impacted on our ability to increase 
the level of surge capacity on our acute and community hospital sites and 
this, on occasion, had an impact across the whole of the system.

Due to extreme pressure on the emergency departments we utilised all 
additional surge capacity during the winter period including the use of 
treatment rooms and day rooms, additional patients into clinical decisions 
units and opening additional areas. Despite this we remained at high 
levels of escalation for a number of weeks with the demand for inpatient 
beds far outreaching our capacity at certain points during the period.

Snow Plans and Adverse Weather

The significant snowfall in early March had a big impact on access for all of 
our hospital sites. Whilst the demand pressures on our DGHs settled down 
as a result of the snow, increased efforts were needed using the combined 
resources of the WAST, Mountain Rescue Services, Fire and Police 
Services and some volunteers to help us discharge medically fit patients 
and to move staff off or onto the sites.

Page 61



10

We cancelled some outpatient and elective activities although we 
managed to complete urgent cancer electives and some other procedures. 
Remarkably we managed to avoid losing too much RTT activity through 
rebooking and the shifting of some activities into the next weekend, 
thanks to the efforts of our management teams and the support of our 
clinicians.

Primary care demand was down and about half of our practices and 
community pharmacies remained open during the snow and our district 
nursing teams made home visits on foot throughout the region.

Local authority services and domiciliary care services were heavily 
compromised by the weather, but colleagues were supportive in 
continuing to review care packages and also in terms of targeting gritting 
and supplementary transport activities to help us.

Our support services teams in catering, housekeeping, transport and other 
estate and facilities functions were absolutely remarkable in the way they 
sustained their support for colleagues.

We have completed a robust review of the plans in place to respond to 
adverse weather events such as snow and the agreed actions have been 
incorporated into the overall plans for the next winter period.

Allocation of Additional Funding 

In January 2018 the Director General of NHS Wales advised all health 
boards of the allocation of additional funding in recognition of the 
exceptional levels of demand on unscheduled care services. The UHB 
allocated this money to some additional measures to enable greater 
resilience across the unscheduled care pathway over winter including:

 Opening surge capacity across both acute sites
 Increased nurse staffing levels to care for corridor waits
 Increased medical cover for the emergency departments out of hours
 Increased occupational health physician cover
 Additional funding to Care & Repair for small adaptations
 Continued provision of local authority reablement services
 Extended pharmacy provision on Sundays
 Employment of additional clinical support staff such as phlebotomists
 Commissioning additional transport services for hospital discharges and 

transfers.

Operating a Gold Command

In early February 2018 the Chief Operating Officer instigated a Gold 
Command group for the Cwm Taf unscheduled care system. This group 
involved representatives from both local authorities plus officers from the 
acute, community, primary care, mental health and operational teams. 

Page 62



11

The decision to enact a Gold Command sought to restore sustainable 
operational flow across the whole system.

A daily tasking environment was established by:

 Including community and primary care colleagues in the routine 
10.30am daily conference calls

 Running an end of day call at 5pm every week day with local authority 
extended membership

 Running a daily deep dive meeting with local authority colleagues to 
ensure that we were expediting care packages

 Holding a weekly face to face meeting on a Wednesday to review the 
first half of the week and prepare for the second half

 Deploying senior executive and management leads to sites to provide 
leadership and support.

We ensured that key officers within the health board and local authorities 
had senior management contact details to facilitate the early resolution of 
any challenges and we ensured that robust on call arrangements were in 
place including arrangements to enhance the senior nurse presence on our 
acute sites at the weekend.

The evaluation of the period of Gold Command is included in the next 
section that sets out the plans to ensure additional resilience in the 
system as we approach the next winter period.

3. KEY AREAS OF RISK FOR 2018/2019

The key areas of risk associated with planning for the winter period relate 
to the following areas: -

 cold weather and the associated respiratory infections;
 older people and chronic medical conditions;
 influenza and the potential for pandemic outbreaks;
 infectious disease outbreaks including diarrhoea and vomiting and 

noro viruses;
 major incidents and escalation;
 capacity and the need for surge planning to meet increased 

pressures;
 extreme weather events linked to climate change e.g. heavy snow 

falls, flooding etc;
 staff availability and sustainability during long periods of pressure;
 maintaining patient dignity at all times regardless of the level of 

pressure;
 the ability to meet the legal requirements of the Mental Health Act 

and prevent out of area high cost placements.

Page 63



12

 to meet demand in relation to non-emergency community transport 
following changes in provision by WAST which will affect for example 
intra hospital transport.

Appendix 1 provides analyses of the risks and the risk adjusted score 
following implementation of the enclosed plan.

There are a number of policies and procedures in place to mitigate against 
these known risks which have been appended within this document. A list 
of key documents is attached at Appendix 2. 

4. SEVERE WEATHER CONTINGENCY PLAN – SNOW & ICE

The Severe Weather Contingency Plan for snow and ice has been 
developed to assist managers and staff deal with a snow and / or ice 
severe weather event that impacts on the normal operating (business 
continuity) of the University Health Board (Appendix 3).

The aim of the plan is to maintain either the normal business of the Health 
Board or an acceptable level of business wherever reasonably practicable. 
This will be achieved through meeting the following objectives: -

 Maintain effective management arrangements to minimise the risks 
to patient safety;

 Maintain effective management arrangements to minimise the risks 
to staff health, safety and welfare;

 Work with partner agencies to communicate and minimise the risks 
to the public.

The plan was last activated in March 2018 and includes a comprehensive 
system for workforce continuity, including 4x4 transport, which has been 
evaluated as highly effective. Whilst it is felt to be robust, it is reviewed 
and revised annually to ensure that lessons learnt have been considered 
and incorporated. 

Following the last activation a full University Health Board debrief was 
undertaken to receive feedback and to learn lessons for the next iteration 
of the contingency plan. These lessons have been incorporated into both 
the Severe Weather Contingency Plan and this Winter Plan.

5. INFECTION CONTROL OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

The Infection Prevention and Control Outbreak Management Procedure 
(IPC02) sets out the action required to ensure prompt action in the event 
of an outbreak or an infection control incident. It gives information on the 
recognition, management, monitoring and control of an outbreak of an 
infectious disease within the Health Board (Appendix 4). It identifies also 
the personnel involved and their responsibilities. Outcomes from previous 

Page 64



13

requirements to activate the policy have provided assurance re the 
effectiveness of the procedures.

Each incident will require individual planning, although basic processes will 
often be common throughout. The University Health Board will manage 
outbreaks of infection within its hospitals and community services whilst 
outbreaks occurring in the community will be managed by the Consultant 
in Communicable Disease Control (CCDC), Public Health Wales.

6. SHORT TERM SURGE CAPACITY PLANNING

During times of extreme pressure when there are delays and the capacity 
in the Emergency Departments is severely compromised, the Deputy Chief 
Operating Officer/Assistant Director for Medicine, Assistant Director 
Surgery and Assistant Director for Mental Health, or in their absence the 
Head of Nursing on the DGH site, will support the wards in taking an  
additional patient into the clinical areas where appropriate. 

On the PCH site this will involve the care of additional patients in the 
Clinical Decisions Unit (CDU) and the use of treatment rooms on certain 
wards. This approach will introduce 9 additional beds to the PCH site and 
the associated staffing issues will be managed by the Head of Nursing on 
the site. 

On the RGH site this will involve the care of patients in the Acute 
Emergency Care Unit and the waiting rooms on wards 2 & 8. This 
approach will introduce 8 additional beds to the RGH site and the 
associated staffing issues will be managed by the Head of Nursing on the 
site. 

All decisions will be based on accurate and timely information and the 
potential / real risk to the organisation as a whole. This decision making 
process will be supported by bed management meetings on each site. 
There is to be a real time bed management system in place with good 
visibility of data across hospital sites as well as at Health Board Head 
Quarters. 

The nurse in charge of the receiving ward will be responsible for making 
the decision on the most suitable placement of an additional patient and 
this may involve sitting a patient awaiting discharge out of their bed.

7. EMERGENCY PRESSURES ESCALATION PROCEDURE

The health board has robust Emergency Pressures Escalation Procedure in 
place alongside those developed by the WAST. Action cards have been 
printed for key staff members and desk top escalation charts have been 
provided for all acute and community ward areas, bed managers and the 
emergency departments. The escalation level across all Health Board sites 

Page 65



14

is now displayed on the intranet site and this is updated at least once per 
day, as and when required, by the Deputy Chief Operating Officer and the 
site based Heads of Nursing.

The triggers for the emergency departments, acute hospitals and 
community hospitals are included as Appendix 5. The associated actions 
are clearly set out within the Escalation Procedure and will be utilised 
during the winter period. They are not repeated within this plan. 

8. OPERATIONAL WINTER READINESS

The operational lead within the Health Board is the Chief Operating 
Officer. On a day to day basis the Assistant Director of Operations 
(Unscheduled Care) will take the lead role and will chair the Local Winter 
Pressures Group. The membership of the Local Winter Pressures Group is 
set out below: -

Membership of the Local Winter Pressures Group

 Deputy Chief Operating Officer / Assistant Director of Operations 
(Medicine)

 Clinical Director Acute Medicine and A&E
 Assistant Director of Nursing
 Head of Nursing Royal Glamorgan Hospital
 Head of Nursing Prince Charles Hospital
 Head of Nursing Localities
 Head of Primary Care
 Locality Manager Rhondda, Taf Ely, Merthyr Tydfil and Cynon Valley
 Representative Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Authority
 Representative Merthyr Tydfil Local Authority
 Representative Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust
 Assistant Director for Surgery
 Assistant Director for Mental Health
 Infection Control Lead
 Directorate Manager Acute Medicine / A&E
 Directorate Manager Surgery, T&O, Urology and Gynaecology
 Assistant Director of Therapies & Health Sciences
 Assistant Director (Facilities)
 Head of Business Support (Operations)
 Third sector representatives
 Head of Communications and Media Management
 Contingency Manager
 Operations Manager GP Out of Hours Service

Meetings of the Local Winter Pressures Group will be scheduled on a 
fortnightly basis and officers will send a deputy if they are unable to 
attend.

Page 66



15

The group will be established for the sole purpose of providing tactical and 
operational level oversight and timely input throughout the winter period. 
It will review the bed occupancy levels on each site during the winter 
period and will match resources to meet peaks in demand. The group will 
agree joint actions that can be implemented immediately to manage 
periods of high demand.

Any areas of concern and key risks will be highlighted to the Chief 
Operating Officer on a daily basis and action will be taken to alert the 
Chief Executive and other Directors on an exception reporting basis. 

Implementing “good process resilience” is seen as a key component of 
this Plan.  

During times of severe pressure over a continued period the Chief 
Operating Officer will establish a strategic planning group (Gold/Silver 
Command) with the following core membership: -

 Chief Operating Officer
 Deputy Chief Operating Officer / Assistant Director 

for Medicine
 Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Patient Services
 Director of Primary, Community & Mental Health
 Assistant Director of Therapies & Health Sciences
 Assistant Director (Facilities)
 RCT Local Authority
 Merthyr Tydfil Local Authority
 Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust

The Strategic Group may seek additional representation from any of the 
above officers and it will meet as and when required.

The ethos of commissioning the above group is not to be seen as a sign of 
failure of the system in place but an enabler to respond to pressure and 
demands.  It is therefore imperative that in particular the “Gold 
Command” is instigated early so that interventions can be put in place to 
minimize the impact of increased demand. 

The Chief Operating Officer will instigated a Gold Command group for the 
Cwm Taf unscheduled care system and will ensure there is “good process 
resilience”. This may include:  

 Community and primary care colleagues in the routine 10.30am daily 
conference calls

 Running an end of day call at 5pm every week day with local authority 
extended membership

 Running a daily deep dive meeting with local authority colleagues to 
ensure that we were expediting care packages

Page 67



16

 Holding a weekly face to face meeting on a Wednesday to review the 
first half of the week and prepare for the second half

 Deploying senior executive and management leads to sites to provide 
leadership and support.

Key officers within the health board and local authorities will have senior 
management contact details to facilitate the early resolution of any 
challenges and will ensure that robust on call arrangements are in place 
including arrangements to enhance the senior nurse presence on our 
acute sites at the weekend.

9. USING DATA TO FACILITATE ACTION

During 2018/2019 we plan to increase the availability and visibility of data 
to manage patient flow and increased demand on the system.  There will 
be a new Emergency Department system with good visibility of data 
across hospital sites e.g. white boards at ward level, displays at Health 
Board Headquarters and this data will be consistent across all areas. There 
will also be a real time bed management system available across the 
hospital sites. 

10. PROTECTING THE ELECTIVE CAPACITY

The anticipated increase in unscheduled activity during the winter period 
provides a significant challenge to managing elective activity, avoiding 
cancelations and therefore meeting the RTT performance targets and 
trajectories as set out in the Scheduled Care Delivery Plan. We will 
endeavour to maintain elective work as far as possible during periods of 
surge.

The Assistant Director for Surgery will ensure that elective activity is 
planned and scheduled against the predicted peaks in emergency activity 
and will provide assurance by 15 October 2018  to ensure that: -

 routine elective work will be reduced over the Christmas and New Year 
period to provide additional capacity to meet the expected demand.

 named individuals to liaise with regarding elective activity will be on 
each acute site during this period;

 elective and planned activity is reduced, with a focus on provision of 
day cases, for the first two weeks of the New Year to create capacity 
should the expected surge in non-elective demand be realised;

 staff resources are redeployed and work flexible across departments to 
support activity during peak times;

 the smooth return to elective capacity is planned for January 2019 
taking account of the potential continued demand for general and 
critical care beds;

 during periods of high emergency demand patients will be prioritised as 
follows; known cancers, urgent suspected cancers, clinically urgent; 52 

Page 68



17

week breaches; 36 weeks. No routine elective work that requires beds 
will be scheduled during such periods

 plans are in place to ring fence surgical capacity as appropriate;
 the preference for cohort / buddy ward management of medical outliers 

is agreed with the appropriate Clinical Directors by 15 October 2018;
 plans are in place to restart elective work earlier if emergency demand 

does not reach the expected levels.

11. MEDIUM AND LONGER TERM SURGE CAPACITY

During periods of high activity the number of patients allocated to 
inappropriate inpatient settings increases and this can result in increased 
risk from a patient care perspective whilst making the task of senior 
clinical review difficult. The University Health Board has therefore 
identified surge capacity areas on the DGH sites as follows: -

 Additional patients in the Clinical Decisions Unit and the use of 
treatment rooms on certain wards - 9 beds to the PCH site 

 Ward 1 at the Royal Glamorgan Hospital – 12 beds

These beds will provide additional short stay capacity to maintain day case 
activity during peaks in emergency demand.  

The introduction of additional capacity will provide the opportunity to 
cohort patients appropriately, reduce the numbers of medical outliers and 
improve medical efficiency and productivity. The Heads of Nursing will 
ensure that the area is robustly managed to ensure that appropriate flow 
is maintained within the system. The Heads of Nursing will also develop 
plans to ensure that the surge capacity can be opened quickly to respond 
to pressures on the system and this may include the recall of staff on 
annual leave. It is however acknowledged that the ability to ensure the 
appropriate level of staffing in the surge capacity areas is a significant risk 
to the organisation.

The Head of Nursing for the community hospitals, and in their absence the 
locality manager, will identify an area that can be utilised to increase the 
inpatient capacity on the Ysbyty Cwm Rhondda and Ysbyty Cwm Cynon 
sites, this may be a treatment room or day room dependant on the 
facilities available. The Head of Nursing in conjunction with the Senior 
Nurse will also be responsible for identifying the most suitable patients for 
this environment to minimise the risk and maintain patient safety. The use 
of non commissioned areas will be risk managed on a daily basis by the 
Senior Nurse / Head of Nursing and areas will be decommissioned at the 
earliest opportunity in response to a decrease in escalation levels across 
the acute and community sites.

The decision to open the identified additional surge capacity will rest with 
the Deputy Chief Operating Officer / Assistant Director for Medicine and 

Page 69



18

this decision making process will be supported by bed management 
meetings on the site.

12. CRITICAL CARE SERVICES

Existing critical care networks will be utilised to deliver surge capacity 
when required and this will be managed in line with existing protocols to 
manage patients appropriately across the South Wales area.

Mental inpatient services are closely aligned to the Crisis Resolution Home 
Treatment Teams (CRHT) to ensure that flow is optimised. At times of 
high demands, consideration will be given to strengthening the CRHT 
resource to maximise flow and home treatment availability.

13. SUPPORTING THE EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT

A range of actions are already underway to improve system performance 
in the acute part of the unscheduled care pathway and these include: -

- Increase in the hours covered by acute physicians to integrate with the 
emergency departments to support more effective front-door decision 
making;

- Dedicated space on each DGH site to protect minor injuries stream;
- Ambulatory care facilities are aligned with the emergency departments 

on both acute sites with read across to the Stay Well @Home services;
- The Stay Well @home Team (SW@HT), including a skill mix of social 

workers, occupational therapists, occupational therapy technicians and 
physiotherapists, working 7 days a week 8.00a.m. to 8.00p.m., will 
undertake assessment at A & E and support individuals to be 
discharged home. SW@HT will access a four hour response from social 
care and the nursing @home service to ensure appropriate support can 
be provide in the community to ensure a safe timely discharge;

- Patient pathways in place with the WAST to reduce the ambulance 
conveyance rates;

- Psychiatric liaison and crisis resolution services;
- Review on a case by case basis those patients who remain in the 

emergency department over 12 hours to understand the reasons and 
highlight issues within the patient pathway;

- Age Connect Morgannwg early discharge support service now available 
across both DGH sites.

During times of increased pressure on the front door of the hospital 
services the Acute Medicine, and A&E Directorate and Mental Health Crisis 
Resolution Home Treatment (CRHT) and DGH Liaison will need to ensure 
that staffing levels meet the expected peaks in demand. This will include 
the provision of consultant cover throughout the day and early evening, 
additional middle grade cover between 1600 and 2200 hours, additional 

Page 70



19

nursing and support staff provided as and when required to support the 
additional activity and additional senior manager support for the 
emergency departments.

All acute departments and specialties will be expected to adhere to the 
Emergency Department Policy for Making and Accepting Referrals at all 
times to ensure effective patient flow through the departments. All clinical 
teams will respond within 60 minutes of a request by the emergency 
department to give a specialist opinion and when a patient requires 
admission to the specialty identified, it will be the responsibility of that 
clinical team to identify a bed on an appropriate ward as quickly as 
possible.

Mental health emergencies are expected to adhere to government 
standards for Crisis Resolution Home Treatment and the legal 
requirements of the Mental Health Act (1983) and Mental Health Measures 
(2012). Additionally the CAMHS emergency network for the Cardiff & Vale 
and Abertawe and Bro Morgannwg areas will liaise closely with relevant 
managers in these areas via the CAMHS Clinical Director and the Assistant 
Director of Operations for Mental Health.

14. WARD BASED CARE

Many of the bottle necks and delays within the system occur during the 
early part of the day and weekend discharge rates are minimal. Plans are 
already being implemented as part of the Unscheduled Care Services 
Updated Delivery Plan to: -

 Continue the daily multidisciplinary board rounds on DGH sites
 Monitor the implementation of the anticipated day of discharge model 

on all hospital sites in line with the frailty model
 Monitor implementation of criteria led discharge across all hospital sites
 Utilise the discharge lounges facilities on each DGH site
 Audit and monitor the live bed management / patient transfer system
 Continue with daily deep dives at each of the community hospitals.

 
These plans are supported through the “Focus on Flow” work that is being 
lead by the Deputy Chief Operating Officer/Assistant Director for Medicine, 
Nursing and Patient Care & Safety and a daily support system is now in 
place across all sites.

15. LOCALITY BASED CARE

One element of current community health service provision which 
represents a key development in the shift to ‘out of hospital’ care to date, 
is our @Home Single Point of Access which includes a range of clinical 
interventions supported by Triage:

Page 71



20

 Consultant led Assessment ( 72 hour) 
 Initial Registered Nurse Response ( 4 hour ) 
 Community IV intervention (same day) 
 Community Ward
 Community replacement fluids e.g. subcutaneous

These services help bridge the gap between core primary / community 
and secondary care services and support our district nursing and GP 
colleagues in complex assessment and care in the community. 
The reablement service is aligned with the Local Authority (LA) model of 
working and is accessed through the LA single point of access. This 
comprises of the services therefore already integrated with the LA and has 
been since its inception.

Moving forward this year the UHB has worked with partners to bring the 
service elements of @Home  together with Stay Well@ Home Services 
(SW@H) offering  further potential to support admission avoidance and to 
support earlier discharge through:

 Integration and co-located at a UHB @Home level within Dewi Sant 
Hospital

 One clinical management structure covering all of the localities UHB 
@Home services,  to manage the operations and to drive service 
change

 Single point of access for all referrals within the UHB @Home Service
 One triage service daily for all referrals received and allocate according 

to need 
 Provide rapid response, i.e. within 4 hours, 8am 8pm  7 days a week 
 operate a 72 hour wider team including medical response  5 days a 

week 9am-5pm
 Alignment with SW@H service 8-8pm 7 days per week 

During times of increased pressure on the acute sector, these services will 
be fully utilised to capacity and the Localities Manager will ensure that the 
service can respond and provide additional support to individuals in the 
community who are at risk of admission to hospital or who are starting to 
fail at home. The @Home Service will also facilitate discharge from 
secondary care by delivering enhanced interventions at home during times 
of increased service pressures. 

Within Cwm Taf there are two community hospitals serving the local 
populations and supporting the two district general hospitals. The multi 
disciplinary team working across community hospitals will facilitate early 
complex discharge. This will often include the utilisation of rapid response 
teams from Third Sector organisations such as Care and Repair and the 
Red Cross and Age Connect Morgannwg. 

Page 72



21

The medical and nursing teams supporting community hospitals will also 
provide out-reach support for the community ward and IV service.

The locality teams have developed a supplementary business continuity 
plan for implementation during periods of escalation and the detail of this 
is not repeated in this plan.

16. DIAGNOSTIC AND SUPPORT SERVICES

Diagnostic and support services are crucial to the delivery of safe and 
effective patient care services during periods of increased winter service 
pressures. Each department will develop its own business continuity plan 
by no later than 15 October 2018 to ensure that it can cope during winter 
pressures and to ensure that it can respond quickly to increased service 
pressures. This will include the following areas as a minimum: -

- Radiology
- Pathology including mortuary
- Pharmacy
- Catering, Housekeeping and Linen services
- Procurement / stores
- HSDU 
- Porters and security 
- Patient Transport Services 
- Phlebotomy 

17. MENTAL HEALTH (Adult & CAMHS)

The Assistant Director of Operations (Mental Health) will ensure that 
services are flexible and can respond quickly to changes in the level of 
demand so that: -

 The escalation levels for both adult mental health services and CAMHS 
are regularly assessed and communicated;

 Standards of care and patient quality in both adult mental health and 
CAMHS are maintained and the Board is regularly appraised of risks 
due to pressures;

 The legal requirements of the Mental Health Act (1983) and Mental 
Health Measures (2012) are maintained without the need for referral to 
high cost placements in England or legal challenge by patients / 
advocates;

 Clinical staff continue to undertake timely reviews of inpatients under 
their care to ensure these patients received the optimum level of care 
in relation to their mental health needs;

 The working hours for the mental health liaison teams that support 
patients who present at emergency departments have been  considered 
and have been increased during 2017 to meet the demand;

Page 73



22

 Arrangements have been agreed by no later than 15 October 2018 to 
ensure access to services over the Christmas and New Year period to 
identify and maintain vulnerable people in the community.

18. PRIMARY CARE

Primary care services will continue to act as the first point of access for 
urgent services and GPs will continue to prevent hospital admissions 
where appropriate and to keep patients at home as long as possible with 
alternative care plans in place. The following services will be utilised as 
fully as possible during the winter period to reduce reliance on the acute 
sector and secondary mental health services:-

- Maximise GP access during core hours;
- Work in an integrated way with community services and third sector  

to keep patients at home
- Ensure primary care supports  patients with chronic conditions;
- Fully utilise the resources within the Primary Care Support Unit, 

community resource team and primary care mental health teams:
- Fully utilise the @home services for appropriate conditions.

To build capacity within the primary care teams to see the most complex 
patients in need of urgent consultation by:- 

- The introduction of appropriate sign posting of patients to 
alternative primary care professionals, dentists, optometrists and 
pharmacists based on assessment of identified need

- Encouraging the utilisation of the common ailments scheme within 
community pharmacies where appropriate

- Encouraging the use of alternative methods for GP consultations 
such telephone triage and advice software such as WebGP 

Proactive work being undertaken to manage demand includes: -

- As part of the national cluster programme all GP practices will be 
working together to assess winter planning.  

- One practice undertook a pilot for the virtual ward and the evidence 
gained from this pilot will be incorporate into the health board’s 
wider Transformational Plan. 

- Detailed demand and capacity work has commenced within practices 
across the clusters to identify the nature of work, peak times, skill 
mix and new roles required to ensure prudent care is delivered. 

- Joint pathways have been agreed with WAST for chronic conditions 
such as diabetes, falls and respiratory.  Where patients can be kept 
at home the paramedics will pass information into the GP and 
District Nurse and a visit will be made to the patient within 48 
hours.

- Cluster schemes have commenced around chronic conditions 
management.  These include COPD where a team follow up a patient 

Page 74



23

recently discharged from hospital following an acute exacerbation of 
COPD to ensure they are not relapsing and at risk of a further 
admission. The evaluation of scheme has shown a decrease in GP 
attendance, OOH call and emergency admissions. The primary care 
team are currently developing plans to roll out this initiative across 
the health board

An alert system is already in place to advice primary care practices when 
there is a high level of emergency pressure that impacts on patient flow 
and this will be utilised appropriately during the winter period.

19. GP OUT OF HOURS SERVICES

The sustainable provision of GP Out of Hours Services is a risk and there 
are periods when there is limited or no presence in the Primary Care 
Centres (PCCs). Every effort is made to ensure optimal cover is in place 
during the winter period, to alleviate pressure on the emergency 
departments and the Ambulance Service. Additional GP support for the 
OOH services over Christmas / New Year and other peak times during the 
winter will be included in service plans but there are no guarantees these 
will be secured. However if PCCs cannot be covered, additional staff are 
rostered to the emergency departments to help manage demand.

New clinical roles, such as Advanced Nurse Practitioners and Community 
Paramedics are being developed and some have commenced working 
alongside the GPs in the clinical team.  In addition the service will signpost 
patients to more appropriate services for their condition e.g. dentistry, 
optometry, pharmacy.

The OOH team is also looking at the potential of utilising artificial 
intelligence systems to help manage demand, provide more robust 
information for clinical triage and promote a greater level of self care. 

20. DEVELOPMENT OF A WORKFORCE PLAN

The delivery of many of the actions for the University Health Board set out 
above relies on the availability at short notice of additional staff. The 
Directorate Managers for each area are developing workforce plans by 15 
October 2018. The workforce plans will: -

• Set out how pressures on services and the impact on staff will be 
managed;

• Identify areas where short term contracts could be beneficial in health 
and social care settings;

• Identify how workloads will be prioritised to ensure that the patient 
flow is maintained;

Page 75



24

• Identify how surge capacity will be staffed to maintain patient safety 
and dignity at all times;

• Review the allocation of annual leave during key periods.

21. NHS / SOCIAL CARE JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

Delivering sustainable unscheduled care services for the population of 
Cwm Taf involves the delivery of joined up services across acute, primary 
care and across health and social care. To do this partnership working is 
key, ensuring there is a clear focus on shared priorities and delivering the 
best possible unscheduled care and associated services within the 
resources available to all of the partners.

Cwm Taf, in partnership with the both local authorities, Rhondda Cynon 
Taf (RCT) and Merthyr Tydfil (MT), have developed a multi disciplinary 
team, Stay Well @home Team (SW@HT)  based on the two acute hospital 
sites of royal Glamorgan and Prince Charles. The teams are primarily 
based at A&E but also support discharges from Acute Medical Unit and 
Clinical Decision Unit, additionally supporting all wards as capacity 
dictates. The aim of the service is to improve individual service user 
outcomes through enhanced communication and integration of health and 
social care services at the critical interface that occurs during presentation 
at A&E and hospital admission through to discharge. 

The service complements the existing discharge services already in place 
(e.g. the Health and Social Care Discharge Coordinators, the Psychiatric 
Liaison Service and Discharge Liaison Service and services provided by the 
Third Sector including Age Connects Morgannwg and Cwm Taf Care and 
Repair). 

The SW@HT undertake a proportionate assessment and commission 
appropriate community services to support discharge home with the aim 
of supporting the individual at A & E to safely return home and avoid any 
unnecessary hospital admissions. 

The SW@HT can commission a range of community responses such as 
Nursing @home including the IV service and social care community 
package of support within 4 hours, 7 days a week. To support these 
arrangements the capacity of community services have been enhanced 
and access arrangements and eligibility criteria have been revised.

Equipment stores within both hospital sites have been enhanced to ensure 
appropriate equipment is available for the team to provide to individuals 
to support the discharge. In cases where equipment is not available at the 
hospital the local authority response services will take simple equipment 
to the first call. 

The Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Authority community domiciliary care 
support @home service will support discharge through:

Page 76



25

 Providing a 4 hour response to referrals from the SW@HT 7 days a 
week

 Provide Intermediate Care and Reablement Services

Merthyr Tydfil Local Authority initial response service will support 
discharge through:

 Access to community packages of care 7 days a week inclusive of out 
of hours.

 The provision of intermediate care and reablement services

Additional social worker capacity is also provided at the two community 
hospitals. There are an additional two social workers at YCR and one at 
YCC. The social workers attend multidisciplinary meets, patient flow 
meetings and support timely discharges home.

During 2018-19 the service will be evaluated by the University of South 
Wales. Consideration will be given and a business case developed to 
extend access to the community elements of SW@H services to health 
professionals to support people to remain at home and prevent admission 
to hospital.

22. AMBULANCE SERVICES 

The Deputy Chief Operating Officer / Assistant Director of Operations 
(Medicine) will continue to work closely with the Operations Manager at 
the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust (WAST) to maximise use of 
alternative pathways of care to prevent conveyance to the Emergency 
Department, to facilitate flows through the unscheduled care system, to 
safely avoid hospital admission and to maintain the good performance 
against the ambulance response time targets. 

In Cwm Taf, specific areas of work spanning the winter period of 2018-19 
will include: -

a. The potential for extending the Advanced Paramedic Practitioner 
rotational model, which is scheduled for an initial four month period 
commencing July 2018. The primary care rotation will initially be 
established in the St John’s Medical Centre Aberdare, building on the 
relationships already developed through the previous community 
paramedic pilot which ended in March 2018.

b. Review of all current pathways of care between WAST and Health 
Board in a programme of work that will review, refresh and improve 
options for patients.

Page 77



26

a. Advanced Paramedic Practitioner- The Rotational Model

Future 
Model

WAST  
Response 
Rotation

Clinical Contact 
Centre Rotation

Primary 
Care 

Rotation

• Community Paramedicine
• Management of specific 

caseload
• Home visiting
• Care home visiting and 

care plan development
• Emergency ‘same day’ 

presentations
• Reduces HCP calls

• Pathway navigator
• Proactive prevention role
• Consult and close
• Primary & secondary 

response
• Reduces ambulance 

conveyance

• Hear & Treat floor walking
• Oversight and tasking of WAST APP 

response 
• Clinical leadership and advice for other 

ambulance clinicians & pulls in referrals

Recent years have increasingly demonstrated growing system pressures 
that require all healthcare providers to re-examine their care delivery 
models and explore opportunities to collaborate together to improve how 
patients are managed. From July 2018 the WAST and Cwm Taf Health 
Board have jointly funded a four month initial Advanced Paramedic 
Practitioner (APP) programme. The aim of this model of care is to ensure 
patients receive the appropriate level of care nearer their home. The 
rotational model involves partnership working with the Health Board. This 
model aims to bring together three elements on a rotational basis.

Operational Rotation- the APP in the ambulance operational setting will 
respond to 999 calls, provide advice to other clinical staff and offer 
leadership at incidents they attend. Evidence from the other Health Board 
pilots in Wales, namely Betsi Cadwaladr and Aneurin Bevan demonstrate 
that 70% of patients attended by an APP will be managed at home 
reducing avoidable conveyance rates to the A&E Departments.

Clinical Contact Centre Rotation (CCC) - the APP within the CCC will 
identify suitable calls for the operational APP. In addition they will provide 
CCC with clinical support.

Primary Care Rotation- Advanced Paramedics will attend patients 
identified by a GP to undertake a full patient assessment, and will provide 
treatment and patient management (e.g. direct referral to care pathways) 
commensurate with their scope of practice, attained via further academic 
study & clinical practice. If the patient is found to be critically unwell, then 
WAST will assume responsibility for providing advance life support (ALS), 

Page 78



27

and transportation to the nearest Emergency Department (as per current 
Emergency Medical Services provision). 

Paramedics engaged in this model will be:-

• Experienced Paramedic (5yrs + post registration).
• Post registration education MSc in Advanced Clinical Practice. This 

level of education enables the APP to undertake a comprehensive 
clinical assessment, formulate differential diagnosis and develop an 
appropriate care plan utilising a range of Patient Group Direction 
medication.

We aim to:

•     Reduce emergency hospital admissions.
•     Improve access to care.
•     Use the patient/carer definition of ‘urgent’ rather than a clinical 

interpretation, remembering always that symptoms can be alarming 
for patients and the reason they are asking for a clinical opinion is 
because they are worried.

•     Achieve positive patient satisfaction. 
•     Release capacity in GP surgeries for planned care. 
 

b. Conveyance rates to the Emergency Department

A programme of work has been agreed between the WAST and Health 
Board that will make progress in addressing the Cwm Taf ambulance 
conveyance rates, which remain higher than other parts of Wales. Building 
on the successful work undertaken five years ago to build a package of 
alternative care pathways for WAST to access, the scope for future 
opportunities is positive. The joint objectives to achieve in preparation for 
the winter period will be

 Finalise a refreshed minor injury referral pathway for WAST 
patients.

 To review the current COPD care bundle with a view to ensure a 
revised version is in place by October 2018.

 To review and refresh the current Mental Health Pathway. 
 Define the support offered by district nurses in and out of hours and 

refresh the access criteria with WAST staff.
 Develop a social care pathway in partnership with the Local 

Authorities.

Every month we will support a “Bundle of the Month” with the Deputy 
Chief Operating Officer and Ambulance Operations Manager taking overall 
leadership accountability. By focusing on a specific pathway every month, 
targeted efforts by both organisations and key Managers will ensure that 

Page 79



28

options for patients are explored more closely providing feedback and 
learning opportunities for reflection and improved practice 

Additionally, WAST and the Health Board will:

- Continue to adopt a zero tolerance approach to ambulance delays.
- Maintain ambulance response time performance for immediately life 

threatening calls under the new clinical response model.
- Maintain the flow of Card 35 hospital care practitioner (HCP) 

admissions and continue to target the use of our Urgent Care staff at 
our low acuity Green3 HCP admission activity.

- Maximise Emergency Medical Service, Unit Hours Production (EMS 
UHP) on key identified high demand dates and plan for UHP in excess 
of 90% across a 24 hour period.

- Liaison on OOH cover, particularly at weekends.
- Close integration with bed management staff to support flow between 

sites.
- Winter fleet preparedness (4x4 capacity, winter tyres).
- Estates preparedness to maintain access and egress to places of work.
- Robust management of sickness absence abstractions.
- Management support both in and out of hours.
- Joint decision making and maintaining channels of communication.
- Continued input to Winter Planning Group.
- Maximise use of additional community first responders, particularly at 

weekends.
- Maximise use of own transport / taxi transport where clinically 

appropriate.
- We will continue our participation in the national new approach to pilot 

appropriately trained and equipped Community First Responders 
(CFRs) to attend non injury fallers in the Pontypridd area.

23. CHRISTMAS AND NEW YEAR SERVICE PROVISION 

The Christmas and New Year period is a crucial time for the health and 
social care system and the Head of Communications and Media 
Management will ensure that detailed plans are developed by 15 October 
2018 to ensure that arrangements for services that will remain operational 
and those that will close are well publicised and understood by staff and 
the local population.

The opening times for key services including GP practices, GP Out of 
Hours Services, mental health primary care services, pharmacies and 
minor injuries units will be well publicised in early December in an attempt 
to manage the pressure on the system.

The detailed plans will set out also how staffing levels in key areas such as 
emergency departments will be mapped against historic peaks in activity 
and how additional management support will be made available to 

Page 80



29

expedite discharges during the holiday period. This will include reference 
to the support available from key partners including the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS Trust and the local authorities.

The wards will ensure that patients are safely discharged prior to the 
holiday period and during December plans will be developed to ensure 
that those patients that will remain in a hospital setting have a 4 day plan 
of care in place for the Christmas and New Year period. 

The table included as Appendix 6 illustrates the arrangements for the 
health and social care services that will remain operational and those that 
will close over the holiday period. 

24. PREVENTION AND PROTECTION 

Key features of the plan are the need to prepare for adverse weather 
conditions that may increase demand on services or compromise business 
continuity and to raise awareness of the public health impact and effects 
of winter particularly on populations most at risk in terms of social, 
economic, behavioural and other contributing health factors. The following 
sections set out the plans in respect of preparedness, prevention and 
protection activities.

Weather Watch

The last few years have shown us how vulnerable we are to the weather 
and climate change as we have experienced extreme weather events 
including heavy snow falls during March 2018. Such events have a direct 
impact on our communities and on our ability to deliver essential services.

In recent years the ability to forecast severe weather events has become 
more accurate. This advance has allowed organisations to plan for these 
events and ensure that adequate arrangements are in place to minimise 
the risk to normal business. 

The Health Board, as a Category 1 Responder under the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004, has an agreement with the Metrological Office 
(Met. Office) to automatically receive advanced warnings and alerts of 
severe weather within its catchment area. This arrangement is called the 
National Severe Weather Warning Service (NSWWS) alert and consists of 
a database of Health Board contacts held by the Met. Office. 

The database has been arranged to ensure that the correct personnel are 
informed, via email, of the forecast events e.g. road ice alerts are sent to 
Facilities staff.

When snowfall is forecast the Met Office issues an NSWW as soon as the 
risk is identified. These warnings are updated on a regular basis to reflect 
the increased/decreased risk. 

Page 81



30

These alerts are based on the level of disruption as opposed to the level of 
risk that snow or icy conditions will occur; these are described as follows:

Yellow alert: minimum amount of disruption/any disruption will be 
transient

Amber alert: disruption can be expected to last for some time

Red alert: significant disruption can be expected to last for some time.
The details of duration and any specific considerations such as loss of 
infrastructure (e.g. power) will be included in the narrative of the alert.

Once the alerts are received by personnel within the Health Board it is the 
responsibility of managers to;

 Cascade the information to staff
 Ensure that suitable arrangements are in place
 Minimise the risk to the business and the health, safety and welfare 

of both patients and staff 

Seasonal Flu Campaign

We are working towards a comprehensive action plan for increasing the 
uptake of flu vaccination in the ‘over 65’s’ and ‘at risk population groups’, 
and for our staff. It is by increasing uptake that we best protect our 
population, our staff from infection and the service from excessive 
demand. The school programme has been extended for 2018/19, all 
primary school children will be offered the nasal spray flu vaccine in 
school, including 3 year olds that are in a local authority nursery. Parents 
who have a child in this age group you will receive a letter and consent 
form from school a few weeks before the vaccination date.  The Strategic 
Immunisation Group is supported at an Executive level and the 
Immunisation Coordinator, with a committee structure in place to ensure 
wide engagement.

The plan focuses on: -

• increasing uptake in the over 65s and others at risk by increasing 
uptake in GP practices.

• ensuring midwives and primary care support uptake in pregnant 
women.

• involving community pharmacy as an alternative venue for patients 
who are not  being vaccinated by their GP.

• Working with Community Facilitators raising awareness to residents 
across Cwm Taf.

• a campaign to increase uptake in staff, to protect them and their 
patients  and family, supported by a comprehensive communication 

Page 82



31

campaign. Nursing staff are asked to champion this approach and 
support delivery to colleagues.

• a programme to immunise children, as this is expected to reduce 
the spread of flu. This year it will target 2 and 3 year olds (not in 
school) via primary care; and Nursery, all primary school classes via 
school nurses.

National Influenza Immunisation Programme 2018/19 (WHC 
(2018) 023)

Whilst the targets for 2018/19 remain unchanged, there are three notable 
changes to the groups eligible for immunisation: 

• Expansion of the routine children’s programme to include all 
primary school aged children from reception class to year 6. 
This will have staff resource implications for the school nursing 
service. WG funding has been transferred to health boards’ core 
allocations.

• NHS provision of flu vaccine to staff in adult care homes at 
no cost to themselves or their employing organisation. The 
Health Board will need to include staff working in care homes 
amongst the eligible groups to whom community pharmacies 
providing the community pharmacy influenza vaccination service in 
Wales can provide vaccination. Further operational detail on the 
delivery of this programme will be issued later in the summer.

• Introduction of a Adjuvanted Trivalent Vaccine for over 65’s

The Seasonal Flu Management Plan is attached as Appendix 7.

Pneumococcal vaccine

We continue to encourage the use of pneumococcal vaccine in those for 
whom it is recommended. We have ensured that GPs are sent messages 
reminding them of the value of this vaccine, and this is reinforced by 
our immunisation coordinator and prescribing advisers.

25. COMMUNICATIONS 

The communications team will build on previous years’ campaigns to 
promote local and national winter health messages; advertise any change 
to services due to unforeseen weather, and raise awareness of the 
appropriate use of healthcare services during the winter months. 

The University Health Board will continue to promote the national Choose 
Well campaign and adapt it to fit local needs and circumstances. The aim 
of Choose Well is to help alleviate some of the pressures in the accident 
and emergency departments and to redirect the public to the most 

Page 83



32

appropriate care setting which may be self care, GP, pharmacist, dentist 
or a minor injuries unit etc. 

The communications team will continue to promote the Minor Injuries 
Units at Ysbyty Cwm Rhondda and Ysbyty Cwm Cynon by working with 
staff, the local media and our stakeholders to raise awareness of the 
services available. This will continue to be an important priority to ensure 
the public are able to make informed choices about appropriate points of 
access to services. 

Greater use will be made of the University Health Board’s new website to 
provide winter health advice, building on the Welsh Government’s ‘Keep 
Well This Winter’ campaign. It will provide updates about severe weather 
and act as a central point of information for the public regarding health 
board decisions about patient care and services affected by the weather. 

The website will be supported by the use of social media in English and 
Welsh including eight Facebook pages which allow the communications 
team to target specific health messages to specific hospitals within Cwm 
Taf. We will also share messages on Twitter via our corporate accounts 
@CwmTaf and @CwmTafCymraeg which also enable us to cross promote 
NHS Wales-wide campaign messages. 

The communications team will also use Cwm Taf TV to broadcast winter 
health and ‘choose well’ messaging, as well as promote internal and 
external campaigns to patients and staff. 

Other tools to be used to communicate winter health messages / 
arrangements include: - 

- Local press 
- Public health campaigns on immunisation / Keep Well This Winter 
- Chief Executive weekly blog 
- Share Point  
- Your Healthcare e-newsletter to external stakeholders and public 
- Public fora 

The University Health Board will continue to routinely ask patients about 
their experience of the unscheduled care system and any audits of the 
patient experience will be fed back to staff. 

In addition we plan to maintain close contact with the Community Health 
Council, local authorities and local AMs to brief them on pressures during 
the winter period and to give them advance warning wherever appropriate 
of any changes to services.

Page 84



33

26. Summary of Key Themes and Actions in preparedness for 
Winter 2018//19

As stated previously within this Plan following last winter and the adverse 
weather a number of review meetings were held with colleagues from the 
local authorities, Welsh Ambulance Services Trust and Community Health 
Council. These reviews resulted in the identification of the following key 
themes and actions identified to be considered in preparedness winter 
2018/2019:

Communications and Co-ordination

Communication is key during periods of continued high escalation and 
adverse weather events and as always this is an area that can be 
improved. The following actions are being taken to ensure that system 
and process issues are refined:

 Establish Gold Command earlier following consistent deterioration in 
the levels of escalation and increasing number of 12 hour waits in the 
emergency departments. Gold Command will include the establishment 
of clear communication protocols with local authority and WAST 
colleagues utilising social media and innovative channels where 
possible; establishment of a recognised hub on each site with dedicated 
senior manager support; senior deep dives on each acute and 
community hospital site; clear communication protocols (automated 
where possible) to relay key messages across the sites and to receive 
early escalation of issues.

 Escalate and plan earlier when there is a “red” weather alert and this 
should include the instigation of a Gold Command.

 Update the staff policy related to adverse weather conditions and 
include a one page briefing note to clarify staff expectations re 
attendance at other sites, ability for agile working, and accommodation 
options.

 Implementation of an automated emergency department system to 
facilitate live date input and the sharing of “live” situation reports 
across the organisation.

Redesigning Service Delivery

During the winter period it became clear that a number of service redesign 
issues needed to be progressed as a priority to ensure that we can meet 
the expected demand on services across all settings. Key actions include 
the following:

 Phase 1 of the Stay Well @Home service (SW@H) has been in place for 
the last year and evaluation has shown that it has been successful in 

Page 85



34

improving discharges from the emergency departments and supporting 
earlier discharge following admission by providing responsive 
community services and avoiding unnecessary admissions. As part of 
the planned roll out of this initiative, phase 2 is a proposal to respond 
to community professionals (GPs, GP out of hours, WAST and district 
nurses) to provide them, following their assessment, with an 
alternative to sending people to A&E. Providing a rapid community 
response service to maintain people in their own homes. The 
introduction of phase 2 of the SW@H is a key priority for preparedness 
prior to the next winter period.

 Redesign of primary care and community based services needs to take 
into account the roll out of the virtual ward model, full utilisation of the 
@home IV service, maximised use of advanced care planning, 
enhanced support for care homes, development of a community 
communications hub for co-ordinated triage, full utilisation of WAST 
care pathways, review of multi-disciplinary working, robust 
arrangements for the GP out of hours service, and the development of 
step up capacity in the community hospitals.

 Clarification of the roles and responsibilities of the discharge co-
ordinators, discharge liaison nurses, senior nurses and social workers 
to ensure that the patient flow processes are clear particularly in 
relation to implementation of the Choice Protocol and interim 
placements for patients in dispute or going to Court of Protection for a 
decision.

Transport Arrangements

Transport was a key challenge over the winter period and this was 
heightened during the snow period. The WAST was unable to prioritise 
inter hospital transfers due to the high levels of escalation within the Trust 
and the need to respond to red emergency calls. During the snow 
transport was key to allow staff to get to the sites to maintain services. 
The following key actions are now being taken forward in readiness for 
next winter:

 Commission non-emergency transport services from additional 
providers and ensure that plans are in place to facilitate the discharge 
and move of patients between sites during times of high escalation and 
adverse weather.

 Each directorate needs to identify a list of ‘essential’ and non-essential 
staff for transport prioritisation during adverse weather and this needs 
to be discussed with the facilities team. The plans need to take into 
account the need to utilise locally based staff where possible, special 
needs of individuals due to a disability, pregnancy or home location; 
the ability for agile working; and the skeleton staffing profile needed to 
maintain essential services.

Page 86



35

 Continue to develop and train the network of drivers who can be called 
upon for support during adverse weather and consider the 
establishment of a combined public sector fleet in the Cwm Taf area 
with a 5th transport hub based at Ty Elai.

Cross Boundary Working

Further thought needs to be given to the opportunities for joint working 
initiatives across organisational boundaries prior to the next winter period 
and areas for consideration include the following.

 Impact of the proposals to change the boundary alignment of Bridgend 
County Borough Council and the management responsibility for the 
Princess of Wales Hospital.

 The ability to utilise staff from other Health Boards who present at our 
sites during severe weather conditions.

 Robust processes for the repatriation of patients back to Cwm Taf and 
back to the local areas with particular issues identified for residents 
from the Gwent valleys and Creigiau area of Cardiff.

27. CONCLUSION AND ORGANISATIONAL RISKS

Whilst this Plan focusses on an evaluation of the plans in place for winter 
2017/18 and the organisational readiness as we approach the Winter 
2018/2019 it is important to note that many of the process issues and 
planned service redesign are not specifically related to the winter. 

Many of the identified actions will improve the system resilience and 
ensure that patients flow across the whole integrated pathway in a timely 
manner and therefore have been adopted into current mainstream 
operational working.

The Health Board can be proud of the improvements made in the last 
cycle of winter planning and is very grateful for the huge commitment of 
its staff and many peer and supporting organisations across the public and 
voluntary service that work in partnership with us.

Although all reasonable action has been planned to respond to the 
anticipated winter surge there remain, nonetheless, a number of risks 
including: -

 the availability of the workforce and the ability to recruit quickly to 
staff turnover;

 the fact that additional costs may be incurred during the winter 
period particularly in relation to additional surge capacity in order to 
maintain safety and patient flows within the system; 

Page 87



36

 the management of elective activity throughout the winter and the 
impact on achievement of the performance targets by the end of 
March 2019;

 failure to deliver the cancer access targets;
 failure to meet the legal requirements of the Mental Health Act 

(1983) and Mental Health Measures (2012) without the need for 
high cost out of area placements in England

 the potential impact on staff during extended times of increased 
activity.

These risks will be managed over the winter period and any areas of 
concern will be highlighted to the Chief Operating Officer on a daily basis, 
action will be taken to alert the Chief Executive and other Directors on an 
exception reporting basis. 

***** - *****

Page 88



37

Appendix 1
Risk Analysis

The plan takes a risk management approach to ensure adequate arrangements are in 
place for the potential winter scenarios. The following sections: identify and score the key 
hazards (based on the experience of previous years); use historical data to forecast the 
expected demands on critical service areas; and then provide a risk adjusted rating 
based on the actions identified within this plan.

The plan does not intend to remove all possible risk but does aim to highlight these risks 
and ensure these are mitigated as much as is possible.

Consequence Insignificant Minor Moderate Major Catastrophic

Likelihood 1 2 3 4 5

Rare 1 1 2 3 4 5

Unlikely 2 2 4 6 8 10

Possible 3 3 6 9 12 15

Likely 4 4 8 12 16 20

Almost 
Certain 5 5 10 15 20 25

1 – 3 Low risk
4 – 6 Moderate risk
8 – 12 High risk
15 – 25 Extreme risk

Hazard 
Likelihood Impact Total 

Score

Residual risk score 
following controls 

within this plan
A. Insufficient acute adult bed 

capacity (excluding critical 
care)

5 4 20 9

B. Infection control outbreak 5 3 15 6

C. Adverse weather 4 4 16 8

D. Inability to maintain core 
elective capacity 5 4 20 9

E. Inability to meet cancer 
standards 3 3 9 4

F. Inability to maintain 4 hour 
target 5 4 20 12

G. Inability to maintain 8 hour 
target 5 4 20 12

H. Inability to maintain 12 hour 
target 4 4 16 6

I. Inability to meet stroke 
targets 3 3 9 6

J. Inability to maintain 
appropriate staffing levels 5 4 20 12

Page 89



38

Appendix 2 

REFERENCES 

- All Wales Delivery Framework

- Emergency Pressures Escalation Procedure

- Emergency Department Policy for Making and Accepting Referrals

- Infection Control Outbreak Management Procedure

- Seasonal Flu Plan

- Severe Weather Contingency Plan

- Unscheduled Care Delivery Plan 

- Scheduled Care Delivery Plan

- Welsh Ambulance Service NHS Trust Strategic Winter Framework 
2017/18

- Mental Health Act (1983)

- Mental Health Measures (2012)

- Welsh Government CRHT standards

Page 90



39

Appendix 3

Severe Weather Contingency Plan – Snow & Ice

Severe weather 
snow 16-17.pdf

Appendix 4

Outbreak Management Procedure

IPC02 - Outbreak 
Procedure V4.docx

 

Page 91



40

Appendix 5
LEVEL 1 - NO CAPACITY ISSUES LEVEL 2  - MODERATE PRESSURE LEVEL 3 – SEVERE PRESSURE LEVEL 4  - EXTREME PRESSURE

Tr
ig

ge
rs

Overview – Requires focussed actions to 
allow de-escalation to level 1 (any 4 triggers 
applicable)

Overview – Requires high level actions to 
allow de-escalation to levels 2/1 (any 4 
triggers applicable)

4 CORE TRIGGERS APPLICABLE
This level of escalation will require a 
series of interventions well over and 
above normal service provision. Risk 
management of actions taken will need 
to be documented throughout

Em
er

ge
nc

y 
De

pa
rt

m
en

t

 Emergency admission are within predicted 
levels

 No predicted breaches against targets
 Available resuscitation and trolley capacity 

in the emergency departments
 Ambulance patients – transfer of care 

within 15 minutes 
 Beds available in assessment units
 No assistance being provided to other sites 

/ health boards

 Emergency admission are likely to exceed 
predicted levels

 Anticipated breach of targets (excluding 
clinical exceptions)

 Ambulance patients – transfer of care 
more than 15 minutes but less than 30 
minutes

 Patients in emergency department 
corridor without an identified space 
available within 30 minutes

 Up to 2 minors cubicles blocked by majors 
patients

 Patients waiting more than 1 hour for first 
contact with assessing clinician (majors & 
minors)

 Ability to provide resuscitation capacity

 Emergency admission are exceeding 
predicted levels

 Breaches in targets have occurred 
 Unable to provide resuscitation facility
 Patients in the emergency department 

corridor without an identified space 
available within 60 minutes

 More than 3 minors cubicles blocked by 
majors patients

 Ambulance patients – transfers of care 
more than 30 minutes but less than 60 
minutes

 Patients waiting more than 2 hours for 
first contact with assessing clinician 
(majors & minors)

 Emergency admission have 
significantly exceeded predicted 
levels

 Significant breaches in targets have 
occurred

 Emergency department capacity 
unable to meet further demand

 Ambulance patients – transfer of care 
more than 60 minutes

 Patients waiting more than 4 hours 
for first contact with assessing 
clinician (majors & minors)

P
age 92



41

Co
m

m
un

ity
 H

os
pi

ta
l

 Patient flow maintained and monitored by 
Senior Nurse via board rounds and local 
arrangements

 Predicted discharges for following week 15 
patients or more 

 Actual discharges for the previous week 15 
patients or more

 No delays in transferring patients into 
community Hospital

 Senior Nurse to undertake daily deep 
dives on wards and discuss individual 
patients with medical, therapy and social 
care teams

 Escalation to Heads of Nursing and 
Locality Managers – undertake deep dives 
as required on site, minimum twice per 
week. 

 Weekly patient flow management 
meeting.

 Escalation to Local Authority teams to 
expedite patient’s discharges and provide 
expert advice to community Hospital staff. 

 Predicted Discharges for following week 
10-15 patients

 Actual discharges for the previous week 
10 – 15 patients

 Patients waiting more than 3 days to 
transfer and more than 6 patients on the 
transfer list

 Senior Nurse to undertake daily deep 
dives on wards and discuss individual 
patients with Consultant and therapy 
team leaders. 

 Escalation to Heads of Nursing and 
Locality Managers – undertake daily deep 
dives on site.

 Head of Nursing to provide weekly 
briefing report  to Assistant Director of 
Operations (Unscheduled Care) 

 Predicted discharges for following week 
less than 10 patients

 Actual discharges for the previous week 
less than 10 patients

 Patients waiting more than 8 days to 
transfer and more than 10 patients on 
the transfer list

 Be prepared to accept patients in to 
non commissioned areas in order to 
share risk and maintain safest 
possible service to patients 

 Consider the options to offer non 
clinical staff the opportunity to work 
as health care support workers if 
additional staff is required.

 Predicted Discharges for following 
week less than 5 patients

 Actual discharges for the previous 
week less than 5 patients

 Patients waiting more than 10 days to 
transfer and more than 20 patients 
on the transfer list

 Assistant Director to undertake deep 
dives across all areas

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

  &
 C

AM
HS

 Available PICU capacity
 Beds available for admissions within all 

specialities

 Limited PICU capacity
 Occupancy more than 85%
 Transfers to treatment wards and 

specialist dementia beds expedited to 
create admission capacity

 All leave beds utilised
 Home treatment teams supporting early 

discharge

 No PICU or admission capacity
 Home treatment teams at capacity 
 Patients being admitted out of area to 

meet the legal requirements of the 
Mental Health Act

 No PICU or admission/ assessment 
beds available

 Patients unable to be admitted to out 
of area mental health placements due 
to no emergency provision and 
breaches in the legal requirements of 
the Mental Health Act (1983)

 Failure to meet the legal requirement 
of the Mental Health Measures 
(2012) due to workforce demand

P
age 93



42

Ch
ild

re
n’

s W
ar

ds

 Occupancy rates less than 85%
 No delayed transfers of care
 Predicted and known capacity to 

accommodate emergency and elective 
admissions

 Available HDU bed
 Available cubicles
 Adequate Medical Staff cover
 Adequate nursing staff to cover ward and 

HDU if required

 Occupancy rate more than 85%
 Children being admitted or transferred 

out to outlying speciality
 Routine electives under review
 Only one cubicle available
 No acute beds available within the next 30 

minutes
 One HDU patient
 Insufficient medical staff on SHO and 

Registrar Rotas.
 Insufficient nursing staff to provide HDU 

care

 Occupancy more than 90%
 2 HDU patients 
 One cubicle available within the next 

hour
 Discharges and transfer less than 

predicted and will impact significantly on 
capacity.

 Children waiting more than 1 hour if 
assessed as green on clinical priority 
assessment and 30 minutes if assessed as 
amber, for first contact with assessing 
clinician.

 Medical staff shortage at SHO or 
Registrar rotas

 Admissions have significantly 
exceeded predicted levels

 Occupancy more than 95%
 No cubicles available
 2 or more HDU patients 
 All children waiting more than one 

hour for first contact with assessing 
clinician.

 All planned admissions cancelled.
 Medical staff shortage at both SHO 

and Registrar rotas.

Ac
ut

e 
Ho

sp
ita

l

 Predicted and known capacity to 
accommodate emergency and elective 
admissions (including community beds) 

 Available CCU, HDU & ITU capacity
 No known external factors to impact upon 

capacity
 Normal operating
 Occupancy rate are at less than 85%
 No delayed transfers of care
 No critical care delays
 Less than 5 medical outliers
 All performance targets have been met
 No additional beds opened
 Elective lists proceeding as scheduled

 CCU, HDU &  ITU delayed transfers of care 
identified

 Patients being admitted or transferred to 
an outlying speciality

 Unplanned bed closures i.e. infection 
outbreak

 Routine electives under review
 Occupancy rates more than 85% 

consistently for 1 week
 Medical outliers more than 10 for more 

than 5 days
 Critical Care DTOC more than 2 days for 

any one patient
 No acute beds available within the next 30 

minutes
 More than 5 DTOCs waiting more than 3 

days

 All available staffed bed capacity in use
 Divert within health board in place
 Occupancy rates more than 90% 

consistently for 1 week
 12 hour waits in the emergency 

department without clinical reason.
 More than 20 medical outliers for more 

than 5 days
 Critical Care DTOC for more than 5 days 

for any one patient
 More than 10 DTOCs waiting more than 3 

days
 Limited ability to create CCU, ITU & HDU 

capacity 
 Discharges and transfers less than 

predicted and will  impact significantly on 
capacity  

 No CCU, HDU or ITU capacity 
available

 All planned admissions have been cancelled  
 Commissioned additional capacity in use
 Seek external divert options
 No transfers or discharges taking 

place
 5 or more 12 hour waits in the 

emergency department without 
clinical reason.

P
age 94



43

G
P 

O
ut

 o
f H

ou
rs

 No known external factors to impact upon 
capacity

 All shifts covered

 Patient demand is starting to exceed 
normal levels

 Running low on  appointments  at primary 
care centres

 Routine patients waiting more than  1 
hour for telephone triage 

 Urgent patients waiting more than 20 
minute for telephone triage 

 Patient demand has exceeded predicted 
levels

 Very few appointments  available at 
primary care centres

 Routine patients waiting more than 2 
hour for telephone triage 

 Urgent patients waiting more than 1  
hour for telephone triage 

 Excessive demand for home visits 
 Not all GP shifts covered 
 Unable to source more GPs to alleviate 

pressure

 Patient demand has significantly  
exceeded predicted levels

 No appointments available in primary 
care centres

 Routine patients waiting more than 4 
hours for telephone triage 

 Urgent patients waiting more than 2  
hours for telephone triage 

 Excessive demand for home visits 
 Significant gaps in GP rota

N
eo

na
ta

l U
ni

t

 Cot occupancy rates less than 80% 
 Patient acuity level less than 75%
 Adequate medical staff cover (Minimum 

cover out of hours: one SHO for neonates 
only (applies to RGH) or one SHO shared 
with paediatrics (applies to PCH), one 
registrar  shared with paediatrics, one 
consultant shared with paediatrics) 

 Adequate nursing staff to deliver care in 
line with All Wales Neonatal Standards

 Sufficient Equipment to care for current 
workload with capacity for   additional 
babies transferred in

 Cot occupancy rate more than 80%
 Acuity level more than 75%
 Level of activity actual and anticipated is 

beyond the cot capacity available
 Potential in-utero transfers to the other 

maternity unit within the health board 
due to unavailability of neonatal cots

 There is insufficient equipment 
immediately available to provide care for 
any emergency admissions

 Cot occupancy more than 100%
 Patient acuity level more than 90%
 Cot availability for emergency babies only 
 Medical staff shortage at SHO or 

Registrar rotas
 Infection on the Unit which cannot be 

contained in line with infection control 
procedures

 Insufficient key equipment immediately 
available to provide care for current 
babies on the Unit and any emergency 
admissions

 Level of acuity exceeds nursing staff 
available as per All Wales Neonatal 
Standards

 Patient acuity level more than 100%
 The remaining cot availability has 

been utilised, and there is an 
expected admission from maternity 
unit

 Ex-utero or in–utero transfers out not 
possible due to unavailability of 
neonatal cots

 Medical staff shortage at both SHO & 
Registrar rotas

 There is insufficient key equipment 
immediately available to provide care 
for current babies on the Unit and an 
emergency admission is expected

P
age 95



44

Appendix 6

Christmas and New Year Service Provision

Christmas and New 
Year Service Provision 2017-18.doc

This template is to be updated by October 2018.

   Appendix 7

Seasonal Flu Management Plans (staff and patients)

Action Plan - 
Community - May 8th 2018.docx

Action Plan - Staff - 
May 8th 2018.docx

(Note these are working documents which are updated monthly)
  

Page 96



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Regional Strategy for Children, Young People and 
Families

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Since the introduction of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014 we have been 
working on a regional basis to look at collaboration across Social Care and Health.  

1.2 A Regional Partnership Board was developed and priorities and work plans were 
agreed.  Part of this was looking at strategies in working with groups of people eg. 
Strategy for Older People which has previously been signed off by Cabinet.  This is 
now the strategy discussed in working with children, young people and families.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 The Regional Strategy be endorsed and the work stream that will take forward the 
plans be supported.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The establishment of the Regional Partnership Board and completion of the 
Population Needs Assessment have led to the development of a Regional 
Partnership Statement of Intent for children, young people and their families 

Date Written September  2018
Report Author Annabel Lloyd
Service Area Children’s Services and Well-being 
Committee Division Cabinet 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 97

Agenda Item 8



3.2 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council and Cwm Taf University Health Board, together with a range of 
stakeholders, worked together to produce the first draft of the shared regional 
statement of intent.  It sets out a shared commitment to deliver services jointly under 
the Social Services and Well Being Act (Wales) 2014. 

4.0 THE STATEMENT OF INTENT

4.1 The final document (attached as Appendix 1) sets out the shared vision, principles 
and objectives which will direct the work of all partners when addressing Welsh 
Government legislation.  It will, where necessary, ensure high quality accessible and 
integrated services to help children, young people, families and communities 
effectively.

4.2 To arrive at the finalised draft Statement of Intent it needed to be subject to an 
engagement strategy to ensure that it matched the shared needs and expectations 
of colleagues, partners, organisations and local citizens.  The engagement process 
was developed and implemented at the beginning of 2018 and a report outlining the 
feedback from the engagement was produced.

4.3 Unfortunately the level of response received from the engagement was very low 
(28 responses).  The responses received were overall positive but reflected the need 
for more detailed information to be provided in order for participants in further 
engagement to understand how the Statement of Intent will make a difference and 
be implemented. 

4.4   A meeting held with partner agencies concluded that nothing further would be 
achieved by extending the engagement process, however, it was acknowledged that 
a continuous engagement and co-productive approach would be important in the 
ongoing work to deliver the objectives within the Statement of Intent.

4.5 Whilst the Transformational Leadership Group have agreed to this final draft, formal 
sign off by Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf Council’s Cabinets and Cwm Taf 
University Health Board is required prior to the next Regional Partnership Board in 
November.  Once this is achieved the next step will be to set up a Children and 
Young People’s Delivery Board which will be a sub group of the Regional 
Partnership Board.  This group will be responsible for developing an implementation 
plan that will focus on:

 Shaping service improvement and developments across the region so that they 
meet the aims and objectives of the Statement of Intent. 

 Taking responsibility for designing and testing new initiatives to ensure they 
address the shared priorities of partners.

 Reviewing intelligence about performance by partners in any new initiatives that 
support children and young people across the region.

 Advising on major initiatives across the region of relevance to children and young 
people such as, for example, Together for Mental Health, Community Zones, 
Primary Care.

 Making recommendations to the RPB about the most appropriate ways to use 
emerging grants from Welsh Government or elsewhere to ensure they are of 
value to children and young people in the region.

Page 98



4.6  The implementation plan will be brought back to Cabinet for sign off once completed.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1      There are no direct financial implications aligned to this report.  

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report. The document can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the 
‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect of each 
proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Cwm Taf Social Services And Well-
Being Partnership Board

A Shared Regional Strategy For 
Supporting Children, Young People And 

Families

Page 101



1

Content and Glossary 

Page 

1. Introduction and Context 2

2. Vision Statement 3

3. Cwm Taf Area 4

4. Our population 4-5

5. A History of Partnership 6

6. Our Shared Vision 7

7. Some of the Challenges we face together 8

8. Our Shared Principles 9

9. Our three-Year Shared Objectives 9

10. Governance and Accountability 10

11. Performance and Delivery 10

Page 102



2

1 Introduction and Context
Partners in Cwm Taf have built on a strong record of constructive working on 
support for children and young people across the region to develop a joint 
strategy, the purpose of which is to steer the development of children’s health, 
wellbeing and social services for the next five years. It will help partners address 
the resource and capacity issues facing them, and new and emerging Welsh 
Government legislation and policy requirements. 

Partners have all undertaken significant work in recent years to help shape 
different aspects of their children’s services offer and this work has been heavily 
informed by recent changes and ongoing commitments. 

The strategy document was developed by a multi-agency working group in 2017-
18, guided by the Regional Partnership Board and supported by the Institute of 
Public Care at Oxford Brookes University (IPC). It involved detailed analysis of 
local partner priorities, workshops to explore challenges and agree priorities, and 
engagement with children and young people.
 
The document has been prepared in a way to minimise the complexity of the 
messages in it, be readable to members of the public, and to ensure that further 
work by partners is informed by a clear set of priorities and objectives. It sets out 
the 5-year shared priorities for the region and it will be supported by a set of 
realistic but challenging milestones. Subject to the addition of the Bridgend area to 
the regional partnership it will be revised to incorporate new or revised priorities.

 The document sets out how we will work together to address Welsh Government 
legislation and how we will pool our resources to ensure high quality, accessible 
and integrated services that will help children, young people, families and 
communities quickly and effectively. It explains our shared vision, and how it will 
be implemented, overseen and measured to ensure it is implemented effectively. 

The plan to support the strategy has also been produced jointly by partners in 
Cwm Taf in response to the population analysis, and consultation with the public 
and professionals in 2016 and 2017. It is intended to remain relevant until 2022. 
There is  proposed a  shared vision, principles and objectives which will direct the 
work of all partners over that period. It takes into account:

 The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act which gives people more of a 
say in the care and support they receive. 

 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. This Act is about 
improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales.

 The Population Assessment which captures the needs and resources of the 
local population and how public resources can best be used to deployed 
support to them. 

 The Well-being Assessment (WBFG) which is expected to capture the 
strengths and assets of the people and communities in the area in their 
assessment. 

Page 103



3

 The commitment of the Cwm Taf Public Services Board on a range of strategic 
intentions across the region including delivering the goals of the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act.

 Universal services that are those services (sometimes also referred to as 
mainstream services) that is provided to, or is routinely available to all children, 
young people and families.

 Early help to ensure working with children and families to help them deal with 
difficulties or challenges as soon as they arise.

2 Vision Statement
Our shared vision is that children, young people and families in Cwm Taf live safe, 
healthy and fulfilled lives and that they can achieve their full potential by building 
resilient communities. 

The Cwm Taf Public Services Board will make sure that all our activities and 
services are driven by this Vision Statement.

Page 104



4

3 Cwm Taf Area
The partnership is made-up of public and third sector organisations in the 
Cwm Taf region, and we are concerned with the wellbeing of all children, 
young people and their families in Cwm Taf. 

4 Our population

Overall, we think that Cwm Taf is a great place to grow up, but children, 
young people and families do face challenges. 

3.064 million people live in Wales. 10% of the Wales’ population live in 
Cwm Taf.

Page 105



5

For every 100 adults in Wales 47% have suffered at least one 
adverse childhood experience (ACE) during their childhood and 14% 
have
suffered 4 or more

2,625 children in need live in Cwm Taf and make up 13.5% of all 
children in need in Wales. 
28.7% children aged 4 to 5 are overweight or obese in Cwm Taf, 
highest in Wales 26.2%
1 in 5 children report low life satisfaction in Wales. 

2,615 children and young people are reported to have experienced 
mental ill-health in Cwm Taf and make up 13.5 % of all such children 
and young people in Wales

765 children and young people are looked After in Cwm Taf, which is 
13.5 % of all those looked after in Wales.
555 children and young people are on the Child Protection Register 
in Cwm Taf and make up 18.5% of all such children in Wales.

56% of pupils in Merthyr and 62% in RCT gained A* - C grade in 
GCSE
Care leavers leaving school with no qualifications was 38% RCT and 
29% Merthyr in 2016

3,263 self-reported young carers aged under 25 years in Cwm Taf, 
an increase of 16% since 2001.

483 households were assessed as homeless in Cwm Taf in 2016.
24% of children living households below average income in Cwm Taf 
in contrast to 22.2% in Wales. 

Page 106



6

5 A History of Partnership

In Cwm Taf we have a strong history of partnership working and this is 
evident on our collaborations:

These include:

 Cwm Taf Public Services Board 
 Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board
 Cwm Taf Youth offending Service
 Cwm Taf Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub
 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative
 Intensive Family Support Team
 Out of Hours Duty Service (MT, RCT and Bridgend)
 Joint Education and Psychology Service 
 Cwm Taf Children and Young People’s Emotional and Mental Health Partnership

Page 107



7

6 Our Shared Vision

We have agreed a shared vision which recognises these challenges, and 
sets out how we will address them: 

 Children, young people and families in Cwm Taf will live safe, healthy and 
fulfilled lives and achieve their full potential.

 Families and communities will be more resilient and independent. 
 Our focus on communities will give children, young people and families the 

best possible environment to thrive.
 The balance of resource will shift from safeguarding, substitute and complex 

care to early and targeted help.

In summary:

Page 108



8

7 Some of the challenges we face together

This is a challenging time for us all, as we work together to address issues 
including:

Significant changes in family and community structures

Increasing financial pressure on public services

Changing Populations including a higher proportion of older 
people 

New technology changing the way we interact and 
communicate with each other

Changing public expectations about what is a good life and 
what services are needed to support them

Increasing complexity of need for some of our children and 
young people

Page 109



9

8 Our shared principles

To address these issues and deliver on our vision over the next five years 
we will work as partners to deliver the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014 and Well-being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
and:

 Work better in partnership with local children, young people, families and 
communities to help them achieve their personal well-being outcomes and 
build resilience. 

 Work positively with children, young people and families taking a strengths-
based, co-production approach. 

 Take a place-based approach to working collaboratively in and with 
communities to develop the best possible environment for them to thrive 

 Focus our intensive support on those children and young people who need 
help to deal with significant adverse experiences.

9 Our three-year shared objectives

In the next three years each partner will use our shared vision and principles 
as the basis for their own detailed plans and services. In addition, we will 
work together to secure the following twelve objectives: 

1. We will work to achieve an integrated place-based approach to building 
resilient communities that prevents and mitigates the effects of adverse 
childhood experiences (ACESs).

2. We will invest in and collaborate with our local communities to support children, 
young people and families’ learning, resilience, and wellbeing. 

3. We will co-produce shared plans for the development and organisation of early 
help interventions in localities, underpinned by information sharing, joint-
working arrangements and the active involvement of children, young people 
and families in their co-production. 

4. We will enhance partner’s joint arrangements for safeguarding, risk 
assessment and information sharing, ensuring that they are successful in 
protecting children, young people and vulnerable adults in communities. 

5. We will have a full range of integrated services for children, young people and 
families with complex needs to provide care and support at the right time and 
place.

6. We will implement a shared framework for the assessment, eligibility and 
support for children, young people and families, to ensure we are collaborating 
effectively across professions and agencies. 

Page 110



10

7. We will have effective shared information arrangements in place between all 
key agencies across Cwm Taf.

8. We will have a shared performance framework reflecting our continuum of 
services, which meets the requirements of the Welsh Government and allows 
us to review the impact of our services on wellbeing outcomes for children, 
young people and families.

9. All of our local plans will be informed by a single population assessment for 
Cwm Taf, which will be kept under review.

10.We will have a workforce across Cwm Taf which is working effectively with 
children, young people and families in the spirit of the SSWB (W) Act.

10 Governance and accountability

The strategy is owned by the Cwm Taf Regional Partnership Board, which 
will hold partners to account for its delivery and ensure that local plans are 
developed within these overall priorities.

The Regional Partnership Board will review targets and performance measures 
(including relevant National and Regional Performance Indicators) to ensure that 
the strategy is having its intended impact.

Every partner agency will seek agreement from the Partnership Board for any key 
local plans related to the strategy.

11 Performance and delivery

The Partnership Board will review the impact of the shared strategy through 
a twice-annual review, and an annual report to the Welsh Government 
covering: 

Population outcomes, needs and services from the data collected for the 
Government such as education returns, health performance and social care 
outcomes.

Service activity and performance from the same sources and our locally collected 
data.

Progress against milestones identified in the delivery plan for the five-year 
priorities and three-year objectives in this strategy.

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Children’s Services Inspection

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 As Cabinet will be aware Children’s Services were subject to an inspection earlier 
this year.

1.2 This report provides Cabinet with a summary of strengths and development areas 
highlighted in the recent Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Children’s Services 
Inspection Report.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 The report be received and an action plan be developed to address the areas for 
development be agreed.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) undertook an inspection of services for children in 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) during April and May 2018. 

3.2 The inspection focused on the effectiveness of local authority services and 
arrangements to help and protect children and their families including: 

 the experience and progress of children on the edge of care, children looked after 
and care leavers including the quality and impact of prevention services, the 
effectiveness of decision-making, care and support and pathway planning;

Date Written September 2018
Report Author Annabel Lloyd
Service Area Children’s Services 
Committee Division Cabinet
Exempt/Non Exempt Non exempt 
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 113

Agenda Item 9



 the arrangements for permanence for children who are looked after and children 
who return home including the use of fostering, residential care and out of local 
authority area placements; and

 the quality of leadership, corporate parenting and governance arrangements in 
place to determine, develop and support service sufficiency and delivery 
particularly in relation to looked after children, care leavers and their families.

3.3 While the main focus of the inspection was on the progress and experience of 
children and young people looked after and care leaver’s transition into adulthood, 
the inspection included a focus on children, young people and their family’s 
engagement with:  

 Information, advice or assistance (IAA), preventative services;
 Assessment/reassessment of needs for care and support and care and support 

planning; and
 Child protection enquiries, procedures, urgent protective action, care and support 

protection plans.

3.4 Inspectors read case files, interviewed staff and administered a staff survey, 
interviewed managers and professionals from partner agencies.  Inspectors talked to 
children and their families wherever possible.  Young people and care leavers 
attended two focus groups.  The full inspection can be found at Appendix 1.

4.0 SUMMARY OF STRENGTHS AND AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT

4.1 On 30th August 2018, CIW published their report having identified the following 
strengths and areas for development or improvement:

Strengths  Dedicated workforce, committed to promoting best outcomes.
 Safeguarding procedures and processes were understood and 

followed by staff.
 There is good corporate support for children’s services from elected 

members and the wider council.
 The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) delivers an integrated 

approach.
 Recognition of work invested in making the changes required by the 

Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014.
 Judgements on eligibility are clear.
 Inspectors recognised that the management team were alert to 

pressure areas and had developed plans for implementation to 
address those areas and were bring supported by the wider council 
in that.

 Considerable focus on strengthening preventative support for 
families.

 Good evidence of partnership working with the third sector with 
examples of support and advice for parenting especially with fathers 
through the “DADS programme”.

 Positive practice where children and young people were proactively 
engaged in producing their assessments (but consistency required).

 Children with disabilities - CIW reviewed a small number of 
assessments but those seen were of a good quality.  Evidence was 

Page 114



also seen of the offer to parent/carers of carer’s assessments.
 Inspectors saw evidence of care and support plans being developed 

in a timely manner and reviewed in accordance with requirements. 
We saw some very good examples with clear analysis, in-depth risk 
assessments, transfer or closure summaries and management 
oversight was evident in the files (but needs to be consistent).

 Inspectors saw joint work with partners such as Youth Offending 
Service, substance misuse agencies and education services in 
supporting older children to remain at home.

 Good evidence of the young persons and families’ contribution to 
outcome focused plans that with intensive support and a multi -
agency response prevented young people becoming looked after.

 Efficient mechanisms in place including panel and Public Law 
Outline to ensure timely effective decision making.

 Inspectors saw evidence of working with partners to develop 
therapeutic services, improved life journey work and improved 
housing and employment options for looked after children. 

 Overall, services were delivered by a competent well qualified work 
force that was committed to achieving good outcomes for children 
and families.  Despite financial and resource pressures, teams were 
focused on the stability, safety and wellbeing of looked after 
children, care leavers and their families.

Areas for 
development

1. Improve arrangements for transfer of cases from Intake.
2. Greater consistency in the quality of assessments including detailed 

analysis of strengths and risks.
3. Further development of Pathway Planning to meet the requirement 

of the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA), 
particularly in relation to Personal Advisors and When I am Ready 
guidance.

4. Further work is required to ensure partner agencies have a clear 
and shared understanding of significant harm when making 
referrals to the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).

5. Further development is required to embed the risk management 
model and the multi-agency risk assessment form (MARAF) with 
staff and partners, with assurance mechanisms to ensure 
compliance, quality and impact of services to young people and 
families.

6. Ensure strategic plans are owned and understood by staff and are 
used to drive practice. 

7. Further work is required to develop a more comprehensive quality 
assurance system that strengthens the link between strategy and 
improving practice.  This should also include improved focus on the 
frequency, consistency and quality of front line supervision. 

8. Continue to prioritise the workforce strategy to focus on staff 
retention and the timely recruitment of experienced staff. 

9. Review panel arrangements to ensure there is clarity of purpose, 
timeliness of decision making and engagement from partners.

10. There is a need to strengthen the transfer of cases between teams. 
The development of a formal transfer policy is currently being 
undertaken and this needs to be embedded throughout practice 
and monitored as part of the quality assurance framework.

Page 115



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Children’s Services budget challenges have been discussed at Budget Board due to 
in year demands impacting on budget.  The Action plan will seek every opportunity to 
deliver improvements within existing budget however; improvements to the Leaving 
Care Service are likely to require investment.  A business case is in development. 

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
                                   CABINET MEMBER 

FOR SOCIAL SEVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

CIW Inspection Report August 2018 Children’s Services

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 116



 

 Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. 

This document is also available in Welsh.  

 

   © Crown copyright 2018       WGxxxxx       Digital ISBN 978-1-xxxx-

xxx-x 

 

 

  
Inspection of Children’s Services  

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council 

August 2018 
Page 117



 

 Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. 

This document is also available in Welsh.  
 

   © Crown copyright 2018       WG35815       Digital ISBN 978-1-78937-953-2 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 118



 

3 

 

Contents 

 
Introduction          4 
          
Overview          5 
        
Areas for Development        6 
     
Access arrangements: Information, Advice and Assistance   8 
   
Assessment          10  
  
Care and Support and Pathway Planning     12  
 
Safeguarding         15  
        
Leadership, management & governance     17  
    
Methodology         19   
 
Acknowledgements         19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 119



 

4 

 

Introduction 
 
Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) undertook an inspection of services for 
children in Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (CBC) during April and May 
2018.  
 
Our approach to the  inspection was underpinned by  the eight well-being 
statements and associated well-being outcomes as outlined in the Welsh 
Government’s National Outcomes Framework for People who need Care and 
Support and for Carers who need Support (March 2016). Our approach builds 
upon the associated local authority quality standards set out in the Code of 
Practice in Relation to Measuring Social Services Performance issued under 
section 145 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act. In addition, the 
inspection considered the local authority’s capacity to improve through an 
analysis of the leadership and governance of its social services functions. 
 
This inspection focused on the effectiveness of local authority services and 
arrangements to help and protect children and their families. The scope of the 
inspection included:  
 

 the experience and progress of children on the edge of care, children 
looked after and care leavers including the quality and impact of 
prevention services, the effectiveness of decision-making, care and 
support and pathway planning 

 the arrangements for permanence for children who are looked after and 
children who return home including the use of fostering, residential care 
and out of local authority area placements  

 adherence to fostering service regulation and national minimum 
standards 

 the quality of leadership, corporate parenting and governance 
arrangements in place to determine, develop and support service 
sufficiency and delivery particularly in relation to looked after children, 
care leavers and their families. 

 
While the main focus of the inspection was on the progress and experience of 
children and young people looked after and care leaver’s transition into 
adulthood, the inspection included a focus on children, young people and their 
family’s engagement with:   
 

 Information, advice or assistance (IAA), preventative services; 

 Assessment /reassessment of needs for care and support and care and 
support planning;  

 Child protection enquiries, procedures, urgent protective action, care and 
support protection plans. 

 
Inspectors read case files, interviewed staff and administered a staff survey, 
interviewed managers, and professionals from partner agencies. Inspectors 
talked to children and their families wherever possible. Young people and 
care leavers attended two focus groups. 

Page 120



 

5 

 

Overview of findings 
 

 Merthyr Tydfil CBC children’s service has a dedicated workforce who are 
professionally committed to promoting best outcomes for children and 
families.  

 

 Safeguarding procedures and processes were understood and followed 
by staff ensuring children and young people were protected in a timely 
and consistent manner. 

 

 There is good corporate support for children’s services from elected 
members and the wider council.  The local authority recognises there is 
a need to further develop its services for young people who are leaving 
care and is motivated to do so. 

 

 We saw examples of good practice but this was not consistent. 
Immediately prior to inspection, children’s services had experienced a 
period of challenge having identified areas of poor practice exacerbated 
by recruitment issues.  This included significant drift in assessing and 
providing care and support to children and their families. 

 

 The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) delivers an integrated 
approach which brings together a number of agencies who share 
information, assess vulnerability and make collaborative safeguarding 
decisions to ensure   children and young people are protected from 
harm. 

 

 The inability to transfer cases between some teams due to staff 
vacancies has impacted on staff morale, however the commitment and 
professionalism of staff to continue delivering a high standard of practice 
to young people and families was evident throughout the inspection. 

 
 The challenges for front line staff were beginning to be addressed 

through the recruitment of key staff and use of agency cover.  In 
addition, an experienced team manager had been seconded to improve 
practice. As such we were confident senior managers were committed to 
ensuring the delivery of good quality services. 

 
 The current quality assurance framework needs further development to 

drive consistency and incorporate any lessons learned from audit and 
performance management information. The implementation of Welsh 
Community Care Information System (WCCIS) presents ongoing 
difficulties for staff and has impacted on the council’s ability to produce 
robust performance information. 

 

 
 
  

Page 121



 

6 

 

Areas for Development 
 
Access arrangements: Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) 
  
1. Improve arrangements for transfer of cases from the Intake Team  to 

other teams for assessment and provision of support  
 

Assessment 
 
2. Greater consistency in the quality of assessments including detailed 

analysis of strengths and risks.  
 

Care and Support and Pathway Planning 
 
3. Further development of Pathway Planning to meet the requirement of the 

Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA), particularly 
in relation to Personal Advisors and When I am Ready guidance 

 
Safeguarding 
 
4. Further work is required to ensure partner agencies have a clear and 

shared understanding of significant harm when making referrals to the 
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 

 
5. Further development is required to embed the risk management model 

and the multi-agency risk assessment form (MARAF) with staff and 
partners, with assurance mechanisms to ensure compliance, quality and 
impact of services to young people and families. 

 
Leadership, Management and Governance 
 
6. Ensure strategic plans are owned and understood by staff and are used 

to drive practice  
 
7. Further work is required to develop a more comprehensive quality 

assurance system that strengthens the link between strategy and 
improving practice. This should also include improved focus on the 
frequency, consistency and quality of front line supervision.  

 
8. Continue to prioritise the workforce strategy to focus on staff retention 

and the timely recruitment of experienced staff.  
 
9. Review panel arrangements to ensure there is clarity of purpose, 

timeliness of decision making and engagement from partners. 
 
10. There is a need to strengthen the transfer of cases between teams. The 

development of a formal transfer policy is currently being undertaken 
and this needs to be embedded throughout practice and monitored as 
part of the quality assurance framework. 

 

Page 122



 

7 

 

Next steps 
 
11. CIW expect Merthyr Tydfil CBC to consider the areas identified for 

development and take appropriate action. CIW will monitor progress 
through its on-going performance review activity with the local authority. 

 

  

Page 123



 

8 

 

1. Access arrangements: Information, Advice and 
Assistance 

 
What we expect to see 
The authority works with partner organisations to develop, understand, co-
ordinate, keep up to date and make best use of statutory, voluntary and 
private sector information, assistance and advice resources available in their 
area. All people, including carers, have access to comprehensive information 
about services and get prompt advice and support, including information 
about their eligibility and what they can expect by way of response from the 
service. Arrangements are effective in delaying or preventing the need for 
care and support. People are aware of and can easily make use of key points 
of contact. The service listens to people and begins with a focus on what 
matters to them. Effective signposting and referring provides people with 
choice about support and services available in their locality, particularly 
preventative services. Access arrangements to statutory social services 
provision are understood by partners and the people engaging with the 
service are operating effectively. 
 
Summary of findings  
 
1.1. The local authority has worked hard to meet the requirements of the 

Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA).  
Considerable work has taken place with staff to develop services in line 
with the Act. The cultural change required is an ongoing journey.  

 
1.2. Within the Information Advice and Assessment (IAA) service we found 

judgments on eligibility in relation to children and families were often 
clear, however the process for case transfer between the Intake Team  
and Early Intervention and Family Support Teams was not always 
happening due to capacity issues within the teams, and a lack of clarity 
in implementing the current ‘transfer of cases’ policy.     

 
1.3. This had been recognised with the transfer policy being reviewed leading 

to the re introduction of case discussion meetings between the team 
managers to ensure more timely transfer of cases.  

 
1.4. Within the Intake team issues of capacity had been identified due to staff 

vacancies and maternity leave. This resulted in the inability to close 
cases, caused delays in the transfer of cases to the Intake Team and in 
referring families not requiring a statutory service on to the Multiple 
Intervention Assistance (MIA) service. We saw an example of the IAA 
team holding a case which should have been transferred 12 weeks 
previously to another team.  The recent appointment of new staff 
including a Team Manager and Senior Practitioner was resulting in 
improved practice and case loads were reducing in teams.  Despite 
these pressures staff felt supported by their line managers and the head 
of children’s services. 

 

Page 124



 

9 

 

1.5. Evidence of signposting to preventative agencies was apparent. Initial 
data illustrated that 61% of people referred to IAA received no service, 
20% were referred on to non statutory agency, and 8.5% were referred 
to children’s services. Work does need to be undertaken with partner 
agencies on referral thresholds. 

 
1.6. There had been considerable focus on strengthening preventative 

support for families. The implementation of the local authority’s anti-
poverty strategy resulted in the relocation of the Team around the Family 
Multiple Intervention Assistance (MIA) service into children’s services.  
We saw evidence this had resulted in some timely and proactive 
intervention with children and families that supported their independence 
and improved well-being.   We also saw good evidence of partnership 
working with the third sector with examples of support and advice for 
parenting especially with fathers through the “DADS programme”. 

 
1.7. Efforts had been made to meet the requirements of the Welsh language 

Active Offer. The local authority works with a high percentage of Eastern 
European families and we saw early access to translation services and 
the use of specialist support services to work with these young people 
and their families to help and support them through assessment 
processes. 

 
1.8. The replacement of the children’s services business information system 

with the Welsh Community Care Information System (WCCIS) had 
recently taken place at the time of inspection.  We were told the system 
should enable safer sharing of information between agencies however 
there were a number of implementation issues which resulted in 
duplication of work and added pressure on some staff taking them away 
from direct work with young people and families. 

  

Page 125



 

10 

 

2. Assessment 
 
What we expect to see 
All people entitled to an assessment of their care and support needs receive 
one in their preferred language. All carers who appear to have support needs 
are offered a carer’s needs assessment, regardless of the type of care 
provided, their financial means or the level of support that may be needed. 
People experience a timely assessment of their needs which promotes their 
independence and ability to exercise choice. Assessments have regard to the 
personal outcomes and views, wishes and feelings of the person subject of 
the assessment and that of relevant others including those with parental 
responsibility. This is in so far as is reasonably practicable and consistent with 
promoting their wellbeing and safety and that of others. Assessments provide 
a clear understanding of what will happen next and results in a plan relevant 
to identified needs. Recommended actions, designed to achieve the 
outcomes that matter to people, are identified and include all those that can 
be met through community based or preventative services as well as 
specialist provision.  
 

Summary of findings 
 
2.1 We found positive practice where children and young people were 

proactively engaged in producing their assessments but this was not 
consistent.  

 
2.2 Managers and staff were committed to increasing the capacity for staff to 

work directly with families. Some files viewed contained examples of the 
direct worksheets completed in partnership between the case worker 
and the young person.  We heard from case workers about the direct 
work they had carried out with children and young people but this was 
not consistently evidenced in case files. Staff across the service 
highlighted the impact workload pressures had on their ambition to work 
directly with children and their families  

 
2.3 The quality of assessments was variable. Inspectors saw good examples 

where the child was seen and the record captured both the child’s and 
the parent’s views. This included what mattered to them in the context of 
their family history and their cultural needs. Assessment analysis 
focused on potential strengths and risks which informed the basis of 
plans that were seen to be achievable by families. 

 
2.4 In other examples however, inspectors found the use of the “what 

matters conversation” approach in the assessment reflected what people 
desired rather than a realistic understanding of what could be achieved. 
There was also insufficient focus on the ability of parents to change and 
in being clear what was expected of them in order to conform to the care 
and support plan. This impacted on achieving good outcomes for 
children.  

 

Page 126



 

11 

 

2.5 We also saw case files where the assessment did not provide sufficient 
analysis of risk or provide clear recommendations for action.  Staff and 
partners voiced concerns that there was an inconsistent use of the multi 
- agency risk assessment form (MARAF), despite all teams having been 
trained in its use. Some teams told us the tool was not suitable for their 
area of practice. We were unclear about how the risk assessment 
informed and identified the outcomes agreed with the family and how 
this translated into a multi -agency risk management plan. 

 
2.6 The Children with Disability Team (CwD) undertakes all assessments for 

disabled children.  We only reviewed a small number of assessments but 
those seen were of a good quality.  Evidence was also seen of the offer 
to parent/carers of carer’s assessments.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 127



 

12 

 

3. Care and support 
 
What we expect to see 
People experience timely and effective multi-agency care, support, help and 
protection where appropriate. People using services are supported by care 
and support plans which promote their independence, choice and wellbeing, 
help keep them safe and reflect the outcomes that are important to them. 
People are helped to develop their abilities and overcome barriers to social 
inclusion.  
 

Summary of findings 
 
3.1 We saw evidence of care and support plans being developed in a timely 

manner and reviewed in accordance with requirements.  We saw some 
very good examples with clear analysis, in-depth risk assessments, 
transfer or closure summaries and management oversight was evident in 
the files. For example, we saw a visit to a child’s home on the same day 
in response to a referral from the Probation Service. Contribution of 
information from the Probation Service was evident in the analysis of risk 
within the assessment. This was not consistent with the quality of care 
and support plans which were variable and not always identifying 
strengths and barriers or containing clear risk assessments.   

 
3.2 We saw joint work with partners such as Youth Offending Service, 

substance misuse agencies and education services in supporting older 
children to remain at home.  We saw good evidence of both the young 
persons and families’ contribution to outcome focused plans that with 
intensive support and a multi agency response prevented young people 
becoming looked after. 

 
3.3 Merthyr Tydfil CBC has efficient mechanisms in place including panel 

and Public Law Outline (PLO) to ensure timely effective decision making.  
We saw effective working relationships between the local authority 
lawyer and social workers, with social workers feeling supported and 
empowered. This was demonstrated with court expectations and 
timescales being routinely met, with clear threshold decisions evidenced 
within plans.  We were concerned about the resilience of current 
arrangements within the legal team, where all PLO matters are 
undertaken predominantly by one individual in the team. 

 
Care Leavers 
 
3.4 We saw inconsistent practice in pathway planning.  Inspectors found a 

lack of clarity and understanding amongst staff members about the 
different roles of social workers and personal advisors (PA) for young 
people leaving care.  We found that some young people were not 
prepared for the transition, having only being introduced to their PA 
when they were aged 17.5 yrs, leaving them feeling unsupported. A 
development programme was underway including a review of the 

Page 128



 

13 

 

commissioning arrangements with the appointment of a part time PA to 
engage young people 21-24 yrs. 
 

3.5 We did not find sufficient evidence that “When I am Ready” guidance 
had been fully embraced by the service or recognised by members, 
senior managers and partners.  We saw evidence of some young people 
being encouraged to remain with their placement until their 18th birthday.  
This strategy was also being developed with foster carers to promote 
stability of long term placements and allow young people to remain 
within their community.   Merthyr Tydfil CBC acknowledge that there is 
further work to be undertaken in this area and are in the process of 
strengthening their transition process, and reviewing their commissioning 
arrangements. 

 
3.6 We learned that care leavers are a priority for the local authority with 

strong political and corporate support promoting the development of 
services that will contribute significantly to positive outcomes for care 
leavers. There was evident commitment across Merthyr Tydfil CBC to 
provide opportunities for employment, placement choice and appropriate 
housing for care leavers supported by strong collaborative working.   We 
were told about the development of employment opportunities and 
apprenticeship scheme within the local authority and work being 
undertaken to provide safe accommodation for young people but it is too 
soon to evaluate the impact of this. 

 
Long Term Planning 
 
3.7 The role of the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) was embedded 

within children’s services with a clear pathway for escalation of care 
planning concerns and open access to senior managers if required.  
IRO’s described positive practice with reviews being undertaking on 
time, positive communication between teams and significant efforts 
made to engage with young people prior to review meetings.  

 
3.8 Merthyr Tydfil CBC has seen an increase in numbers of Special 

Guardianship Orders (SGO), with a number of these children having 
complex needs similar to looked after children.  The local authority has 
recognised the need to strengthen the offer of support to parents and 
those with parental responsibility to prevent re-admission to care.  

 
3.9 Panel arrangements need to be reviewed to improve performance. 

Inspectors found that young people placed out of area were not brought 
to the attention of the Multi Agency Placement Panel in a timely manner 
which impacted on the quality of planning. Greater challenge and 
commitment from partners is required to enable effective planning and 
decision making, without the need to escalate issues to the Head of 
Service for resolution.   

 

  

Page 129



 

14 

 

Placement choice, stability and wellbeing 
 
3.10 Merthyr Tydfil CBC has projected growth in the number of young people 

leaving care over the next 5 years.  Planning to address this increase in 
demand was underway with the commissioning process being 
strengthened to develop appropriate support alongside the provision of 
suitable accommodation. 

 
3.11 Inspectors met with a group of children/young people who were placed 

with Merthyr Tydfil CBC foster carers.  They spoke of feeling a sense of 
belonging and security in their placements and spoke positively about 
their ability to remain with their carers under the “When I am Ready” 
scheme.  The 2018/19 Foster Carer Recruitment Strategy underpins the 
local authority’s commitment to recruiting and supporting foster carers 
and improving placement choice for children and young people.  The 
appointment of a recruitment officer has seen an increase in the interest 
to apply and appointment of new foster carers. 

 
3.12 A Placement Strategy was also being developed in partnership with the 

Children’s Commissioning Consortia Cymru (4C’s) with the aim of 
increasing resources for in-area and specialist placements including 
sustainable emergency placements for young people with complex 
needs. 

 
3.13 Inspectors found that young people placed out of county had difficulty in 

accessing child and adolescent mental health services. 
 

Participation 
 
3.14 In order to provide an ‘Active Offer‘of advocacy, the local authority has a 

regional contract with Rhondda Cynon Taf  to  commission services from 
the National Youth Advocacy Service ( NYAS). NYAS described their 
relationship with Merthyr Tydfil CBC as good and that the head of 
children’s services was proactive in responding to any issues.  For 
example, children’s service had been proactive in responding to a drop 
in advocacy referrals by actively promoting the benefits of using 
independent advocates to support children and young people to have 
their voice heard and to receive information and representation.    

 
3.15 Young people had a seat on the corporate parenting board; with the 

views of young people being a standing agenda item providing an 
opportunity for them to raise issues that matter to them and to contribute 
to developing services that contributed to improving outcomes for looked 
after children. 

 
 
 

  

Page 130



 

15 

 

4. Safeguarding 
 
What we expect to see 
Effective local safeguarding strategies combine both preventative and 
protective elements. Where people are experiencing or are at risk of abuse 
neglect or harm, they receive urgent, well-coordinated multi-agency 
responses. Actions arising from risk management or safety plans are 
successful in reducing actual or potential risk. People are not left in unsafe or 
dangerous environments. Policies and procedures in relation to safeguarding 
and protection are well understood and embedded and contribute to a timely 
and proportionate response to presenting concerns.  The local authority and 
its partners sponsor a learning culture where change to and improvement of 
professional performance and agency behaviours can be explored in an open 
and constructive manner.  
 

Summary of findings 
 
4.1 Merthyr and Rhondda Cynon Taff local authorities with their partners 

share a Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) based in the police 
station in Pontypridd.  Whilst being co-located, the two social work teams 
operate independently but benefit from the close working arrangements 
with each other and other partners which support discussion and action 
in relation to cross boundary issues.  

 
4.2 The MASH was established to be the route in to social services for 

safeguarding referrals from professional agencies. In practice we found 
this was not well understood by some partner agencies.  For example, 
referrals being made to MASH for preventative support, not 
safeguarding. This was being addressed by staff within the MASH, for 
example training being provided to schools by the education worker 
about threshold criteria and signposting of referrals to the MASH to 
reduce inappropriate referrals. 

 
4.3 Case file reviews carried out by inspectors noted referrals were 

appropriately screened in relation to safeguarding concerns whilst also 
considering what mattered to children and families. When referrals 
indicated risk or significant harm, prompt decisions were made and 
effective initial action was taken to protect the child. 

 
4.4 Within the MASH we found strategy discussions and/or meetings were 

mainly held within the 24hour time frame. The relationship between 
social services and the police was viewed by staff as positive and 
arrangements for organising strategy discussions and meetings were 
effective.  Outcome strategy discussions or meetings were also 
convened and were an effective means of keeping agencies informed, 
reviewing progress and determining next steps.   

 
4.5 It was evident the local authority understood and considered the risks 

factors which some looked after children experienced.  The local 
authority and partner agencies were working proactively together in 

Page 131



 

16 

 

relation to child sexual exploitation and children who go missing.  We 
saw an example of direct work with a young person using Sexual 
Exploitation Risk Assessment Framework tool (SERAF) which enabled 
the young person to understand the risks posed and felt able to 
contribute their multi agency protection plan to reduce risks and promote 
their safety and well-being.   

  

Page 132



 

17 

 

5. Leadership, Management and Governance 
 
What we expect to see 
Leadership, management and governance arrangements comply with 
statutory guidance and together establish an effective strategy for the delivery 
of good quality services and outcomes for people. Meeting people’s needs for 
quality services are a clear focus for councilors, managers and staff. Services 
are well-led, direction is clear and the leadership of change is strong. Roles 
and responsibilities throughout the organisation are clear. The authority works 
with partners to deliver help, care and support for people and fulfils its 
corporate parenting responsibilities. Involvement of local people is effective. 
Leaders, managers and elected members have sufficient knowledge and 
understanding of practice and performance to enable them to discharge their 
responsibilities effectively. 

 
Summary of findings 
 
5.1 Merthyr Tydfil CBC vision and ethos underpins the delivery of practice 

and is predicated on services working together to achieve shared goals. 
We found the vision was well established at a corporate and strategic 
level but it was not well understood by all staff. We found that staff 
members were not always able to relate or explain the vision, and how it 
informed their practice in delivering an outcome focused service. 

 
5.2 Corporate parenting arrangements were well developed and ensured 

that members, officers and partners understood, owned and met their 
corporate parenting responsibilities.  We saw evidence of working with 
partners to develop therapeutic services, improved life journey work and 
improved housing and employment options for looked after children.  

 
5.3 Merthyr Tydfil CBC recognised the need to review their services to 

young people leaving care in line with the recommendations in the 
Children’s Commissioner’s Hidden Ambitions report.  The local authority 
ensured that it was compliant with its legal responsibilities in respect of 
post -18 living arrangements for young people in accordance with “When 
I am Ready”. 

 
5.4 The local authority is committed to supporting looked after children and 

its priorities are reduction of care leavers who are not engaged in 
education, training or employment (NEET), support for independent 
living skills for care leavers, new apprenticeship scheme and appropriate 
placements.  

 
5.5 The lead member, director and senior management team have a 

comprehensive knowledge of the pressures of front line practice, 
enabling them to discharge their statutory responsibilities, and act 
quickly to promote improvements. We found elected members 
understood their responsibilities, were able to challenge decisions and 
worked closely with the director and senior management team.  In 
addition they were visible to the workforce, undertaking meetings with 

Page 133



 

18 

 

staff members and attending events for staff and young people to gain a 
better understanding of the challenges and strengths of children’s 
services. 

 
5.6 The local authority acknowledged that the transfer of its information 

system from Swift to WCCIS in July 2017 had impacted all levels of the 
service. A major challenge had been the inability to access accurate 
performance data from the system resulting on the reliance of informal 
data being gathered by teams using a variety of their own systems. 
Considerable work had been undertaken over the last 12 months to try 
to rectify the problems and performance information now available at all 
levels of the service.  In order to support staff and develop the processes 
and guidance required a bespoke team had been established.  A 
programme of training was being planned for staff to update them on the 
changes to the system, and how the system can inform practice. Staff 
reported an improving picture.  

 
5.7 We saw evidence that Merthyr Tydfil CBC were reviewing their quality 

assurance framework for Looked After Children and had appointed a 
lead officer to take this forward.  The remit was to ensure that the system 
was an integral part of practice, and a useful tool to drive continuous 
practice improvement and to inform the shaping of services. 

 
5.8 We found positive working relationships between the local authority and 

its partner agencies.  Partners from both health and education told us 
the population assessment was being used to drive developments with 
plans win place to consider more detailed needs analysis specifically for 
children.  We saw evidence of how this had impacted on service delivery 
in respect of re negotiating a counselling service and combining work 
with education psychology to make both services more accessible. 

 
5.9 Overall, services were delivered by a competent well qualified work force 

who were committed to achieving good outcomes for children and 
families. Despite financial and resource pressures, teams were focused 
on the stability, safety and well being of looked after children, care 
leavers and their families. 

 
5.10 Staff supervision and appraisals had been inconsistent. Whilst some 

staff received regular formal supervision, this was not the case for 
others; there was inconsistent approach to appraisals. Some staff 
members reported a supervision policy and template were available to 
them on the intranet, but not all staff were aware of this.  A performance 
management policy and procedure had been developed, and this 
needed to be embedded into practice to ensure staff members were 
receiving consistently good quality supervision and appraisal.  Senior 
managers were aware of this deficit and were working with human 
resources department to address the inconsistencies.  

 

  

Page 134



 

19 

 

Methodology 
 
Fieldwork 
We undertook 9 days of fieldwork activity. 

 
We selected case files for tracking and review from a sample of cases. In total 
47 case files were reviewed; of these 18 were followed up with tracking 
interviews with social workers and family members and 3 were subject to a 
tracking focus group which involved multi-agency partners. 
 
We interviewed, children, parents and relatives. 
 
We interviewed a range of local authority employees, members, senior 
officers, Director of Social Services and the Chief Executive. 
 
We interviewed a range of partner organisations, representing both statutory 
and third sector. 
 
We reviewed a sample of 5 staff supervision files. 
 
We reviewed supporting documentation sent to CIW for the purpose of the 
inspection. 
 
We looked at a sample of complaints that were made about children’s 
services. 

 
Inspection Team: 
Lead Inspector: Ann Rowling, Supporting Inspectors: Duncan Marshal, Katy 
Young, Pam Lonergan, Tracey Shepherd 
 
Acknowledgements 
CIW would like to thank the following people who gave their time and 
contributed to this inspection; children and young people, parents and carers, 
staff, managers and members and partner organisations. 
 
 
 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Petition - Reduction in speed limit on the A4054 
Merthyr Road Pentrebach from 40mph to 30mph

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To advise Councillors of proposals to improve Road Safety along the A4054 Merthyr 
Road Pentrebach near the pedestrian crossing leading to Abercanaid Community 
School involving reducing the speed limit from 40mph to 30 mph and for Councillors 
to authorise Public Notice to be given of the County Borough Council’s intention to 
make a permanent Traffic Regulation Order lowering the speed limit under the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and in the event of no objections, the Order be made.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 a) Public Notice be given of the County Borough Council’s intention to make a 
permanent Traffic Regulation Order under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984, the effect of which is detailed in the schedule at Appendix A;

b) That in the event of no objections being received, the said permanent Order
be made;

c) If objections are received a report is presented to the appropriate Committee
for consideration as soon as practicable.

Date Written 20th August 2018
Report Author Martin Stark 
Service Area Engineering 
Committee Division Portfolio 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 137

Agenda Item 10



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 A petition was received by the authority expressing concerns about Road Safety 
around the area of a pedestrian crossing on the A4054 at Pentrebach. The petition 
requested a reduction in the speed limit from 40mph to 30mph, contained 237 
signatures and was forwarded to Officers in the Engineering Department for 
consideration. The petition was reported to Full Council on 27th June 2018.

3.2 An existing Pelican Crossing is located adjacent to Pentrebach Railway Station 
along the A4054, Merthyr Road, Pentrebach and provides a pedestrian link to and 
from the local Pentrebach and Abercanaid communities, local schools and Railway 
Station. 

3.3 A 40mph speed limit applies along the section of A4054 Merthyr Road between 
Pentrebach roundabout extending south-east to a point east of the roundabout near 
the entrance to Troedyrhiw and Holly Terrace. 

4.0 PROPOSAL

4.1 A meeting was held comprising Officers in the Engineering Department, Councillors 
and lead petitioner to discuss the petition in more detail and to advise of intentions to 
improve Road Safety at the Pelican Crossing.

4.2 Officers have carried out traffic and road safety investigations and produced 
proposals to reduce the current 40mph speed limit to 30mph from the Pentrebach 
roundabout along A4054 Merthyr Road, south east to its junction with Maestaf 
Street. In addition, this also includes provision of ‘ARAF’/’SLOW’ roadmarkings on 
the pedestrian crossing approaches. These road safety measures will have a 
positive impact and make the area safer for road users.

4.3 A drawing showing these proposals is available via the Background Paper link for 
information purposes.

4.4 The new speed limit would require revocation of an existing 40mph Traffic 
Regulation Order made by the former Mid Glamorgan County Council in 1987 and 
introduction of a new Order over the appropriate length of road, under the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and to apply 30mph restricted road status. Highway work 
involving changes to existing traffic signs and also a number of new illuminated 
traffic signs would be required.

4.5 As part of Statutory Traffic Regulation Order procedure, consultation has been 
carried out with the emergency services and other representative users groups. No 
objections were received. The next stage of the Traffic Order process would be to 
give Public Notice of the Council’s intention to make the permanent Order including 
an objection period giving the opportunity for objections to be received from the 
general public.  If no objections are received, the Order can be made. If objections 
are received a report would be presented to the appropriate Committee for 
consideration as soon as practicable.

   

Page 138



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

 5.1 There are administrative costs relating to the publishing of notices and costs 
associated with installation of traffic signs which is to be met from the Traffic 
Management budget. Total costs are estimated at £5000.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is required. The form can be 
accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link. 
The positive impacts are that the proposed Traffic Regulation Order will have a 
positive impact and reduce the existing 40mph speed limit to 30mph and assist 
Traffic Management/Road Safety in the vicinity of the Pelican Crossing. The positive 
effects would improve good relations between different groups and assist positive 
regeneration of the area. There are no negative impacts. The current proposals to 
introduce these improvements include various Traffic Regulation Order schedules 
indicated in Appendix A.

CHERYLLEE EVANS 
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES, PLANNING & COUNTRYSIDE

COUNCILLOR KEVIN GIBBS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES AND 
PUBLIC PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

File ref. H10.0 Ongoing Traffic Management Section, 
Engineering Department, Unit 5 
Pentrebach

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 139



Appendix A

SCHEDULE 1 
40 MILES PER HOUR SPEED LIMIT

That length of Merthyr Road (Route A4054) , Pentrebach, Merthyr Tydfil, from a point 40 
metres south east of its junction with Maestaf Street south eastwards to a point  315 metres 
north of its junction with South View Troedyrhiw, a distance of approximately 715 metres.
 
SCHEDULE 2 
REVOCATION OF EXISTING TRAFFIC ORDER

Revoke the “Mid Glamorgan County Council (Merthyr Road (Route A4054) Pentrebach, 
Merthyr Tydfil) (40mph Speed restriction) 1987”.

Page 140



D
U
F
F
R
Y
N
 F
A
W
R

T
ra
ck

TCB

Sta

Sub

El
 S
ub
 S
ta

El

P
E
N
L
A
N
 S
T

C
E
R
E
D
IG
 S
T
R
E
E
T

HICK
MAN

 STR
EET

Allotm
ent G

ardens

A
R
T
H
U
R
 S
T
R
E
E
T

H
A
FO
D
 S
T
R
E
E
T

M
O
R
L
A
I
S
 S
T
R
E
E
T

H
A
M
IL
T
O
N
 S
T
R
E
E
T

C
A
ST
LE
 S
T
R
EE
T

D
Y
F
F
R
Y
N
 R
O
A
D

C
H
A
P
E
L
 C
L
O
S
E

P
L
Y
M
O
U
T
H
 G
A
R
D
E
N
S

143.6m

Path (um)

Sports Ground

P
a
th

P
osts

M
A
E
S
T
A
F
 S
T
R
E
E
T

Recreation Ground

Pentrebach

Sub Sta

Drain

El

P
a
th
 (u

m
)

Games Court

Playground

A
 4
0
5
4

145.7m

G
R
E
E
N
F
IE
L
D
 C
O
U
R
T

Recreation Ground

P
a
th

Playgro
und

H
IL
L

A
N
T
H
O
N
Y

/ C
W
R
T

A
N
T
H
O
N
Y

H
IL
L

C
O
U
R
T

LB

Bowling Green

147.5m

A
LE
X
A
N
D
R
A
 P
LA
C
E

147.5m

Station

FB

Gardens

15
6.
3m

Pentrebach

15
5.
5m

Allotment

N
E
W
T
O
N
 S
T
R
E
E
T

D
O
N
A
L
D
 S
T
R
E
E
T

C
H
A
P
E
L
 S
T
R
E
E
T

D
ra
in

T
C
B

T
a
ff T

rail (C
ycle

 P
a
th
)

160.8m

C
A
R
D
IF
F 
S
T
R
E
E
T

G
E
T
H
IN
 S
T
R
E
E
T

155.1m

(Afon Taf)

C
H
U
R
C
H
 V
IE
W

8

80

8
G
riffith

's T
e
rr

1

16

1

11

8

1

1

8

1
8

2

3
9

1
4

4

Club

9
4

1

1

3

8
7

3
3

5
4

61

7

6

1
6

10

1

1

19

N
orm

an Terr

W
alk
er
's 
Te
rr

13

10

9

G
eorge Terr

1

PO

20

1

4

16

4

1

1
1

1
7

2
8

1

1
2

2
3

4
6

4
7

6

1

5

3
0

10

1
3

Tai Bac
h

1

10

2
5

6

7

1
3

8

1
2

1

Shelter

H
a
ll

Terrace

Greenfield

Park

Terrace

10

6

1

6

12

11

2
3

2
4

1
8

3
5

2
4

3
6

P
op
lar T

e
rrace

3

13

1

4
8

4
7

5

12

7

17

Ch
ap
elGreenfield School

1
0

1
6

Hotel

11

(PH)

Rekadom

5
6

7

5
5

13

Garage

Abercanaid Community School

/ Ysgol Gymunedol Abercanaid

8

6
6

1

61

1b

2

1a

16a

16

1

5
1

17 16
d

16b

7

14

1
6
c

Gr
ee
nh
ill

10

11

12

C
aerafon

6

12

G
ethin P

lace

8

18a

6

15

1
0

18b

1
9

1

22

PH

46

45

Al
ex
an
dr
a 
Co
ur
t

4

1

6

1

Th
e 
Ch
ur
ch
 o
f

PW

22

17

St
 P
au
l

St
 P
et
er
 a
nd

12

20
a

19

30

25a

3
5

24

18

7

1

3
9

43

School

4
0

Hall

Bryn Emlyn

25

32

4
0

4
3

3
6

44

1

3
1

4
4
a

2

1

Abernant

3

-Y-Gethin

4

1

Cwm Golau

1

4

Integrated

Childrens

Centre

1
8

6

1

12

2
1

2
4

34

39

48

3
0

4
1

40

39
a

1

De
m
l C
ot
ta
ge

Wern

6

Green

Haven

Ty-Graig-Newydd

DRAWING No.

DRAWN BY

DATE

SCALE                   

  

Key to Restriction Types Displayed

Existing 40mph speed
limit to become 30mph

  

A4054 PENTREBACH - PROPOSED 30MPH SPEED LIMIT

05/03/2018



(c) Crown copyright. All rights reserved 
Merthyr-Tydfil 
Licence No.  2006

Page
1 of 1

1 : 3000

A4054

Pentrebach Roundabout

Abercanaid Community

School

Pelican Crossing

Greenfield School

A4054Pentrebach

Station

P
age 141



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

NEET’s Prevention and Performance

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The report outlines how the local authority has performed with regards to NEET 
prevention and how it supports those young people identified through the Early 
Identification Toolkit (EIT) as the highest risk of becoming NEET.  

1.2 The report also provides an update on the progress of the Inspire to Achieve (I2A) 
and Inspire to Work (I2W) regional European funded projects, which have been in 
operation since April 2016 and November 2016 respectively.  At pre-16, I2A is the 
local authority’s main source of lead working support to young people identified as 
the highest risk of becoming NEET.  

1.3 For the post 16 cohort (16-24), I2W is one of a variety of employment projects 
managed by the Local Authority (Bridges Into Work, Communities 4 Work and now 
Communities 4 Work Plus) and independent provision operating in the local authority 
area.  The report looks at the I2W contribution to the NEET and youth unemployment 
figures for 16-24 year olds in Merthyr Tydfil.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The contents of the report are noted.

2.2 An update on the progress of the new NEET Strategy 2018-20 is provided within the 
2019 report to council as the strategy will then have been in place for a year.

Date Written 10th August 2018
Report Author Chris Hole/Samantha Morgan
Service Area Community Wellbeing
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 143

Agenda Item 11



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Since implementation of the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework (YEPF) 
and development of a local NEET Strategy, the local authority has consistently 
performed well in relation to the number of young people becoming NEET when they 
leave school at 16.  The longer term impact of this support can also be demonstrated 
through the sustained reduction in unemployment of the 16-24 age group.

3.2 Additionally, and in line with the YEPF, since 2013 the local authority has utilised a 
system of early identification of young people at risk of NEET.  The EIT is the 
primary method for determining eligibility for the Pre 16 European funded 
programme.  Over the years, this Early Identification Toolkit (EIT) has developed 
from a paper based system to an electronic system and is currently administered 
through the local authority Capita One database.  

3.3 The Capita one system also records data on attendance, behaviour and attainment 
of children and young people and is therefore a more efficient method of early 
identification, as it can be run periodically through the year.  Following the most 
recent review of the EIT it was recommended that the system is developed further 
and implemented at the end of Key Stage 2 in order to identify children who may 
benefit from enhanced support during the transition from primary to secondary 
school. 

3.4 There is a richer source of data being collated into this single system than previously 
available.  Flying Start data is now incorporated into the database and the potential 
to use this system in a number of areas to track and assess the impact of 
interventions is currently being explored across departments.  Developing the ability 
of the local authority to demonstrate and evaluate the impact of programmes on 
young people’s attendance, behaviour and attainment will enable service areas to 
make better informed judgements about future investment of resources in line with 
the requirements of Youth Support Service Estyn inspections. 

4.0 CAREERS WALES DESTINATION SURVEY OUTCOMES 2017

4.1 For 2017 the published Welsh Government NEET figure for Merthyr Tydfil was 1.3%,   
equating to 7 young people.  This placed the local authority in joint 5th position, which 
was down from joint first for 2016 when the figure was 1.03% (6 young people).  This 
demonstrates the impact one additional person can have on Merthyr’s ranking due to 
the size of the cohort involved.  However, this is still above the Welsh average for 
2017 of 1.6%.  For the fifth year in a row there were no young people with an 
unknown destination in Merthyr Tydfil.

4.2 Table 1 provides the trend in performance for Merthyr Tydfil since 2012 and from 
2013 when the YEPF was introduced across Wales.

Table 1
NEET % -  Year 11 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – Trend Data
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
6.2%
(44 yp)

1.87%
(13 yp)

2.6%
(16 yp)

1.6%
(10 yp)

1.03%
(6 yp)

1.3%
(7 yp)

All Wales:
4.2%

All Wales:
3.7%

All Wales:
3.1%

All Wales:
3.1%

All Wales:
2.0%

All Wales:
1.6%

Page 144



4.3 Since 2016 these figures have not included young people who are registered on the 
EOTAS plasc, so for 2017 there were an additional 4 young people who were NEET 
but not included in the published figure.  However, during Year 11 these young 
people were tracked by the NEET team and either offered or received support to 
access a post 16 opportunity from relevant projects and partners, such as Careers 
Wales.

4.4 This success has carried through to the older age group and there has been a 
significant improvement in the 16-24 year old youth unemployment figure over the 
same period.  At year ending March 2018 (Stats Wales), the annual population 
survey identified that  the unemployment rate for 16-24 year olds in Merthyr Tydfil 
was 13.5% (600), equalling the Welsh Average.  This figure has decreased by 23.4%  
since 2012 meaning Merthyr Tydfil’s improvement  has been at an accelerated pace 
in comparison to the rest of Wales, which improved at a rate of 10.4% over the same 
period.  However this figure is based upon a survey which the publisher has warned 
is as of low quality due to the number of responses to the survey. 

4.5 Significant data development is taking place nationally around unemployment 
statistics meaning that the latest specific data for the 16-24 age group relates to 
2017.  This data demonstrated that the claimant count for Job Seekers Allowance 
was 95 individuals for those aged under 25, equating to an unemployment rate of 
13.6%.  This figure has also decreased at an accelerated pace since 2012 when 
Merthyr Tydfil youth unemployment rate by claimant count was identified as 34.3% 
or 810 young people.  Experimental data for stats Wales puts this decrease into 
context when looking at the entire claimant count (16-64) population of 950 
individuals and a claimant count rate of 2.5%.

5.0 CHARACTERISTICS OF THE NEET SCHOOL LEAVERS 2017

5.1 An analysis of the 11 young people who were NEET at the point of the Careers 
Wales destination survey took place and each young person displayed one or more 
of the following:

 Nine were ragged ‘red’ and two were ragged as ‘green’.
 Eight were identified as having an additional learning need or behavioural 

difficulty (one young person was statemented, one was on School Action and six 
were on School Action plus) with three of this group having the most significant 
barriers to entering employment, education or training.

 Four attended an alternative curriculum programme such as EOTAS or Special 
Tuition.

 Following referral to I2A, six either never engaged or refused to engage with the 
support offered by the project.

 Four had engaged in an opportunity after leaving school, prior to the destination 
survey deadline (three in work-based learning, one in college).  A further 3 had 
intended destinations on leaving school which they did not enter. 

Page 145



6.0 POSITION STATEMENT 2018 SCHOOL LEAVERS

6.1 As a result of early identification and the work of the school NEET panels, 97 Year 
11 young people have been supported and tracked over the academic year 2017-18.  
Through transition planning, 91 have an intended destination, with 6 young people 
having no intended destination and, therefore, deemed to be at highest risk of NEET.  
These young people have been discussed at the post 16 NEET Practitioner Group 
so that support can be offered via the range of post 16 employment partners, based 
upon the needs of the young person. 

6.2 A focus during this academic year has been to improve the number of identified ‘high 
risk NEET’ young people leaving school with a transition plan in place, and therefore 
being able to confirm their intended destination.  At the same point in 2017, there 
were 21 out of 84 ‘at risk’ young people without a transition plan.  This significant 
improvement has been achieved through improved partnership working between I2A 
lead workers and Careers Wales careers advisers.

6.3 Through a ‘keeping in touch’, strategy a further 25 out of the 97 will be supported 
during the summer and autumn periods to ensure they enter a destination and 
maintain this destination, as they are considered  ‘at risk of becoming NEET’.

7.0 INSPIRE PROJECTS – PROGRESS TO DATE

7.1 Both Inspire 2 Achieve (pre16) and Inspire 2 Work (post 16) have received approval 
from the Wales European Funding Office (WEFO) to extend until 30th November 
2022.  As a result, a re-profile exercise has recently been completed for both 
programmes with the new profile and achievements for I2A set out in Table 2 below 
and for I2W set out in section 7.6 below. 

Table 2 - Inspire 2 Achieve
Performance 
Measure

Cumulative 
Target

Achieved Variance

No. enrolled 377 339  -38
No. supported into 
EET

83 115 +32

No. at reduced 
risk of NEET

206 14 ( 25 to be 
claimed)

-192

No. gaining 
qualifications

29 7 (22 to be 
claimed)

29

7.2 During 2016-17 academic year 70 out of 84 Year 11 young people identified as ‘high 
risk NEET’ were supported by I2A with the project supporting 68 to enter further 
education, employment or training.  Only 2 young people supported by the 
programme went on to become NEET after support.  The project therefore continues 
to make a significant contribution to the local authority NEET figure and provides a 
valuable transition mechanism for those requiring continued support at post 16.

7.3 Achievement of the ‘reduction in risk of NEET’ target is proving challenging both 
locally and regionally (27% behind profile) mainly due to the stringent evidencing 
requirements for claiming this outcome.  Currently there are three separate 
requirements that have to be met to claim this outcome including a 10% 

Page 146



improvement in a young person’s attendance.  The evidencing requirement is due to 
the acknowledgement locally, regionally and by WEFO that often such significant 
changes or improvements cannot be achieved in isolation and may be attributable to 
the work of a range of partners or due to external factors. 

7.4 Analysis of attendance data for the 2016-17 Year 11 group receiving support from 
I2A (70) using the education Capita System has revealed that 

 46% improved their attendance (15 by up to 9% and 17 over 10%)
 7%  there was no significant change 
 40% attendance decreased 
 7% no data recorded on Capita as they were on alternative provision such as 

EOTAS and Special Tuition.

7.5 The Inspire Regional Management Team (RMT) have raised concerns around the  
Merthyr Tydfil project focusing too much on Key Stage 4  outcomes and are 
requesting for more resource to be allocated to Key Stage 3 (years 7,8,9).  This 
would place more of a focus on reducing the risk factors associated with being 
NEET.  However, this approach would in tandem reduce the support available for 
high risk young people making the transition from school to a post 16 destination 
with a possible impact being a rise in the NEET figure.  This issue continues to be 
discussed at a regional partnership level, with delivery continuing as normal. 

7.6 The performance for the Inspire to Work programme is outlined in table 3 below.  
The success that has been seen since 2012 in reducing the number of young people 
unemployed  is extremely positive for all,  but does mean that funded programmes 
face a challenge in engaging enough individuals  to achieve all of their targets due 
to:  

 a reduction in number of unemployed 16-24 year olds as outlined in 4.4 and 4.5.
 the number of post 16 NEET and employment focused projects in operation 

across Merthyr Tydfil, which continues to grow. 

Table 3
Performance 
Measure

Target Achieved Variance

No. enrolled 136 99 -37
No. entering 
employment

23 15 -5

No. gaining a 
qualification

48 43 -11

No. entering 
education/ training

25 14 -8

7.7 At present, this is being mitigated in part by the adoption of a post 16 protocol which, 
through a person centred approach, aims to allocate young people to projects based 
on their need.  This process is managed through the Post 16 NEET Practitioner 
Group, chaired by Careers Wales and has recently been expanded to include the  
new Communities 4 Work plus programme.  This protocol and process was 
established between a number of programmes due to the complexity of the 

Page 147



employment support landscape and attempts to mitigate against the risks of financial 
clawback in relation to a number of European funded programmes. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1 It has been identified that there are currently no financial implications associated with 
this report.

8.2 Wales European Funding Office (WEFO) has agreed to the extension of both I2A 
and I2W until 30th November 2022.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 148



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Future Funding for Gypsy, Roma and Traveller 
Learners and pupils for whom English is an 
Additional Language (EAL) 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Councillors with information in respect of the 
future funding for the services that support our minority ethnic, Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller learners in light of the letter received from Welsh Government on 18th May 
2018. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 The content of this report be noted for the loss of funding for the services that 
support our minority ethnic, Gypsy, Roma and Traveller learners and subsequent 
redundancies.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 For more than a decade the Welsh Government (WG) has provided targeted grant 
funding for Local Authorities to support our minority ethnic, Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller learners.  As a result of this funding the services that support these pupils 
have been able to foster good relationships with these communities, upskill staff in 
supporting their particular needs and enable inclusivity and improved wellbeing.  
Further funding has also been provided by European projects for these groups, and 
for two years, by the Local Authority for pupils for whom English is an Additional 
Language (EAL).

Date Written 15.03.18- revised 31.05.18 *
Report Author Sarah Bowen 
Service Area Education 
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 149

Agenda Item 12



3.2 Pupils living in Merthyr Tydfil come from a variety of backgrounds. The three most 
common countries from where pupils attending our schools originate are Poland, 
Portugal and the Philippines.  Around 25 different languages are spoken by Merthyr 
Tydfil’s pupils including: Polish, Portuguese, Tagalong, Cantonese, Mandarin 
Chinese, Punjabi, Turkish, Czech, Malayalam, Hindi, Creole, Ghanaian, Bengali, 
Ukrainian, Urdu, Romanian, German, French, Yoruba, Tamil, Telugu, Slovak, Italian, 
Hungarian, Arabic and Vietnamese. 

3.3 Parents/carers choose to move to Merthyr Tydfil for a number of reasons.  Many are 
joining families or established communities others may find themselves in an isolated 
community within Merthyr Tydfil.  They may be intending to stay long term, while 
others are living in Merthyr Tydfil on a short term basis. 

3.4 Diverse backgrounds affect pupils’ individual learning within schools.  Some families 
will have fostered a strong educational background in their pupils, while others will 
have moved around a lot and have had their education disrupted.  Compulsory 
education laws are different in some countries and many pupils might not start 
school until the age of 7.  Cultural differences will also affect behaviour of pupils 
within the classroom as well as their interactions with peer groups.  Many parents 
might be unfamiliar with the UK education system; particularly if they are from a 
more isolated community without support.

3.5 Since 2005/06 pupil numbers for minority ethnic groups have increased year on year 
(Appendix 1).  As of the census in 2011, pupils for whom English is an additional 
language accounted for 5.43% of the pupil population, when the LA agreed to 
provide additional funding for this group, this now stands at 8% (Appendix 2).  The 
number for Gypsy Traveller learners has remained constant at on average 50 pupils 
per year.  Although a smaller group, these pupils come from a rich cultural 
background that needs to be celebrated, but is invariably in opposition to the 
structured schools system.  This brings challenges that require careful handling by 
experienced and trusted staff.  

2005-2006 2016-17 2017-18 
Minority ethnic pupils 112 580 468
Including EAL pupils 82 457 628

See Appendix 1 for more detail

4.0 Service delivery and cconsequences of loss of service

4.1 It should be noted that while the grants provided by WG have decreased over the 
years, the outcome of these groups have improved.  This is due to the expertise and 
commitment of the teams.  The support provided by the teams who work with our 
minority ethnic, Gypsy, Roma and Traveller learners is made up of the following key 
activities:

 provide in class support; 
 set targets, monitor and record pupil progress against the WG 5 stage model; 
 monitor and assess language needs;
 provide pastoral and welfare support;
 challenge instances of prejudice, stereotyping, bullying and harassment, in line 

with school policies and procedures;

Page 150



 provide bilingual support for parents eg. at parent evenings;
 support and monitor the attendance, behaviour and attainment; and
 promote and celebrate diversity. 

4.2 Should funding for these services not be forthcoming then this would result in the 
following:

 loss of specialist teaching and bilingual support posts to support the language 
development of Merthyr’s 468 bilingual learners and Gypsy Traveller learners;

 loss of central support services providing valuable support to schools 
(training/CPD, resources, advice and guidance, initial assessments, follow-up 
assessments); it is worth noting that one of the training modules provided by the 
EAL was showcased at an All Wales event and has subsequently received 
interest to attend this from other LAs;  

 no centralised provision “safety valve” to ensure that the needs of ethnic minority 
and Roma/Gypsy Traveller pupils are met within the Welsh education system;

 negative impact on the academic progress and wellbeing of many, of some of our 
most vulnerable learners;

 negative impact on school ratings as pupils with limited English and poor 
attendance records are unable to access the curriculum and fail to acquire 
sufficient levels of language to achieve in standardised tests;

 risk to the educational chances of a new generation of learners and the loss of 
the gains which have been made in recent years to promote the equitable 
attainment of all our learners (Appendix 3);

 risk to attendance rates for Gypsy Traveller pupils and early deregistration rate 
from formal education and potential safeguarding issues (Appendix 4); and

 Breach of UNCRC Article 3 (everyone who works with children should always do 
what is best for each child), Article 4 (the government should ensure that these 
rights are made available to children), Article 13 (right to have information), and 
Article 29 (right to become the best that you can be).

4.3 As of their letter dated May 2018 WG has confirmed that Merthyr Tydfil will receive a 
total allocation of £49,230 in 2018-19. The letter goes on to say the following;  ‘the 
position for 2019-20 will need to be reviewed as part of a draft budget; however it is 
WG’s intention to earmark a further £8.7million to all 22 local authorities to support a 
sustainable model in 2020-21. This funding will be conditional on evidence of 
working progress towards more sustainable models of delivery’ (Appendix 5).

This shows a significant shortfall in the money needed to maintain the current level 
of staff employed to support these groups. 

4.4 Moving forward, it would be worth considering an immersion class for any new 
arrivals to Merthyr Tydfil in order to meet increasing demand and to provide time 
limited intense support for their acquisition of the English language.  These discrete 
lessons could also be used by some of the Gypsy Traveller pupils to assist with 
some of their literacy needs. 

Page 151



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The spending plans for the Gypsy Traveller and EAL grants for 2016/17 are attached 
(Appendix 6 & Appendix 7). These show the activities involved, performance 
measures and success criteria.

5.2 Please find below a summary of the allocation from WG for the last three financial 
years:

MERTHYR CBC £
Education of Gypsy Children and Traveller Children 36,817-2015/16

Education of Gypsy Children and Traveller Children 34,976- 2016/17

Education of Gypsy Children and Traveller Children 34,759- 2017/18

EDUCATION IMPROVEMENT GRANT Indicative Amount
£

Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant ( Merthyr ) 101,658- 2015/16

Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant ( Merthyr ) 96,575- 2016/17

Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant ( Merthyr ) 95,976- 2017/18

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 152



Appendix 1

2011-
2012

2012-
2013

2013-
2014

2014-
2015

2015-
2016

2016-
2017

2017-
2018

Minority ethnic 
pupils 

369 481 473 530 559 580 628

Including EAL 
pupils A-D

303 369 343 432 348* 457 486

*excluding figures from one secondary school

Appendix 2 

School School 
Total 
Enrolment

Total EAL 
Pupils 
Numbers 

% EAL 
Pupils of 
Total 
School 
Enrolment

Total Pupils 8072 628 8%
Total Secondary 
Pupils 2848 183 6%
Total Primary 
Pupils 5224 445 9%
Total RC Pupils 1046 347 33%

Appendix 3 
Level 2+ threshold for EAL pupils 
Year EAL pupils MT average for all 

pupils 
All Wales 
average

2011/12 9% (3 pupils) 32.5% 51.1%
2012/13 30% (9 pupils) 38.7%(268) 52.7%
2013/14 45%( 13 pupils) 48.9% (299) 55.4%
2014/15 64%(14 pupils) 51.9% (320) 57.6% 
2015/16 60% (25 pupils) 53.9% (331) 60.3%
2016/17 41.6% (13 pupils) 42.4% (238) 54.6%

EAL- FP outcome indicators 
Year EAL pupils MT average for all 

pupils 
All Wales 
average

2015/16 89.1% 89.1% 87.0%
2016/17 87.6% 88.1% 87.3%

Page 153



EAL-KS2
Year EAL pupils MT average for all 

pupils 
All Wales 
average

2015/16 89.1% 89.2% 88.6%
2016/17 90.7% 90.5% 88.6%
EAL-KS3
Year EAL pupils MT average for all 

pupils 
All Wales 
average

2015/16 87.0% 87.0% 85.9%
2016/17 86.5% 87.1% 87.4%

GT-FP outcome indicators 
Year No. GT pupils 

in cohort
GT pupils - % 

achieving
MT average 
for all pupils

All Wales 
average

2015/16 4 25% 89.1% 87.0%
2016/17 1 0% 88.1% 87.3%
GT-S2 CSI
Year No. GT pupils 

in cohort GT pupils MT average 
for all pupils

All Wales 
average

2015/16 3 33% 89.2% 88.6%
2016/17 5 20% 90.2% 89.5%
GT-S3 CSI
Year No. GT pupils 

in cohort GT pupils MT average 
for all pupils

All Wales 
average

2015/16 3 0% 87.0% 85.9%
2016/17 3 0% 87.1% 87.4%
GT-S4 – Level 2+
Year No. GT pupils 

in cohort GT pupils MT average 
for all pupils

All Wales 
average

2016/17 2 0% 42.4% 54.6%
NB-Only one year for KS4 data has been provided due to the changes to qualifications this year comparisons are not 
being made with previous years.
NB-Due to the small numbers of pupils, reporting the information publically in this format is restricted due to data 
protection issues.

Page 154



Appendix 4 

Targets and Performance

Gypsy Traveller Attendance in Primary & Secondary Schools

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual

85.1% 82.6% 74.62% 100% 98% 94% 87% as of June tbc

50 pupils 
exceeded the 
minimum 200 
sessions out 
of 51 pupils 

 46  pupils 
exceeded the 
minimum 200 
sessions out of    
54 pupils

 32  pupils 
exceeded the 
minimum 200 
sessions out 
of    
56 pupils 

 48 pupils 
exceeded the 
minimum 200 
sessions out of 
48 pupils 
(100%)

50 pupils 
exceeded the 
minimum 200 
sessions out of 
51 pupils 
(98%)

46 pupils 
exceeded the 
minimum 200 
sessions out of   
49 pupils

46 pupils exceeded 
the minimum 200 
sessions out of 50 

pupils (92%)

P
age 155



P
age 156



Cathays Park• Parc Cathays
Caerdydd • Cardiff

CF10 3NQ

Eich cyf/Your ref 
Ein cyf/Our ref 

chief.executive@merthyr.gov.uk;Gareth.chapman@merthyr.gov.uk

18 May 2018 

Dear Chief Executive, Merthyr Tydfil

Subject to Grant Letter

I am writing following the recent announcement in respect of support for minority ethnic 
achievement and the education of Gypsy Roma Traveller learners. 

The Cabinet Secretary for Education has continued to listen to the concerns raised by 
various stakeholders about the impact of this cut. I am sure you will appreciate these are 
challenging times, and difficult decisions have had to be made. 

In recognising that transitioning the service takes time, I am writing to confirm Merthyr Tydfil 
LA will receive a total allocation of £49,230 in 2018-19.

The position for 2019-20 will need to be reviewed as part of the draft budget, however it is 
our intention to earmark a further £8.7million to all 22 local authorities to support a 
sustainable model in 2020-21. This funding will be conditional on evidence of working 
progress towards more sustainable models of delivery. We will continue to work with the 
WLGA over the forthcoming months on this matter.

I would be grateful if you could confirm your acceptance of this funding in principle by 
emailing me at: Melanie.Godfrey@gov.wales. Following which a formal grant offer will be 
sent to you.

Yours sincerely

Mel Godfrey

Page 157

mailto:Melanie.Godfrey@gov.wales


Eich cyf/Your ref 
Ein cyf/Our ref 

chief.executive@merthyr.gov.uk;Gareth.chapman@merthyr.gov.uk

18 May 2018 

Annwyl Brif Weithredwr, Merthyr Tydfil

Lythyr Parthed Grant

Rwy’n ysgrifennu atoch yn dilyn y cyhoeddiad diweddar am gefnogaeth i gyflawniad lleiafrif 
ethnig ac addysg dysgwyr Teithwyr Sipsi Roma. 

Mae Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg wedi parhau i wrando ar y pryderon a godwyd 
gan wahanol randdeiliaid am effaith y toriad.  Rwy’n siŵr eich bod yn gwerthfawrogi bod 
rhain yn amseroedd heriol, ac mae angen cymryd penderfyniadau anodd.  

Mewn cydnabyddiaeth fod y newid yn cymryd amser, rwy’n ysgrifennu atoch i gadarnhau y 
bydd Merthyr Tydfil yn derbyn cyfanswm dyraniad o £49,230 yn 2018-2019.  

Bydd y sefyllfa ar gyfer 2019-2020 angen ei adolygu fel rhan o’r gyllideb ddrafft, fodd 
bynnag ein bwriad yw clustnodi £8.7 miliwn i bob un o’r 22 awdurdod lleol i gefnogi model 
cynaliadwy yn 2020-2021.  Bydd y cyllid hwn yn amodol ar weld tystiolaeth o weithio tuag at 
model gweithredu cynaliadwy.  Fe fyddwn yn parhau i weithio gyda’r CLLLC dros y misoedd 
nesaf ar y mater.  

Byddwn yn ddiolchgar pe bai chi yn gallu cadarnhau eich bod yn bwriadu derbyn y cyllid 
hwn mewn egwyddor, gan fy ebostio ar: melanie.godfrey@llyw.cymru .  Yn dilyn hynny 
bydd cynnig grant ffurfiol yn cael ei ddanfon atoch.  

Yn gywir  

Mel Godfrey

Page 158

mailto:melanie.godfrey@llyw.cymru


Merthyr CBC

Dear Colleagues

EDUCATION OF GYPSY CHILDREN AND TRAVELLER CHILDREN

We have now received the final version of the grant terms and conditions from Welsh 
Government and have been working with the five Local Authorities to agree the delegation of 
this grant to schools / LA’s.  

The Directors have agreed to continue funding this element of the grant and will continue to 
be delegated to local authorities in the same proportion as in 2016/17 further to the 0.62% 
grant reduction.  

Please find a summary of this allocation for 2017-18 below:

Merthyr CBC £

Education of Gypsy Children and Traveller Children 34,759

In order to disclose how this grant will be spent and to enable us to monitor spend, in line 
with the terms and conditions, I have attached an improvement plan template.

I would be grateful if you could complete this pro-forma and return to Craig Flynn no later 
than Friday 22nd September 2017.  If you have any queries, please do not hesitate to 
contact me.

Yours faithfully

Louise Blatchford

Senior Lead Business & Operations

Central South Consortium

Page 159



Merthyr CBC : EDUCATION OF GYPSY CHILDREN AND TRAVELLER CHILDREN

Budget 2017-18 £34,759

Performance Measures Baseline Targets / Success Criteria

Priority One Pupil attendance July 2018- 100%

Priority Two Pupil attendance July 2018- 100%

Priority Three Pupil attendance July 2018- 100%

Priority Four Pupil attendance July 2018- 100%

Priority Five Pupil attendance July 2018- 100%

Priority Six Pupil attendance July 2018- 100%

KEY ACTIONS MILESTONES (DEC 17) MILESTONES (APRIL 18)

To support this cohort with welfare issues. Attendance, exclusion and bullying data Attendance, exclusion and bullying data

To encourage continued attendance and 
engagement in education

Attendance, exclusion and bullying data Attendance, exclusion and bullying data

To improve self-esteem and attainment Attendance, exclusion and bullying data Attendance, exclusion and bullying data

To improve parental engagement Attendance, exclusion and bullying data Attendance, exclusion and bullying data

To improve pupil participation; hear pupil voice 
and encourage attendance at Youth forum & 

Attendance, exclusion and bullying data Attendance, exclusion and bullying data

P
age 160



Student conference 

To increase awareness of the  Gypsy and Traveller 
culture 

Attendance, exclusion and bullying data Attendance, exclusion and bullying data

Merthyr CBC EDUCATION OF GYPSY CHILDREN AND TRAVELLER CHILDREN  PRIORITY ONE:   To safeguard  Gypsy and Traveller children and young people

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones Monitoring

Improve pupil welfare 

To foster positive relationships of trust between 
pupils, families and  staff members with site visits; 
to assist in the admission process and support with 
family matters e.g. purchasing of uniform, support 
in moments of crisis, sign posting to support 
services etc.

Staff time ongoing
Attendance, 
exclusion and 
bullying data

Weekly monitoring of 
Gypsy and Traveller 
pupils welfare and 
attendance 

Merthyr CBC EDUCATION OF GYPSY CHILDREN AND TRAVELLER CHILDREN  PRIORITY TWO: To improve educational opportunities for Gypsy and Traveller 
children and young people

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones Monitoring

To encourage 
continued attendance 
and engagement in 
education

Supporting families to break down the barriers to 
engagement in learning; to support in class with 
literacy and numeracy, and/or mentoring support ; 
to utilise the community centre as an educational 
setting ; support at transition stages

Staff time, 
school 

resources
ongoing

Attendance, 
exclusion and 
bullying data

Weekly monitoring of 
Gypsy and Traveller 
pupils welfare and 
attendance 

Merthyr CBC EDUCATION OF GYPSY CHILDREN AND TRAVELLER CHILDREN  PRIORITY THREE: To improve the wellbeing and attendance of  Gypsy and 
Traveller children and young people

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones Monitoring

P
age 161



To improve self-
esteem and attainment

To provide in class and 1-1 support ; to promote 
programmes to schools to reduce bullying and 
eradicate racism, and promote social inclusion  

Staff time 
and LA 

resources
ongoing

Attendance, 
exclusion and 
bullying data

Monitoring of Gypsy 
and Traveller pupils 

welfare, behaviour and 
attendance.

Merthyr CBC  EDUCATION OF GYPSY CHILDREN AND TRAVELLER CHILDREN  PRIORITY FOUR: To improve levels of parental engagement  

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones Monitoring

To improve parental 
engagement

Working with TAFG to improve parental 
engagement; to consult families on areas of need; 
hold an engagement events; utilise the community 
centre more effectively; to develop a long term 
strategy for community cohesion  

Staff time 
and LA 
resources

ongoing Attendance data 

Monitoring of Gypsy 
and Traveller pupils 
welfare, behaviour and 
attendance.

Merthyr CBC  EDUCATION OF GYPSY CHILDREN AND TRAVELLER CHILDREN  PRIORITY FIVE:  To improve levels of parental engagement  

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones Monitoring

To improve pupil 
participation; hear 
pupil voice and 
encourage attendance 
at Youth forum & 
Student conference

To encourage participation in student councils and 
forums to ascertain pupil voice 

Staff time 
and Bridges 
Project 

ongoing

Attendance at 
student councils, 
youth forums & 
national regional 
GT forums 

Monitoring of Gypsy 
and Traveller pupils 

welfare, behaviour and 
attendance.

Merthyr CBC  EDUCATION OF GYPSY CHILDREN AND TRAVELLER CHILDREN  PRIORITY SIX:  To increase awareness of the  Gypsy and Traveller culture

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact 
Dates) Milestones Monitoring

To increase awareness 
of the  Gypsy and 
Traveller culture

Raise awareness of and promote the Gypsy 
Traveller culture and lifestyle in a more positive 
light; share resources to promote awareness of 
culture and lifestyle. 

Staff time 
and Bridges 
Project

ongoing
Attendance, 
exclusion and 
bullying data

Monitoring of Gypsy 
and Traveller pupils 
welfare, behaviour and 
attendance.

P
age 162



Summer Term Evaluations
Judgements about progress linked to the milestones: 
GT pupils are engaged and are making good progress in primary schools, but encouraging them to make the transition into secondary school and to keep 
them there remains challenging and problematic. Previous incentives such as rewards for good attainment and attendance have had to be curtailed due to 
a lack of funding. Most of the GT pupils aged 12 and above are disinterested in school and prefer not to attend despite the effort being made to engage 
them due to a combination of reasons: low academic ability, cultural and reasons, unsuitable and irrelevant curriculum, lack of any other kind of alternative 
educational provision. 
Evidence: Data from MTCBC databases which records the academic achievements of Secondary aged GT pupils conveys that only a few GT pupils have left 
school with academic qualifications. Many GT pupils choose to drop out of secondary school and even if they do attend, they are unhappy in such a formal 
setting. They need an alternative which provides vocational or work-based learning alternatives.
 Actions taken /not taken
A lack of funding has meant that there is not enough provision, resources or staff to succeed with secondary aged GT pupils. Despite constant attempts to 
engage them in some sort of educational provision, our efforts are limited by a lack of staff, resources and enough alternative educational provision. 
Barriers
Lack of funding has resulted in staff cuts and cuts in resources. There is only 1 GT staff member working in Educational Inclusion now and this means that 
there is not enough staff to take the GT children on trips or to organize events in the local community centre. The community centre is also currently 
unsuitable for classes; a lack of funding and accountability means that its upkeep has not been maintained and it is unfit for purpose. 

P
age 163



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Merthyr CBC

Dear Colleagues,

Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant (MEAG)

We have now received the final version of the grant terms and conditions from Welsh 
Government and have been working with the five Local Authorities to agree the delegation of 
this grant to schools / LA’s.  

The Directors have agreed to continue funding this element of the grant and that it will 
continue to be delegated to local authorities in the same proportion as in 2016/17 further to 
the 0.62% grant reduction.  

Please find a summary of this allocation for 2017-18 below:

EDUCATION IMPROVEMENT GRANT Indicative Amount
£

Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant ( Merthyr ) 95,976

In order to disclose how this grant will be spent and to enable us to monitor spend, in line 
with the terms and conditions, I have attached an improvement plan template.

I would be grateful if you could complete this proforma and return to Craig Flynn, Senior 
Accountant no later than Friday 22nd September 2017.  If you have any queries, please do 
not hesitate to contact me.

Yours faithfully

Louise Blatchford

Senior Lead Business & Operations

Central South Consortium

Page 165



Merthyr CBC : MINORITY ETHNIC ACHIEVEMENT GRANT

Budget 2017-18 £95,976

Performance Measures Baseline Targets / Success Criteria

Priority One Pupil Progress

% A-D pupils who have made progress 
Feb 2018 (68% )
% A-B pupils who have made progress 
Feb 2018 (72%)

75%

Priority Two Pupil Progress

% A-D pupils who have made progress 
Feb 2018 (68%)
% A-B pupils who have made progress 
Feb 2018 (72%)

75%

Priority Three Pupil Progress

% A-D pupils who have made progress 
Feb 2018 (68%)
% A-B pupils who have made progress 
Feb 2018 (72%)

75%

Priority Four Number of racist incidents 0 incidents 

Priority Five Pupil Progress 75%

KEY ACTIONS MILESTONES (DEC 17) MILESTONES (APRIL 18 )

Priority 1 – to improve learner outcomes Data based on Feb 2018 returns.

Support targeted on pupils at levels A and B.
Priority 2 - To monitor pupil progress using the 
WG 5 stage model and target support where 
needed most.

Support targeted on pupils at levels A and B. 
Progress monitored on a termly basis using the 5 
Stage Model. Individual teaching plans, EAL targets 
and progress checklists provided for pupils who 

P
age 166



had made little or no progress. Monitoring 
assessments carried out for newly arrived pupils 
and at school request for pupils making below the 
expected progress.

Priority 3 - To establish a comprehensive 
training programme for schools and to provide 
bespoke training on moderation and 
assessment. 

Comprehensive training programme delivered 
2017-2018, open to all school-based staff. EAL 
Team training provided at the beginning of each 
half term with focus on specific aspects. Bespoke 
training delivered to schools on request.

Priority 4 - To provide schools with resources to 
address bullying issues and a framework for 
improving wellbeing. 

Termly bullying returns
Production and training on Wellbeing and 
supporting low level  mental health. 

Priority5 - To work with colleagues in the 
community to foster good lines of 
communication with families and to establish 
“Reading Café” in schools.

Corporate approach to parental engagement.
Number of after school clubs accessed by parents. 

MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY ONE: Strong  Leadership 

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact Dates) Milestones Monitoring

To work in line with 
the priorities of the 
Education 
Department to 
improve learner 
outcomes, wellbeing 
and inclusion in order 
to safeguard all 
pupils; track 
performance in order 
to provide effective 
coordination of 
staffing and 

 Established new delivery plan of 
timetabled support

 Monitoring pupil progress using the 
WG 5 stage model and target support 
where needed most

£96,575 for 
staff and 
resources 

new 
training 
programme 
as from 
Sept 2017 

Half-termly 
review of 
timetable 

Termly monitoring of 
progress
Half-termly 
monitoring of 
timetable

 

P
age 167



resources; build 
capacity within the 
EAL team and schools

MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY TWO:  High expectations and effective analysis of data 

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact Dates) Milestones Monitoring

EAL team will take 
the strategic lead on 
the use of data for 
raising achievement 
and narrowing the 
gap on outcomes;  
effective use of data 
to monitor progress 
and provide support 
accordingly

 Established a comprehensive training 
programme for schools and to provide 
bespoke training on moderation and 
assessment.

 Identify pupils that are not making 
expected progress and provide advice, 
guidance e.g. resources and strategies 
to trial. 

 Conduct an annual exercise to verify 
the EAL levels of pupils making the 
transition to Yr7.

£96,575 for 
staff and 
resources

 Training 
programme 
in place for 
2017-2018

June 2018

Termly EAL 
returns

Monitor training 
uptake

Yr6 Pupil 
assessment

Termly monitoring of 
progress

Half-termly 
monitoring of 

timetable

EAL assessments in 
reading, spelling and 
writing; National Test 

data

MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY THREE: Effective Teaching and Learning 

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact Dates) Milestones Monitoring

To build capacity 
within teaching and 

support staff to 
better address the 

specific needs for EAL 
pupils; promote IT 

 Established a comprehensive training 
programme for schools and EAL team, 
and to provide bespoke training on 
moderation and assessment.

 To provide school and LA staff with 

Termly EAL 
returns

Monitor training 
uptake

Termly monitoring of 
progress
Half-termly 
monitoring of 
timetable
Half-termly Team 

P
age 168



"Nessy" programme 
to enhance English 
language; support 

pupils in taking 
examinations in their 

home language; 
deliver Read Write 
Inc in line with LA 

steer;  deliver 
effective training 

programme to meet 
the ever increasing 

and complex needs of 
this cohort  

skills and resources to support EAL 
pupils e.g. signposting to Hwb 
resources, Pori Drwy Stori resources, 
individual EAL targets and teaching 
plans 

 Provide the EAL Team with  a 
structured work programme targeted 
at vocabulary extension, sentence work 
and reading for understanding

 Carry out initial assessments of English 
language ability for all new arrivals, and 
follow up with monitoring assessments 
to ensure progress.

 Provide schools with targeted teaching 
plans, EAL targets and progress 
checklists for new arrivals

Monitor pupil 
progress 

Assess new 
arrivals

training
Monitoring 
assessments

MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY FOUR:  Ethos of tolerance, respect and inclusivity 

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact Dates) Milestones Monitoring

To continue to 
develop a culture of 
inclusion and respect 
for diversity; support 
schools in the 
delivery of this with 

 To provide schools with resources to 
support bullying.

 To continue to work with schools to 
improve pupil wellbeing- Resources 
Toolkit 

 Show Racism the Red Card to deliver a 

Termly 
monitoring of 

bullying 
incidents

Termly monitoring of 
bullying incidents

P
age 169



the anti-bullying 
Strategy; engagement 
in anti-bullying week; 
providing resources, 
training and 
workshops around 
diversity and 
inclusion; ensure that 
the resources 
available reflect the 
diverse nature of the 
borough
and

workshop at the Student Conference on 
16/11/17.

 To share resources for Anti-bullying and 
to promote Anti-bullying week activities 

MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY FIVE:   Parental /Community Engagement

What - focus Actions Resources When (Exact Dates) Milestones Monitoring

To continue to foster 
a culture of parental 
engagement and 
support; provide 
translatory 
assistance; to work 
with colleagues in the 
community and 
across the 
Department to 
improve 
communication with 
families.  

 Increase levels of parental engagement 
in order to improve pupil outcomes  
e.g. audit tool and Out of School 
Activities e.g. Ziggies  

 To continue to meet the needs of an 
increasingly diverse population.

 Establish “Reading  Cafes” in schools 

Termly EAL 
returns

Monitor training 
uptake

Data for those pupils 
involved 

P
age 170



XXXX Term Evaluations
Judgements about progress linked to the milestones

P
age 171



MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY ONE: Strong  Leadership 

What - focus Actions Judgements About Progress Linked To mIlestones, Actions Taken, Evidence

To work in line with 
the priorities of the 
Education 
Department to 
improve learner 
outcomes, wellbeing 
and inclusion in order 
to safeguard all 
pupils; track 
performance in order 
to provide effective 
coordination of 
staffing and 
resources; build 
capacity within the 
EAL team and schools

 Established new delivery plan of 
timetabled support

 Monitoring pupil progress using the 
WG 5 stage model and target support 
where needed most

 EAL data returns used to determine the level of support for each 
school using a defined formula.  Timetables revised termly, after EAL 
data is updated by schools.

 EAL data returns used to monitor progress. Pupils not progressing are 
highlighted and targeted for further assessment and individual 
teaching plans.

MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY TWO:  High expectations and effective analysis of data 

What - focus Actions Judgements About Progress Linked To Milestones, Actions Taken, Evidence

EAL team will take 
the strategic lead on 
the use of data for 
raising achievement 
and narrowing the 
gap on outcomes;  
effective use of data 
to monitor progress 
and provide support 
accordingly

 Established a comprehensive training 
programme for schools and to provide 
bespoke training on moderation and 
assessment.

 Identify pupils that are not making 
expected progress and provide advice, 
guidance e.g. resources and strategies 
to trial. 

 Conduct an annual exercise to verify 
the EAL levels of pupils making the 
transition to Yr7.

 Training programme devised and delivered. A total of 6 training 
courses were delivered as twilight sessions. Bespoke training 
provided to 4 schools.

 Individual teaching plans, targets and checklists provided to schoolos 
for pupils not making expected levels of progress. Advice, guidance 
and resources provided to schools.

 Annual verification exercise completed. Verified levels added to EAL 
data for Yr6 pupils making the transition to KS3.

MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY THREE: Effective Teaching and Learning 

What - focus Actions Judgements About Progress Linked To Milestones, Actions Taken, Evidence

To build capacity 
within teaching and 

support staff to 
better address the 

specific needs for EAL 
pupils; promote IT 

"Nessy" programme 
to enhance English 
language; support 

pupils in taking 
examinations in their 

home language; 
deliver Read Write 
Inc in line with LA 

steer;  deliver 
effective training 

programme to meet 
the ever increasing 
and complex needs 

of this cohort  

 Established a comprehensive training 
programme for schools and EAL team, 
and to provide bespoke training on 
moderation and assessment.

 To provide school and LA staff with 
skills and resources to support EAL 
pupils e.g. signposting to Hwb 
resources, Pori Drwy Stori resources, 
individual EAL targets and teaching 
plans 

 Provide the EAL Team with  a 
structured work programme targeted 
at vocabulary extension, sentence 
work and reading for understanding

 Carry out initial assessments of English 
language ability for all new arrivals, 
and follow up with monitoring 
assessments to ensure progress.

 Provide schools with targeted 
teaching plans, EAL targets and 
progress checklists for new arrivals

 Training programme devised and delivered. A total of 6 training 
courses were delivered as twilight sessions. Bespoke training 
provided to 4 schools.

 A total of 7 training days were arranged for the EAL Team
 Read, Write, Inc refresher delivered
 Schools informed of British Council EAL Nexus resources and 

resources on the WG HWb website. Schools signposted to other 
resources appropriate for EAL learners as required. Teaching plans, 
individual targets and checklists provided for pupils not making 
expected levels of progress.

 EAL Team working to structured work programme targeting main 
aspects of the 5 Stage Model at levels A, B and C. Work carried on 
Reading Comprehension to furnish EAL pupils with skills to enable 
them to sit National Tests.

 76 initial assessments and 41 monitoring assessments undertaken
 Workshops delivered to 80 delegates at the Breakthrough to 

Excellence Conference
 Training provided to EAL Team on Mastering Grammar

MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY FOUR:  Ethos of tolerance, respect and inclusivity 

What - focus Actions Judgements About Progress Linked To Milestones, Actions Taken, Evidence

To continue to 
develop a culture of 
inclusion and respect 
for diversity; support 
schools in the 
delivery of this with 
the anti-bullying 
Strategy; 
engagement in anti-
bullying week; 
providing resources, 
training and 
workshops around 
diversity and 
inclusion; ensure that 
the resources 
available reflect the 
diverse nature of the 
borough
and

 To provide schools with resources to 
support bullying.

 To continue to work with schools to 
improve pupil wellbeing- Resources 
Toolkit 

 Show Racism the Red Card to deliver a 
workshop at the Student Conference 
on 16/11/17.

 To share resources for Anti-bullying 
and to promote Anti-bullying week 
activities 

All schools engaged in Anti-bullying week; resources were shared. 
There was representation at the Student Conference in November 2017 from 

all 4 secondary schools, Greenfield Special School and the vast majority of 
primary schools; the area of focus was Wellbeing and Mental health.  

Training has been delivered to schools on how to support Low Level Mental 
Health using the Wellbeing Toolkit produced by Inclusion and the DVD 

produced by the Youth Forum. 
Bullying is to become a standing agenda item at the Safeguarding meeting for 

schools; current guidance is to be updated in line with WG guidance once 
received in December 2018. 

Awareness raising has been delivered on Wellbeing focusing on ACEs and 
Resilience. Information on what schools are doing to improve wellbeing is 

captured in via their self-evaluation reports on Safeguarding, Attendance and 
Behaviour.

Transgender Guidance produced and shared with schools. 
The School’s Safeguarding Policy has been updated for 201819. 

MERTHYR MEAG PRIORITY FIVE:   Parental /Community Engagement

What - focus Actions Judgements About Progress Linked To Milestones, Actions Taken, Evidence

To continue to foster 
a culture of parental 
engagement and 
support; provide 
8ranslator assistance; 
to work with 
colleagues in the 
community and 
across the 
Department to 
improve 
communication with 
families.  

 Increase levels of parental 
engagement in order to improve pupil 
outcomes  e.g. audit tool and Out of 
School Activities e.g. Ziggies  

 To continue to meet the needs of an 
increasingly diverse population.

 Establish “Reading  Cafes” in schools 

 Some schools participating in Ziggies
 Some schools have continued the Reading Café provision. This is not 

restricted to EAL pupils, but is open to all pupils to attend
 Parental Engagement is encouraged with parents of all pupils in order 

to improve outcomes across the board.
 There is to be a corporate approach to parental engagement. 

P
age 172



Barriers

 Awareness of EAL learner needs is a challenge for some schools, particularly those with isolated learners
 Budgetary cuts and constraints have reduced the level of support provided by the EAL Team
 Lack of language skills to support new arrivals from Bulgaria, Romania and Hungary
 Lack/late notification of information from WG about the funding position
 Older pupils arriving with little or no English, particularly those joining at key points in the education system (Yr6, Yr9, Yr10, Yr11)
 Frequent new arrivals throughout the year and lack of information from schools to trigger EAL needs assessment
 Some classes have large numbers of EAL pupils with minimal English. This is challenging for teachers but also for pupils who may become over-

reliant on conversing in L1 with their peers
 EAL pupils born in Wales starting Nursery class with no English as they have only had experience of L1 at home. This results in a regular influx of 

pupils starting school with no English at EAL level A
 Pupils at EAL level D are not making progress because of the misconception that fluent speakers are also fluent readers and writers and 

therefore do not require support/differentiation.
 Lack of engagement with EAL training programme.

Waiting times for CAMHS appointments. 
Lack of parental engagement. 

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Play Sufficiency Assessment

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The local authority has been working in accordance with its latest Play Sufficiency 
Assessment (PSA 2016) as previously agreed by Council and approved by Welsh 
Government.

1.2 This report identifies the progress made between 2013 and 2016 and provides a 
position statement for 2017 by the Play Steering Group through the annual action 
plan implementation.  This work will contribute towards a full assessment of play 
sufficiency that will be required to be submitted to Welsh Government in 2019. 

1.3 The report also identifies how the authority has been able to respond to funding 
opportunities in order to improve the ‘play environment’ and ‘access to play’ in 
response to identified local needs. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Progress against the 2017 action plan and the additional funding secured for play 
across the county borough is noted.

2.2 A further report is brought to Cabinet in 2019 outlining the priorities which are 
identified through a full Play Sufficiency Assessment of Merthyr Tydfil.

Date Written 17th July 2018
Report Author Diane Jones / Mary Eaton
Service Area Community Wellbeing 
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 175

Agenda Item 13



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1   In 2010 the Welsh Government (WG) set out their commitment for play in the 
Children and Families (Wales) Measure.  It outlined the responsibility of local 
authorities to assess the sufficiency of play opportunities and publish the results.  In 
July 2014 WG enacted the second part of the Measure (sections 11(3) and 11(4)) 
which increases the responsibility of local authorities who now have to secure “as far 
as reasonably practicable” play opportunities having due regard to their Play 
Sufficiency Assessment (PSA).

3.2 Since this date Merthyr Tydfil has produced 2 Play Sufficiency Assessments with a 
third being required to be submitted to Welsh Government by April 2019.  The 
implementation of annual action plans in response to these assessments have been 
overseen by the Play Sufficiency Steering Group, whose membership (internal 
departments and external organisations) was previously agreed by Council in 2013 
as a result of the introduction of the Play Sufficiency duties.  Progress has been 
reliant upon securing additional resources to take forward actions as there are no 
core resources associated to play within the local authority budgets. 

4.0 PROGRESS AND ASSESSMENT MESSAGES FOR 2019

4.1   The Play Sufficiency Assessment consists of a prescribed set of 112 indicators that 
is required to be completed by all local authorities across Wales.  The toolkit utilises 
a traffic light system to categorise the extent to which the local authority is achieving 
each indicator.  Through this approach Merthyr Tydfil is able to compare progress 
against the previous assessments below.

4.2 During the 2016 assessment it became clear that the established categorizations did 
not adequately represent the evidence presented.  A new category was introduced 
(Yellow).  This enabled the services to identify where good features existed in amber 
categories and yet fell just short of being classed as fully achieved (green).

Independent 
Assessment

PSA 2013 PSA 2016

RED AMBER GREEN RED AMBER YELLOW GREENOverall
Assessment

Indicators 112
23 58 31 14 44 26 28

4.3 As in previous years the Play Sufficiency Assessment (PSA) Action plan has been 
developed on a no cost/low cost basis replicating, the approach the Council approved 
since early 2013.  This approach requires all partners to work more collaboratively 
especially as the authority is not a direct provider of play provision and has no current 
resources allocated for play or play development.  A clear strategic drive has led to a 
more joined-up way of working and improved coordination in the interests of improving 
children’s play opportunities, across the County Borough, enabling partners to be 
more proactive rather than reactive in their approach. 

Page 176



4.4 Since the 2016 assessment there has been steady progress on the areas identified for 
further development.  An internal assessment of progress by the steering group 
suggests the following position statement for play sufficiency across the county 
borough: 

4.5 The following priorities are currently the focus for the steering group and a copy of 
the 2017/18 progress review is attached as Appendix A:

 Matter B: Identify low cost model of provision, which utilizes the outdoor space at 
Glyn Mill.

 Matter C: Increase the accessibility and usability of open space and designated 
play areas.

 Matter D: Continue to review the use of the Childcare and Play grant for better 
effect for play based provision.

 Matter F: Use the DEWIS portal and newsletters to further promote play and play 
opportunities to residents of Merthyr Tydfil.  

 Matter G: Support Out of School Childcare providers, to gain play work 
qualifications to meet the new regulatory requirements of the National Minimum 
Standards.

 Matter H: Children, young people and communities encouraged to become 
involved in consultation exercises.

 Matter I: Identify and pilot schools to implement the use of school grounds for 
play beyond the teaching day.

4.6 Planning for a new Play Sufficiency Assessment (PSA) is currently underway whilst 
the national approach to the structure of the Sufficiency Assessment is being refined 
by Welsh Government and lead organisations for Play across Wales.  Merthyr Tydfil 
due to the lack of internal capacity for play will be seeking the support of an 
appropriately experienced organisation to produce the 2019 Play Sufficiency 
Assessment (PSA), in partnership with the steering group. 

5.0 ADDITIONAL FUNDING FROM WELSH GOVERNMENT

5.1 In March 2018, the Children’s Minister announced £1.7m funding boost for play in 
Wales, to expand and improve play opportunities for children and young people, 
across local authority areas.  The purpose of the funding was to enable the local 
authority to continue to secure sufficient play opportunities for children in the area as 
identified in the Local Authority’s Play Sufficiency Assessment and Action Plans and 
in line with Welsh Government terms and conditions.  This included ensuring the 
funding was utilised within the 17/18 financial year. 

PSA  Action Plan  2017
RED AMBER YELLOW GREENOverall

Assessment
Indicators 112

14 32 30 36

Page 177



5.2 A few months before the funding announcement, having experienced the late 
release of funding by Welsh Government  in previous years,  the Play Sufficiency 
steering group worked with partners to collate a number of ‘off the shelf’ projects.  
These were assessed by a panel on behalf of the steering group to ensure they met 
local priorities in line with the assessment and action plan.  The local authority was 
initially awarded £12,737.00 but through this proactive approach was able to access 
additional resources within the All Wales Play Opportunities Grant; eventually 
securing an investment in Play of £29,877.00  which was utilised as follows: 

 space available for children to play 
o Improvement and developments to open space play areas Sandy Park in 

Penydarren. 
o New play equipment for Thomastown Park.
o a new piece of equipment to supplement the site at the top of Heolgerrig.

 supervised provision 
o Real Play Programme to increase family engagement opportunities through 

play and physical activity.
 securing and developing the workforce 

o Training opportunities to upskill the current workforce in Play work level 3 
qualifications.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1   There are no financial implications as a result of this report however future progress 
of the Play agenda and associated action plans will continue to be dependent upon 
individual departments and any external resources secured.  This will maintain the 
approach previously agreed adopting a low cost/no cost basis. 

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 178



Appendix A – Play Sufficiency Review (2017-18)

Play Sufficiency Review 2017-18

Name of local authority: Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Name of responsible officer: Chris Hole

Job title: Head of Service, Community Wellbeing

Date of completion: 12th June 2018

 

P
age 179



6

Report on Progress of the Play Sufficiency Action Plan 2017-18 
Forward planning priorities:

RAG Status:
o Red—no progress made
o Amber—some progress made
o Green-Action achieved

Matter A: Population
Criteria

(as under PSA toolkit)
Targets 2017/18 Objectives achieved / Progress during 

2017/18 
Red/Amber/Green 

rating
with explanation if red 

or amber
There is data broken 
down by Lower Super 
Output Areas (LSOA’s)

Identify an appropriate mechanism for 
collating data and using it to plan for play 
services.

Use an existing management information 
system to record attendance and 
engagement in play provision that the 
Authority delivers and commissions.

LA don’t commission play so do not gather any 
data.  However, elements of play have been 
incorporated into the terms and conditions of 
the Legacy Fund.

Amber

Matter B: Providing for diverse needs
Criteria

(as under PSA toolkit)
Targets 2017/18 Objectives achieved / Progress during 

2017/18
Red/Amber/Green 

rating
with explanation if red 

or amber

P
age 180



7

The play requirements of 
all children are 
understood and 
provided for, to meet 
their needs

Play Steering group partners to help 
identify other groups who would benefit 
from inclusive play training.

A total of 19 providers signed up to the 
Amber/Green Scheme, funded through 
Families First project.
100% participants received training
100% participants reported positive outcomes
16 settings achieved Amber status
12 settings achieved Green status

Unfortunately, the scheme ended in March 
2018 with the review of Families First.

Welsh language support and development with 
the Urdd – launched 3 after school sports 
clubs, in Santes Tudful, Rhyd-Y-Grug and 
Pantysgallog.  Also 3 community clubs in 
operation in Aberfan, Dowlais and 
Georgetown.  All sessions are run bilingually.

Transgender Inclusion Toolkit Guidance for 
children and young people in schools and 
other settings, produced in conjunction with the 
Vale of Glamorgan. A copy has been sent out 
to all schools and partners.

Physical literacy pre-school programme 
Melody Movers is a new interactive music 
movement set-up in 2017.  Its aim is to provide 
opportunities that are fun and to encourage 
parents/carers to also participate in with their 
children.  A total of 7groups received taster 
sessions.  

Green

P
age 181



8

All pre-schools invited parents/carers to 
attend the sessions so they were able to 
participate with their children and learn more 
about the community provision.  A total of 8 
families transitioned into the community 
provision.

Further work will continue with Melody 
Movers with plans on expanding their 
community provision.

P
age 182



9

Identify low cost model of provision, which 
utilises the outdoor space at Glyn Mill.

The Community Centre on the Glyn Mill site is 
now in operation.  (However, the health and 
safety and governance of the building remain 
an ongoing issue).

The education homework club was re-
established, 2 afternoons a week.  (This is no 
longer in progress due to the health and 
safety).

In collaboration the Youth Service and Street 
Games Street delivered boxing sessions in 
November 2017.  However the Street based 
team did not deliver boxing sessions in 
February 2018 due to lack of interest. This to 
be reviewed with the recruitment of a Gypsy 
Traveller Officer, through the LA.

A parent and toddler session was piloted in 
November 2017 however, with the loss of the 
Bridges project coming to an end in March 
2018 this project was not developed further.

Free resources have been sought to support 
the developmental of a parent and toddler 
group, at the Glyn Mill Travellers Site.

A new LA Gypsy Traveller post has been 
established, the new person to start at the end 
of June 2018.

Amber

Registered staffed provision to undertake 
the access audit and identify actions for 
improvement.

The health and safety and governance of the 
Glyn Mill Community Centre remain an issue to 
providing activities at the site.

No progress

Red

P
age 183



10

Matter C: Space available for children to play
Criteria

(as under PSA toolkit)
Targets 2017/18 Objectives achieved / Progress during 

2017/18
Red/Amber/Green rating
with explanation if red or 

amber
The Local Authority has 
undertaken an Open 
Space Assessment 
(OSA) that maps areas 
that are used, or might 
be used for playing as 
listed in the Statutory 
Guidance

The Ward analysis and accessibility maps 
(appendix 4) contained in the OSS should 
be used to provide guidance on 
maintaining formal and informal play 
space across the LA.

Information is regularly uploaded onto the FIS 
database. 

Generic Play record has been entered onto 
Dewis.

Richard Bedford (planning), adding information 
on parks, open spaces, football spaces, 
community centres & leisure centre.

Geography Information System (GIS) - Dewis 
Cymru contains a resource directory which 
maps provision such as childcare, play 
provision, youth services etc., across the 
borough.  An embedded search will populate 
parks and open spaces.  All information has a 
shelf life of 6months, only live once authorised 
by an editor within the LA this is a 
safeguarding measure and quality check to 
ensure information is kept updated. 

This is work in progress.

Amber

P
age 184



11

Increase the accessibility and usability of 
open space and designated play areas.

The development of Sandy Park, Hayden 
Terrace,  

- extended circular foot path to allow for 
toddler trikes.

- designed and constructed living willow 
structure in association with the local 
school children.

- planting of colourful evergreen shrubs 
on the steep embankments surrounding 
the play area.

This project is ongoing.

There is also another five Priority Open 
Spaces identified in addition to Hayden 
Terrace that have been improved to extend 
play provision:

Nant Llwynog in Bedlinog; Honeysuckle Close 
in the Gurnos; Pentrebach Recreation Ground 
in Pentrebach; the Incline in Town and 
Maple Crescent Trefechan in Vaynor.

All the above are under development of ideas 
as present.

New equipment being installed in Thomastown 
Park.

Amber

The Local Authority 
includes children and 
families in any 
consultations regarding 
decisions to dispose of 
playing fields

Play Sufficiency group to engage with 
Corporate and Estates and the Planning 
Department to develop a process for 
information sharing.

Partners currently on the Steering Group. Amber

Matter D: Supervised Provision

P
age 185



12

Criteria
(as under PSA toolkit)

Targets 2017/18 Objectives achieved / Progress during 
2017/18

Red/Amber/Green rating
with explanation if red or 

amber
Staffed play provision 
that Local Authority 
provides meets the 
regulatory requirements 
and National Minimum 
Standards

Review current contracted services to 
ensure that the provision is meeting quality 
issues.

Undertake quality play audits in staffed 
settings in line with statutory guidance.  
Monitor access by children through a 
quality process. 

Working in partnership with CPCKC, there are 
currently 13 after school clubs across the 
borough: 
CIW registered - 9
Unregistered - 4

An annual Business Assessment Toolkit (BAT) 
is carried out and the quality of each provision 
is rated against a traffic light scoring system 
(RAG):
Red – 1
Amber – 6 (Busy Bees closed)
Green – 6

More intensive support is provided to those 
groups who are rated red and amber.

Amber

P
age 186



13

Implement actions within the CSA Action 
Plan for play-based school holiday 
services.

The pilot SHEP programme (School Holiday 
Entitlement ‘Food & Fun’) was delivered, over 
a 3 week period, for a total of 12 days, in total, 
during July/August 2017.

There was no formal evaluation carried out, 
however, the programme was well attended. 

There were 788 children, in attendance during 
this time, with the majority of these children 
attending everyday.

The funding is to continue over the next 
5years.  Simon Rogers to provide a delivery 
project plan, in January 2018.

The Real Play programme promoting 
participation in play and physical activity 
opportunities.

16 members of staff from 7 Merthyr primary 
schools (list of school) completed the Real 
Play training and received the resources 
required to deliver family clubs. 

Green

Continue to review the use of the Out of 
School Grant for better effect for play 
based provision.

Set-up and pilot a partnership forum to explore 
and develop play opportunities in the 
community zone. Encourage joined up working 
to identify potential opportunities to enhance 
play opportunities.

The Childcare and Play grant to be reviewed at 
the steering group

Amber

Work with the Children and Young People 
Voluntary Organisations Forum (CYPVOF) 
facilitated by Voluntary Action Merthyr 
Tydfil to identify how members may 
facilitate opportunities for children’s play.

Attendance at the Children and Young Peoples 
Voluntary Organisation Forum (CYPVOF) to 
promote play opportunities.  

Distribute information on the play agenda 
through the membership.

Green

Matter F: Access to space/provision

P
age 187



14

Criteria
(as under PSA toolkit)

Targets 2017/18 Objectives achieved / Progress during 
2017/18

Red/Amber/Green rating
with explanation if red or 

amber
The Local Authority has 
an accessible and well-
known way of arranging 
temporary road 
closures, to support 
more children to play 
outside their homes

Review the current street closure 
procedure with the aim of reducing the 
associated costs and enabling 
communities to arrange regular temporary 
closures in support of children’s play.

Pilot a street play project, based upon 
identified community needs.

Merthyr Tydfil Housing Association has been 
delivering Street Sports within specific streets 
that have high density of children and young 
people living in and around them, Navigation 
Close and Brotalwg in the south of the borough 
and Thomas Dyke Close and Glanmore 
Gardens in the North. 

The project addresses a range of issues 
around holiday hunger, physical inactivity and 
affordable access to play provision.

Green

The Local Authority has 
a clearly identified 
section on its website 
which gives information 
about play opportunities 
as described in the 
Statutory Guidance (play 
areas, play provision, 
clubs and their 
accessibility)

Use the DEWIS Portal and newsletters to 
further promote play and play 
opportunities to residents of Merthyr. 

Providing information about play spaces on 
FIS website.

Generic Play record has been entered onto 
Dewis.

Play opportunities promoted on FIS website / 
Social media. 

Dewis working group established.

LA contracts include requirements of Dewis to 
register and keep updated.

Dewis information being collated on the Youth 
Support Services data collection database.

This continues to be work in progress.

Amber

P
age 188



16

The Local Authority 
widely uses on-site 
signposting to 
safeguard and promote 
play

Incorporate children’s play into 
media/marketing strategies.

.

Promote play and play opportunities through 
corporate communications.

Best Start, Best Future campaign was 
launched in September 2017 through to 
October 2017.  The aim was to educate 
parents/ carers about the importance of early 
childhood development and the benefits from 
using quality childcare.  The campaign reached 
1,074,536 people via the website, YouTube 
views, digital advertising, Facebook and Sky 
Ad smart TV advertising.

30 days of Play campaign, taking inspiration 
from Playday, this included a digital campaign 
running over 30days to encourage and inspired 
young people to play.  The campaign was 
launched on 2nd August, the UK’s national play 
day for play and run for 30days during the 
school summer holidays 2017.  The campaign 
reached 210,462 people via the website, 
YouTube, Playfest event, digital advertising 
and Facebook.

Playfest event October 2017, there were 278 
participants, the majority of families stayed all 
day, from 11am – 3pm.

Lego Pilot Project 2017/18, the aim of the 
project was to demonstrate if the equipment 
would increase attendance at Out of School 
Clubs and increase digital literacy with children 
and staff. 

Green

P
age 189



17

A total of 3 settings volunteered to take part in 
the pilot project Kidz Den, Treharris; @Play, 
Cefn Coed and Bridging the Gap Youth, 
Pentrebach.

A further 3 Lego packages were purchased for 
Funtazia Pentrebach/ Gurnos and Little Lambs 
Pentrebach. 

Play Wales Day – Tues 13th Feb
Stephen & George, Play Day Baby Bookworm 
Event, Dowlais Community Centre.

The local authority Family Fun Day 2017 was 
very successful with 957 attendees – 569 
children and 388 adults.

Matter G: Securing and developing the play workforce

P
age 190



18

Criteria
(as under PSA toolkit)

Targets 2017/18 Objectives achieved / Progress during 
2017/18

Red/Amber/Green rating
with explanation if red or 

amber
The Local Authority 
keeps up to date 
information regarding 
the workforce across the 
Local Authority (this 
should include the 
number of playworkers, 
play management 
structure, qualification 
levels, training 
opportunities and 
volunteers)

Implement RED actions from the Early 
Years, Childcare and Play Workforce 
Development Plan.

Home Life Conference April 2017 
recommendations – embed play within the 
generic workforce development agenda for 
family practitioners (an introduction to play and 
playwork theory workshop); elements of play 
incorporated into the new Families First SLA 
contracts.

An Introduction to Play and Playwork Theory 
workshop October 5th 2017.  There were 14 
participants with 71% stating the training was 
excellent.  

Managing Risk in Children’s Play, one day 
workshop, 23rd April 2018, delivered to16 
participants of these 94% rated the relevance 
of the training as excellent.  

Adult Learning Wales are delivering L2APP 
(Level 2 Award in Play work Practice) and 
MAHPS (Level 3 Managing a Holiday 
Playscheme).  Information on the FIS.

CPCKC Apprenticeship training for Level 
2/Level 3 in Playwork. 

Green

P
age 191



19

The Local Authority 
supports all of the 
workforce to achieve the 
qualification level 
required by the Welsh 
Government’s National 
minimum Standards

Consider in its planning how to support 
Out of School Childcare Providers, who 
are caring for children up to the age of 12, 
to gain playwork qualifications to meet the 
new regulatory requirements of National 
Minimum Standards. 

Work in partnership with CPCKC to support 
clubs. 

A total of 12 staff to date currently undertaking 
the Transition to Playwork qualification, 
CACHE Level 3 Award in Transition to 
Playwork (From Early Years)(QCF), to enable 
the childcare workforce within the county to 
meet the requirements, and to enable clubs 
who are not yet open/registered to do so.

Early Years sector can access the Early Years 
Training Directory funded via the LA. In 
2017/18 a total of 776 training opportunities 
were accessed. 

Green

The Local Authority 
supports the workforce 
to achieve the accepted 
qualification levels set 
out by SkillsActive??

Consider how to provide CPD 
opportunities for the wider workforce, this 
could be achieved by highlighting to 
stakeholders in play sufficiency; national 
training opportunities, conferences, 
workshops; as well as pursuing the 
feasibility of addressing priorities for the 
wider workforce with neighbouring Local 
Authorities.

Attendance at the Play and Public Health 
Conference.

Jonathon Martin, from the College, to attend 
the next Steering group meeting.

Green

Matter H: Community engagement and participation

P
age 192



20

Criteria
(as under PSA toolkit)

Targets 2017/18 Objectives achieved / Progress during 
2017/18

Red/Amber/Green rating
with explanation if red or 

amber
The Local Authority 
promotes initiatives to 
engage youth groups, 
school councils, school 
governing bodies, 
community groups and 
other relevant groups in 
enhancing play 
opportunities for 
children it its area

Children, young people and communities 
have been encouraged to become 
involved in consultation exercises through 
the review of Communities First and 
Families First.

Communities’ First consultation events, in-line 
with the Legacy fund going forward, elements 
of play incorporated into SLA contracts. 

Families First consultation events and 
recommissioning of services, elements of play 
incorporated into SLA contracts.

Sandy Park Family Fun Day and consultation 
with the local community took place in August 
2017.  The outcome of the consultation was 
the development of the site, outlined in Matter 
C, above.

Green

P
age 193



21

The Local Authority 
promotes community 
engagement in:

- making space 
available and 
suitable for play

- organising play 
events

- positive attitudes 
towards children 
and play

- training on the 
importance of 
play

Outreach Youth Workers, Youth and 
Community Workers and community 
organisations advocate for young people 
to ensure vulnerable young people are not 
restricted from playing within their own 
communities.

Police Fun Day August 2017 – the youth 
service engaged in the day with other partners.  
The event was well attended and successful.

Street Games & 3G’s Fit and Fed programme 
it ran over four days  during Oct half term.  
There were 50 participants, approximately 12 
attendees per day.  Each day the young 
people were offered various activities such as 
boxing, bodgeball, hockey, arts & crafts, 
football and various multi sport activities.

Green

Matter I: Play within all relevant policy and implementation agendas

P
age 194



22

Criteria
(as under PSA toolkit)

Targets 2017/18 Objectives achieved / Progress during 
2017/18

Red/Amber/Green rating
with explanation if red or 

amber
There is a named person 
on the Local Service 
Board who champions 
children’s play and 
ensures that the Play 
Sufficiency Assessment 
and Action Plan 
contributes to and are 
incorporated within the 
Single Integrated Plan

Put forward a credible argument as to how 
Play can contribute to an understanding of 
wellbeing, and how it can be a useful 
addition to the Wellbeing Plan or the 
Wellbeing Objectives that the LA must set 
out.

Focus on the Future document/Wellbeing 
objectives – more explicit reference to play and 
the benefits of play is required.

Amber

P
age 195



23

Schools provide play 
opportunities during out 
of school hours

Schools provide access 
to school grounds for 
playing out of school 
times

Identify and pilot school to implement the 
use of school grounds for play beyond the 
teaching day.

ZIGGIES started in Abercanaid in September 
2017.  They have 3 key volunteers that were 
trained by Ziggies staff and run the sessions 
every week.  

Coed y Dderwen started in November 2017.  
There were 4 volunteers trained, unfortunately, 
despite an enthusiastic parent volunteer who 
persevered, the Ziggies club in Coed-y-
Dderwen is no longer running, as parental 
take-up dwindled. 
.  
The other schools delivering the ZIGGIES 
programme are St Aloysuis, Goetre, Pant
and Trelewis.

Trelewis currently have a core group of 4 
parents who run this programme weekly, 
attend training and have an average of 15 
families who get involved.

Food and Fun School Holiday Enrichment 
Programme (SHEP) – Goetre Primary School. 
(Refer to Matter D)

A pilot Pop Up Play programme was delivered 
to 22 out of 23 primary schools.  The 
programme provides a bag of play equipment 
that can be utilised in any environment to 
facilitate free play.  This has been used by 
primary schools on the yards at lunchtime, 
supporting additional physical activities. 

Green

P
age 196



20

The Local Authority 
offers the provision of 
insurance through the 
Local Authority scheme 
to all third sector play 
providers and 
community councils

Review the Corporate Asset Transfer 
Policy to consider corporate support such 
as insurance and inspection fees when 
considering an asset transfer.

The community organisation Rental Policy was 
adopted in December 2015.

Amber

P
age 197



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Flying Start Programme Performance    

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to inform elected members and colleagues of the 
performance of Flying Start within Merthyr Tydfil, focusing on 2 critical aspects of 
both childcare and Health.  Where possible national benchmarking data has been 
utilised from the Flying Start statistical release 2018 and supplemented by local data 
from Cwm Taf University health Board (CTUHB). 

1.2 With no national child development outcomes available to benchmark the outcomes 
of children engaging in pre-schools against, the department will produce a further 
report focusing on the Foundation Phase compact outcomes and the early Language 
development and parenting outcomes in the Autumn, as data is currently being 
collated and analysed for the 17/18 academic year.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The contents of the report are noted.

2.2 A further report based upon local performance within the Foundation Phase 
compact, early language development outcomes and parenting will be produced 
within the autumn and be brought back to Cabinet thereafter.

Date Written August 2018
Report Author Chris Hole 
Service Area Community Wellbeing 
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 199

Agenda Item 14



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Flying Start is an early intervention, geographically targeted programme aimed at 
children 0-47 months and their families. There are 4 core entitlements including: 
funded part time childcare for 2-3 year olds, an enhanced health visiting service, 
access to parenting support and access to Early Language Development support. 
Flying Start locally also offers a number of other elements in response to identified 
need including family support and targeted midwifery services. Merthyr Tydfil 
remains as having the highest percentage of its population with access to Flying start 
(42% of 0-47mth population) through a cap figure of 1204 children. In total 1,311 
children benefitted from the programme over the year out of a population of 2,964. 

3.2 Whilst this report enables comparisons against national benchmarks for 16/17 
published in 2018, both local data and associated health data have been provided to 
illustrate some of the challenges within the population and faced by services. 

3.3 The national benchmarking report for Flying Start has been undergoing changes 
during the past 12 months meaning that not all data is comparable to previous years 
and some data will cease to be published. One set of data that will cease to be 
published is that of the percentage of children achieving their developmental 
milestones. It is believed that in future years after a period of stability this will be 
replaced by the Foundation Phase Compact. Therefore a further report based upon 
local performance within the Foundation Phase compact, early language 
development outcomes and parenting will be produced within the autumn.

4.0 CRITICAL COMPONENTS

4.1 Childcare and Education: One of the core components of the programme is to 
provide access to pre-school support for children and linking effectively with 
Education. Merthyr Tydfil has continued to see good progress in this area both in the 
number of offers made to eligible children and the take up by parents of either a full 
or part time childcare place.  This has been achieved through the development of 
new processes between the local authority and Cwm Taf University Health Board 
(CTUHB) Health Visiting services. This has increased the number of families being 
offered childcare to 333 with 322 families taking this up out of a maximum possible of 
337 within the eligible age group.  

% eligible children offered a
childcare place

% eligible children taking up
childcare offer

91%
100%

82%

100%96% 94%99% 97%

Childcare offered and taken up

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

Data  Source: Welsh Government Termly Monitoring for Flying Start Page 200



4.1.1 When comparing the take up of childcare Merthyr Tydfil Flying Start is ranked 
as 2nd in Wales and significantly above the Welsh Average of 87%. 

4.1.2 The education data recorded through the national report identifies the 
percentage of children both Flying Start and non-Flying Start on a school roll 
in a maintained school using the PLASC data submitted by the local authority.  
This demonstrates that good progress has been made in both flying start 
areas to improve this percentage, the authority continues overall to be placed 
joint 2nd in Wales for this indicator alongside Swansea and Vale of 
Glamorgan. In relation to take up within Flying Start areas Merthyr is ranked 
joint 1st alongside Caerphilly, considerably above the Welsh average for 
Flying Start areas of 93%  

      % of children recorded on PLASC return at age 3

4.1.3 The data in relation to child development milestones has ceased to be 
published nationally and may in future be replaced with the Foundation Phase 
Compact which has been specifically developed for pre-schools. Merthyr 
Tydfil has been working in partnership with Welsh Government to develop this 
and associated guidance for settings as Merthyr Tydfil piloted an approach in 
16/17 which was previously reported to cabinet on 27th September 2017. A full 
analysis of the first year roll out during 17/18 academic year is currently being 
developed and will be brought back to Cabinet in the Autumn of 2018. 

4.1.4 Attendance at childcare sessions is not reported nationally and is therefore a 
local indicator without any comparison to other local authorities. However the 
data table below shows that improving the attendance of children after the 
take up of childcare continues to be a challenge across the area. After good 
progress in reducing unfilled spaces (those commissioned through the existing 
model but not required) in 16/17 we have seen a year of stability, however 
work is ongoing to identify how Merthyr Tydfil may amend its commissioning 
model to reflect changing requirements across the area.  It should be noted 

Page 201



that through the current model of commissioning Merthyr Tydfil Flying Start 
has 89% of childcare providers across the county borough registered to take 
Flying Start children. Through this registration each provider has to 
demonstrate a commitment to achieving all of the quality standards, systems 
and processes required by Flying Start. The net effect of this is the raising of 
quality across the sector through influencing practice in almost all providers. 

4.2 Health: Another core component of the Flying Start programme is to provide an 
enhanced Health Visiting service. This includes the local authority jointly 
commissioning 10.6 Health Visitors and a 0.4 team leader, plus community nursery 
nurses with CTUHB, to work with all Flying Start eligible families. The national 
performance data identifies that during 17-18 1231 children were allocated to Health 
Visitor caseloads. This represents an increase in a case load of 25 children on the 
previous year

4.2.1 Health team engagement with families (face to face contacts made) increased 
slightly during 17/18 to 8,350, one of only 10 authorities across Wales where 
engagements did not decrease. However the data also identifies that Merthyr 
Tydfil has seen a decrease in engagements by health visitors from 6.1 
contacts per child to 5.3 contacts per child on caseloads.  Increases have 
been seen in the wider health team engagements where this figure has 
increased from 0.7 per child in 16/17 to 1.5 contacts per child on the 
caseload. These figures for health visitors and the wider health team rank 
Merthyr Tydfil as 6th and 12th in Wales respectively. 

4.2.2 Live births across Merthyr Tydfil (711) decreased in 2016 in comparison to 
2015 (743) however of the births 41% (288) were in a Flying Start area. There 
are several indicators focused on within the national benchmarking report 
(births, breastfeeding, immunisation) however due to its importance to child 
development and their future outcomes the following data on births with a 
healthy birth weight has also been included below, from data supplied by 

Page 202



CTUHB.  A healthy birth weight is identified nationally as being above 
2500grams. Merthyr Tydfil has seen this low birth weight indicator remain 
stubbornly high over the past 2 years across both Flying Start (24 <2500g) 
and non-Flying Start (49<2500g) areas.  

2013 2014 2015 2016

5.5% 5.2% 5.2% 5.4%

7.2%
6.5%

6.1% 6.3%
6.7%

7.1%

6.1% 6.1%

All  Singleton live births 
(weight under 2500g)

All Wales

Cwmtaf

Merthyr

4.2.3 Children receiving breast milk at 10 days old for Merthyr Tydfil is identified as 
18% in Flying Start areas and 32% in non- Flying Start areas. This places 
Merthyr Tydfil well below the Welsh Average for both indicators which are 
34% and 50% respectively. The data published by Welsh Government relates 
to 2016 however more up to date data is available locally for Flying Start 
areas. This data demonstrates improved performance across all 3 breast 
feeding indicators during 2017 and reflects the focus that has been placed on 
midwifery support and consistency of early intervention messages with 
parents. The 2017 data in relation to the 10 day indicator, will after verification 
be published in the 2019 stats release by WG. 

0%
7% 5.5% 7.1%

3%

10% 10.9%
16.6%

6%

16% 17.6%

20.3%

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

Proportion of Flying Start babies receiving 
breast milk following birth

 10 days following birth*

6 weeks following birth*

6 months following birth*

Page 203



4.2.4 The percentage of children being fully immunised by their 4th birthday has also 
seen good progress and has increased from 89% to 91% in Merthyr Tydfil, 
ranking Merthyr Tydfil as joint 1st in Wales and now 6% above the Welsh 
Average. Within Flying Start areas there has been a 3% improvement during 
2016 with non-Flying Start areas remaining static over the same period.

4.2.5 Children having a healthy weight are measured as part of the Healthy Child 
Wales programme, for all residents aged 4-5. Within the national stats release 
for Flying Start the data identifies that Flying Start children are less likely to 
have a healthy weight (65.4%) compared to non-Flying Start children (67.8%). 
However there has been a narrowing of this gap since the 2017 stats release 
with an improvement in Flying Start areas of 1.5%. More localised data 
(CTUHB) brings these figures together and looks at the trends in performance 
in addressing this indicator. For 2016/17 overall Merthyr Tydfil is significantly 
behind the Welsh average of 72% or the Cwm Taf average. 

4.2.6 Although not published within the stats release but also closely related to both 
the healthy weight and breast feeding indicators is the number of dental caries 
encountered by children across Merthyr Tydfil. Dental caries amounts to the 
number of children who have experienced decayed, missing or have had 
fillings by the age of 5. 

14/15 15/16 16/17

68%
66% 67%

73% 73% 72%72% 71% 71%

% of children with "healthy 
weight" at aged 4-5

 Merthyr

Wales

Cwmtaff

2007/08 2011/12 2014/15

51.8%
58.6% 56.5%

41.4%
35.4% 34.2%

50.7% 46.3% 47.3%

Rates of children with dental 
caries (dmf) at age 5

Merthyr

Wales

Cwm Taf

Data  Source: Dental survey of 5 year old children (dmf) (decayed,missing or 

Page 204



5.0 KEY ISSUES IMPACTING ON FLYING START 

5.1 Unfilled Spaces: Merthyr Tydfil’s commissioning model for Flying Start was agreed 
in 2014 and developed a mixed economy approach with providers able to offer 
childcare to both Flying Start and non-Flying Start families.  The model allows the LA 
to purchase 40% of its requirement up front and then to purchase additional places 
as required.  This model has been successful in reducing unfilled spaces from the 
high of 15% seen in 2013.  However, with the increasing choice of providers across 
the county borough and the evidence that the current model does not jeopardise the 
financial stability of organisations it is proposed that the model be amended to 
reduce this 40% up front to 20%.  This will further reduce the amount of resource 
currently not utilised effectively on unfilled spaces and will support the principle of 
parental choice and increasing the quality of the wider sector. . 

5.2 Health Indicators - The range of indicators and the performance provided above are 
reliant upon early engagement with parents, especially during pregnancy. However 
the changes required to be made by families is often cultural meaning the indicators 
say far more about the changes required across the community, in its widest sense 
to really influence these indicators.  Investment in recent years has trialled some new 
approaches with Flying Start families including improved midwifery support to tackle 
smoking during pregnancy, attachment programmes and dental hygiene 
programmes in pre-schools.  

5.3 Welsh Government has been working in partnership with the Cwm Taf region to 
explore what an integrated early years' system may look like in the future.  These 
discussions have included how a family’s eligibility is determined for Flying Start, 
which currently is by geography. Consideration is being given to developing a 
vulnerability/ resilience profile for families with children 0-4 years, once developed 
consideration will be given to how it could be used to provide services based on 
need rather than geographical targeting.  Continuation of this work will determine the 
risks and benefits of this approach, although in the past Welsh Government have 
been keen for Flying Start not to be seen as accessible through a means tested 
approach.  Critical for Merthyr Tydfil will be the potential thresholds as there is a 
limited resource which may not meet the needs of all families that reach the 
thresholds for support.  As this work develops this will be reported to council before 
any  implementation  

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

Page 205



7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 206



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND REWARDS

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report summarises the business case to introduce employee benefits and 
rewards.

1.2 Officer of MTCBC received a presentation from iCOM Rewards in July 2018 detailing 
the offers and benefits that employees could access if iCOM Rewards were engaged 
with and accepted as the supplier.

1.3 iCOM Rewards are listed on the NPS framework and are the sole supplier for 
employee benefits, therefore this removes the need for tendering and the Council 
can award directly to iCOM Rewards.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 In July 2018 a provider (iCOM) of employee benefits presented options to MTCBC. 
The company iCOM Rewards presented the background of the company and how 
the rewards will work. There are several organisations which partner up with iCOM to 
offer these rewards e.g. Cycle Solutions which offer cycle to work schemes, Tusker 
Cars which offer fully leased and insured cars to employees under a salary sacrifice. 
Also there are multi chain retailers which offer discounts and offers e.g. B&Q, 
Prezzo, Tesco are some of the retailers. MTCBC can choose which benefits it offers 
to its employees. 

Date Written 10th September 2018
Report Author Fran Donnelly / Andrew Mogford
Service Area Human Resources
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 207

Agenda Item 15



2.2 A business case has been developed by MTCBC officers and it sets out the 
employee benefits(s) that can be accessed through a reward scheme.  By using a 
procurement framework MTCBC is able to engage with iCOM rewards. There will be 
no requirement for any tender or mini competition approach as there is only 1 
supplier on the NPS framework therefore it will be a direct award to the supplier.

2.3 Several other Welsh, and indeed UK wide, have chosen to purchase this offer with 
this provider.

2.4 There is no cost to the employee to have these benefits. There are offers that the 
employee can take advantage of which relate to salary sacrifices, these offers will be 
fully explained to the employee before the offer is accepted. 

2.5 iCOM have numerous offers and retailers within its umbrella and have over 400,000 
employees from other organisations and industries engaged in their scheme. This 
initiative will provide staff with the offers that encourages staff retention, staff feel 
recognised and rewarded.  By offering these benefits to employees the council is 
making itself competitive to retain current staff and also attractive to new employees. 

2.6 The benefits can be seen in the diagram below, (diagram taken from iCOM 
presentation).

Employee 
Benefits Hub

Cycle 2               
Work

Computer & 
Mob 
Devices 
(Sal 
deduction)

Retail and 
Leisure 
Savings

Long 
Service 
Awards

Reward 
Solutions

Employer-
work 
Benefits

Financial 
Wellbeing

Health & 
Wellbeing 
EAP

Health and 
Wellbeing 
Medical 
Plans

Childcare 
Vouchers

Green 
Car 
Scheme

Page 208



2.7 The Council can choose which of the benefits to offer employees from the benefits 
hub.  The cost to the Council will be the same if the Council were to offer one benefit 
or all of the benefits.  As such all benefits will be adopted.

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

3.1 There is a financial cost to implement £1,360.00 (£1,060 to setup the platform and 
£300 for the annual charge) the following years will be £300 thereafter.

4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 

ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Business Case – 
Employee Benefits

September 2018 Business Change team

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme – 
Quarter One Progress 2018-2019

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report provides an update on progress of the Change and Well-being 
Programme as of quarter one 2018/19.  The programme of changes for 2018/19 
have been developed and delivered through the following work-streams: Customer 
and Administrative Support Services; Outcome Focused Redesign (redesign of all 
our frontline services); and also the four well-being objectives which are, Best start to 
Life, Working Life, Environmental Well-being, Living Well.  

1.2 The MTCBC Change Programme is governed by the Change and Well-being 
Programme Board (CWPB).  The CWPB is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive. 
The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme works alongside the Budget Board 
to address the financial requirements of MTCBC.  The operational delivery of 
identified change programmes and projects is monitored via the MTCBC Change 
and Well-being Steering Group (CWSG).  

1.3 It should be noted that the current position for 2018/19 shows that delivery is at 96% 
of the anticipated savings this equates to a saving of £2,687,000 against a target for 
the programme of £2,786,000.  

1.4 The next steps regarding the change and well-being programme will be to continue 
to work on the delivery of change for 2018/19; deliver budget strategy work to design 
the MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme going forward; support the 
development of proposals and implementation to meet financial pressures and Well-
being objectives.  These proposals will follow the operating model design for the 

Date Written 3rd July 2018
Report Author Andrew Mogford
Service Area Transformation 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 211

Agenda Item 16



programme under the work-streams of:  Customer and Administration Services; 
Outcome Focussed Redesign; Social Services.  There could also be the 
reintroduction of Income and Procurement work-streams if proposals were identified 
and developed.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Cabinet Members will be aware of the ‘Provisional Revenue Monitoring 2018-19 – 
Quarter 1’ report presented to Cabinet on the 25th July 2018.  The report projects a 
net revenue deficit of £148,000.  This includes savings realised as part of the 
MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme.  The programme team is analysing 
further opportunities.

2.2 To arrive at this position, address the financial pressures of 2018/19 and going 
forward for MTCBC, three work-streams have been developed and will continue 
within the programme.  These are: Customer and Administration Service; Outcome 
Focused Redesign, and Social Services (redesign of our frontline services).  

2.3 Aligned with the statement of Well-being, the Council has 4 Well-being objectives 
these are:

2.3.1 Working Life:
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet needs of 

businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil 
an attractive destination

2.3.2 Environmental Well-being:
Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside

2.3.3 Living Well
 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 

they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.

2.3.4 Best Start to Life
 Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the 

skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals

2.4 The projects identified to help to deliver the objectives are: 

2.4.1 Environmental Well-being key projects are
 Waste depot redevelopment incorporating furniture reuse facility
 In-house management of HWRC
 Pengarnddu
 Green flag status for Thomastown Park
 Abercanaid School insulation
 Cyfarthfa High School lighting replacement
 Cyfarthfa lake walls remedial works

Page 212



2.4.2 Living Well key projects are
 Valleys Life
 Stay well @ Home Service
 Supporting People Pricing System
 GP Shared Welfare Service
 Community Zone
 Hidden Ambition care leavers

2.4.3 Working Life key projects are
 Development of Cyfarthfa Heritage Area
 Economic Growth Strategy
 Housing First Model (Homeless based project)
 Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station Development
 Townscape Heritage Programme
 YMCA redevelopment
 Prevention of Doorstep Crime and Scamming
 Development of a drug litter reporting app
 Divert 18-25
 Air Quality (Twynrodyn AQMA)

2.4.4 Best Start to Life key projects are
 Resilience
 Improving outcomes for Children Looked After
 School Holiday Enrichment Program

2.5 The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme is governed by the Change and 
Well-being Programme Board (CWPB).  The Change and Well-being Programme 
Board is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive.  The Change and Well-being 
Programme Board reviews change programmes and projects and has the authority 
to call on service managers and/or programme/projects managers to challenge and 
support them on the delivery of their programmes/projects.  

2.6 The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme works alongside the Budget Board 
to address the financial requirements of MTCBC.  As such this report supports the 
‘Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018-19 – Quarter 1 report (25th July 2018).  

2.7 The operational delivery of identified change programmes and projects is monitored 
via the MTCBC Change and Well-being Steering Group (CWSG).  The CWSG 
provides challenge and support to service managers and, in conjunction with the 
CWPB, hold managers accountable for delivering proposed savings.  The group 
comprises of MTCBC officers and is chaired by the Business Change Manager and 
is made up of staff members from Business Change, Legal, HR, Communications, 
Finance, Equalities, Risk and Consultation.  This approach allows the programme to 
maintain the pace required for delivery in implementing the work-streams outlined 
above.

Page 213



2.8 The Change and Well-being Programme Board and the Change and Well-being 
Steering Group will be widened to include the Well-being projects and proposals. To 
reflect this the group and board will then be called, Change and Well-being 
Programme Board and Change and Well-being Steering Group

3.0 PROGRESS – QUARTER ONE

3.1 To be able to manage the programme effectively, the work-streams have been 
categorised as follows:

Category Explanation
Blue Project 100% complete and savings accrued
Green Successful delivery of the project/programme to time, cost 

and quality appears highly likely and there are no major 
outstanding issues that at this stage appear to threaten 
delivery significantly

Amber Successful delivery appears feasible but significant issues 
already exists requiring management attention. These 
appear resolvable at this stage and if addressed promptly, 
should not present a cost/schedule overrun

Red Successful delivery of the project/programme appears to 
be unachievable. There are major issues on 
project/programme definition, schedule, budget required 
quality or benefits delivery, which at this stage does not 
appear to be manageable or resolvable. The 
Project/Programme may need re-baselining and/or overall 
viability re-assessed

3.2 The work-streams outlined below are to address changes required for 2018/19.  The 
current status of these work-streams (following the End of year report 2017/18) is 
summarised in the table below: 

Page 214



3.3 It should be noted that the current position for 2018/19 shows that delivery is at 96% 
of the anticipated savings (a saving of £2,687,000 against a target for the 
programme of £2,786,000).

3.4 There has been good progress made within the Customer and Administration 
Project. This has included improving the digital offering of on-line forms and 
streamlining process. 

3.5 Social Care projects remain red as options are currently being considered for each 
project continuing into financial year 2018/19. 

3.6 The Chief Officers have identified a number of projects for 2018/19 that relate to our 
well-being objectives. The well-being projects will follow the same governance 
arrangements as the change projects and will be reported to the Change 
Management and Well-being Steering Group.

4.0 Chief Officer Feedback

4.1 In 2017/18 the Business Change Team introduced a feedback mechanism from 
Chief Officers.  This is designed to ensure that the support provided meets the needs 
to delivery against corporate priorities.  

4.2 The feedback shows that the majority of support is required around project 
management (the main purpose of the team).  This provides a cost effective and 
joined up approach to project delivery.

Page 215



Page 216



4.3 Further analysis shows that 98% (4 of 176) of the questions feedback on regarding 
quality of support was ‘good’ or better.

4.4 This approach will continue to ensure the correct level and type of support is 
allocated to deliver change across MTCBC (including the identified Well-being 
projects).

5.0 Next Steps

5.1 To continue to work on delivery of change and well-being to meet the target for 
2018/19 also widen the scope of the programme to include the Well-being Projects 
(and bring forward any projects, or elements of projects, where possible).  

5.2 To finalise the Budget Strategy work and set out the programme of change and well-
being for the next two years and going forward.

5.3 Develop and support the implementation of proposals to meet the financial pressures 
and Wellbeing objectives.  These will be based on the operating model design for 
services and align to the Change Programme work-streams of: Customer and 
Administration Services; Outcome Focussed Redesign; and Social Services. There 
may be other services that will be identified as the year progresses and opportunities 
arise. These work-streams will be delivered by MTCBC with the Business Change 
Team working with key officers and departments from across the Council to 
implement the programme.  

5.4 To continue to monitor, challenge and support the delivery of the change programme 
via the CMSG and CMPB.

5.5 Monitoring of well-being projects will commence in Quarter 1 these will be reported in 
Quarter 2.

Page 217



6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1 It should be noted that the current position for 2018/19 shows that delivery is at 96% 
of the anticipated savings this equates to a saving of £2,687,000 against a target for 
the programme of £2,786,000.

6.2 Any redundancy costs will be accounted for centrally through the Finance Team.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of this 
report.  The outcomes are summarised below.    The form can be accessed on the 
Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.

7.2 Change and Well-being Programme Quarter 1 Progress – It has been found that a 
full assessment is not required at this time.  This report has a neutral impact on all 11 
of the protected characteristics.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

EQUALITY IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

July 2018 Business Change Team

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 218



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET – INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Community Zones - Update

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The report outlines the progress made to date on the regional initiative and the local 
developments of the Gurnos Community Zone within Merthyr Tydfil. 

1.2 The key priorities are identified within the next steps  for  further development of this 
initiative in line with the aims as set out in the regional plans approved by the Public 
Service Board (PSB)

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Members will be aware that through the Public Service Board a regional approach to 
Welsh Government was made to pilot Community Zones in 2 areas in Cwm Taf, one 
in Ferndale and one in the Gurnos.  The critical components of the community zone 
which were agreed by the Public Service Board are outlined below with further detail 
contained in Appendix A:  

 Develop a physical presence within the community.  Identifying a central point in 
the community as a ‘Community Hub’. 

 In the Community Hub, create a single point of contact (SPOC) for those 
requiring information, advice, support and intervention, integrating services in a 
way that links in with the IAA approach (Social Services Wellbeing Act). 

 Implement an integrated prevention, early identification and intervention 
framework that enable individuals and families to access non-stigmatised support 
as early as possible to prevent problems from escalating.  This ‘one public 
service’ model will provide the central mechanism for assessing need and 
resilience, identifying the most relevant support pathway and brokering support 
and co-ordinating interventions, for individuals and families. 

Date Written September 2018
Report Author Chris Hole 
Service Area Community Wellbeing 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 219

Agenda Item 17



 Create a robust community engagement and involvement approach embedding 
the co-production approach to listening to and working with the community.  

 Take a whole community approach to better understand and challenge the 
effects of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE’s), 

2.2  This report has been requested, in order to update elected members on the progress 
of the initiative to date and to inform on the future development priorities.  These 
priorities focus on the engagement of partners and the community, using the 
neighbourhood network model and establishing the model for the ‘local’ governance 
of the Community Zone.

3.0 PROGRESS TO DATE 

3.1 The main focus within Merthyr Tydfil has been on securing the Community 
Presence or ‘Hub’ - due to the impact losing the facility would have had on the 
range of co-located services already based from the facility within the Gurnos and on 
the community itself.  The securing of the facility included:  

 Tri-partite agreements reached on Chestnut Way facility with the facility owner 
Merthyr Valley Homes (MVH) and previous tenants 3G’s Development Trust.  
MVH role to manage the ‘hub’, and jointly funded hub manager, lease 
agreements in place with co-located services, avoiding the authority becoming 
responsible for the facility and its management.  MVH undertaken 
refurbishment and upgrades of some areas within the facility at no cost to the 
council to date. 

 Legacy fund investment enabled continuation of Forsythia Youth Project and 
agreed relocation to first floor of the ‘hub’ which in time will enable MVH to 
realise additional rents which have since been earmarked by the organisation to 
help sustain Forsythia in the longer term.  Also space set aside for community 
use within the second floor of the ‘hub’.

 The 3G’s Development Trust (3G’s) being relocated into their new creative 
industries facility within the ‘clinic’ at the rear of the ‘hub’ - however this move 
has been delayed due to ongoing building issues within the clinic.  Contract in 
place between the 3G’s and MTCBC to deliver on community development 
aspect of the Community Zone and support provision of information and advice 
to the community within the ‘hub’.

 Additional resources have been secured through the Integrated Care Fund  to 
reshape the public engagement area of the hub, to be a much more welcoming 
environment from which to access information and advice

3.2 The Wider Community - In reviewing the wider developments associated with 
taking this initiative forward the following has been achieved to date. 

 Lead for Community Zone and Learning appointed within the local authority 
enabling the development and production of a draft regional 5 year plan and one 
year local implementation plan as agreed by the PSB.  A review of the ground 
floor of the ‘hub’ facility in partnership with MVH conducted and a funding 
application has been submitted to support the refurbishment of this area and 
strengthen the ability to provide a ‘single point of contact’ approach within an 
appropriate and welcoming setting plus provide access to community space.

Page 220



 Community mapping and profiling is currently being completed by contracted 
organisation under the guidance of the lead and this information will be critical to 
the future development of both the neighbourhood network and the 
implementation group.  This is being conducted through an assets based 
approach.

 Community Zone and Learning Manager currently meeting with range of partners 
to discuss the community zone, improve organisations understanding of the aims 
of the programme, to discuss partner involvement and contributions to the 
community in preparation for a wider community engagement strategy.

 Cordis Bright commissioned to produce a vulnerability assessment for the county 
borough and differentiate for the Gurnos to identify key issues impacting on this 
community to aid future planning 

 Proposal received from MVH on the establishment of a local coordinating body 
which is being factored into the now agreed requirement for a local governance 
structure. 

4.0 KEY DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES

4.1 Develop and establish the neighbourhood network across the Gurnos, informal 
meetings with partners is underway and learning from RCT public engagement 
events has been gathered.  The key message being community engagement has 
worked best when it is conducted informally, based upon themed topics and limiting 
the statutory presence.  This has included using a framework around the themed 
topic of: what can I do for myself, what I can do with others, what can the Public 
services do for me.  A draft communication and engagement plan is attached as 
Appendix B.

4.2 Agree core representation for the local governance model.  There is a clear danger 
that the group becomes so large that it repeats the previous difficulties encountered 
through Communities First.  A model has been suggested by MVH the principles of 
which the leads for community zones would support.  Recent discussions have also 
highlighted the need for the inclusion of all elected members for the ward. 

4.3 Formalise the verbal agreements in place with key partners to implement the shared 
approach to providing information and support ‘single point of contact’ within the hub.  
This adoption of memorandums of understanding or other such agreements will 
provide all partners with a clear understanding of roles and responsibilities and 
evidence: changes in practice, partnership working and commitment of organisations 
to the priorities being taken forward. 

4.4 Agree model with social services to ensure ‘single point of contact’ as the hub is 
linked in with the future IAA strategy, potentially through an outreach or digital model. 

4.5 Develop an Ace informed workforce across the community ensuring they are better 
equipped to link individuals and families into community based services.  This 
includes building on the social prescribing model and the existing community 
coordinators, potentially extending this role to encompass a wider age range than 
currently in place. 

Page 221



4.6 From a regional perspective there is a need to agree an evaluation framework to 
judge the success or not of Community Zones in influencing outcomes for individuals 
and families, changing the delivery of services and what impact this approach has 
within the community.  

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. It should be noted 
there are no resources from Welsh Government to support this approach and 
therefore the success of the initiative is based upon partners engaging and being 
prepared to work differently.  

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER SOCIAL SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR                

SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 222



Community Zone Vision

The Hub: The aim of the local authority and MVH is to have the ‘hub’ facility fully 
operational by the end of October 2018, with all refurbishment work completed. This 
includes an operational single point of contact centre for the community, staffed through 
partnership working at the hub and utilised by a range of partner organisations. Some 
capital works are dependent upon current funding bids being successful. Whilst we have a 
range of services at the facility currently what is in place is a co-location of services rather 
than an integrated approach which will require a culture change from all organisations 
involved. 

Integrated Working & SPOC: Have effective practices in place for sharing ‘appropriate’ 
information with partners and an integration model which enables a Team Around the 
Gurnos approach. Supporting individuals and families to access the right services at the 
right time. This partnership approach will include looking at how data can be better utilised 
across agencies to identify and pre-emptively support those individuals and families that 
require early intervention and prevention services. A clear focus on preventing escalation 
and of exit strategies from this support will be required including a stepped down approach 
into community support structures, which it is recognised will need to be significantly 
developed in order to create a more resilient community.    

Community Engagement: Whilst the wellbeing plans and assessments provide a good 
insight into the regional issues further work is needed to look at data specific to the Gurnos 
and to obtain the lived experiences of the community. Having an effective neighbourhood 
network in place is critical to underpin the model and ensure organisations, agencies, and 
the community work together to identify key issues, co-produce potential solutions and 
challenge partners  to work differently ‘or pilot’  responses to these solutions. The aim for 
the neighbourhood network is to have developed a coproduced solution that can be ‘piloted’ 
by the end of year 1 of the initiative; one key issue has already been identified as a major 
cause for concern for the community.

Governance: A local governance group in place that has the right individuals involved who 
can make decisions and potentially reconfigure current service delivery to support the 
Community Zone priorities. The greatest challenge for all these services, particularly across 
the public sector will be that of supporting a place based ‘integrated’ approach within 
diminishing resources and with no community zone ‘allocated’ resource to take forward this 
initiative. Therefore the implementation group will need to lead on developing a cultural 
change, providing a robust degree of challenge to professionals and recognise professional 
boundaries when working across agencies/organisations.  This group will be required to 
drive forward change in response to the challenges a place based approach will bring and 
in response to the thriving communities priority within the wellbeing plan. 

Appendix A 

Page 223



Gurnos Pilot Community Zone and Proposed Engagement and Communication Plan

Context: Cwm Taf Public Service Board (PSB) & Well-being Plan & Children First Pilot Areas

As set out in Cwm Taf Public Services Board’s Well-being Plan published in May 2018, the PSB 
intends to develop Community Zones as an area or place based approach focussing support to 
improve outcomes for our areas with the greatest challenges as part of its objective to develop 
thriving communities. 

This approach is being piloted in two communities, Gurnos and Upper Rhondda Fach and is 
considered an ‘immediate step’, that is something that will be realised in the next one-two years. It is 
intended that learning from these communities will be used as the approach is rolled out across 
communities in Cwm Taf, with priority given to areas where there is greatest need, in the next two - 
five years. The objective is cross cutting and links to other objectives and steps. As other 
approaches are being developed they can be trialled within these pilot communities. The aim of the 
approach is for the PSB and all of its involved partners to work with communities to join up services 
in the heart of the community. The PSB wants to work with communities to make sure the resulting 
‘hub’ is what its citizens need. 

When children have difficult times or suffer abuse or distress it can often lead to poor outcomes for 
them as children as well as into adulthood. These are Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). 
Adverse outcomes are not inevitable, but the risk increases with increasing exposure to ACEs. 
Conversely, preventing ACEs can improve outcomes greatly, that is why preventing ACEs has been 
put at the centre of the Community Zone approach. By working together the PSB will develop 
vulnerability profiles, share information across partners to target support to those who need it most, 
provide training and skills with staff and communities to prevent and reduce the effect of ACEs to 
help all our citizens thrive. It was agreed for the Children First approach will have tackling ACEs at 
its heart, however, it is acknowledged that the building of resilience to achieve sustainable change 
would require a whole family approach. It was also felt that a resilient community required the 
engagement and investment o the whole community and as such any place-based approach should 
be as inclusive as possible. 

There are a wide range of interventions and services delivered across the two pilot areas, and 
across Cwm Taf; however much of this provision could be more effectively co-ordinated or 
organised. At present the main drivers for the delivery of support are legislative frameworks, grant 
funding criteria, existing commissioning arrangements and the current skill base of providers as 
opposed to the needs of families and communities across the region.

In order to effectively remove these barriers, the PSB seeks to fundamentally change the way in 
which it approaches this agenda by taking a broader view of how all structures of public services 
and partners can be reconfigured and re-aligned. Individuals, families and communities should not 
miss out on much-needed help and support because of our differing thresholds, eligibility criteria, 
procedural mechanisms and priorities which are directed by prescriptive funding streams.

Furthermore, it is envisaged that the creation of the Community Zones will support a number of the 
key challenges for our population that have emerged through the Cwm Taf Well-being Assessment 
and Population Needs Assessment. 

Appendix B

Page 224

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=210
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=181&mid=444&fileid=34
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=179&mid=436&fileid=156


Gurnos Pilot Community Zone Proposed Engagement and Communication Plan

Activity/Key Aim Target Group Lead Date Outcome
1 Key Activity:  Awareness raising of the Pilot Community Zone 

with strategic organisation and leads 
Key Aims: 
 Confirmation of the project key aims, priorities and plans
 Understanding of how partners and organisations can 

contribute
 Gaining commitment of resources within a ‘shared 

approach’

MTCBC Elected 
Members 

Strategic Partners

Community 
Wellbeing Leads

August 2018 Confirmed lead and member of the 
Implementation group

Outline confirmation on the contribution 
the organisation /partners will provide

Agreement to a ‘shared approach’

2 Key Activity:  Awareness raising of the Pilot Community Zone 
with  Education Department
Key Aims: 
 Confirmation of the project key aims, priorities and plans
 Understanding of schools needs and contribute
 Gaining commitment of resources within a ‘shared 

approach’

Head Teacher - 
primary and 
secondary 
schools

Community 
Wellbeing Leads

Early September 
2018

Confirmed lead and member of the 
Implementation group

Outline confirmation on the contribution 
the organisation will provide

Agreement to a ‘shared approach’
3 Key Activity:  Awareness raising of the Pilot Community Zone 

with  the community 
Key Aims: 
 Starting the community ‘conversation’ 
 Identifying priorities 
 Establishing leads/organisations for the  Neighbourhood 

Network

Tenants & 
residents  
community 
groups

Community 
Wellbeing Leads 
/3G’s 
Development 
Trust

August 2018 Named leads for membership of the 
Neighbourhood Network

Agreement to a ‘shared approach’

4 Key Activity:  Public Event- Awareness raising campaign and 
workshop 
Key Aims: 
 Confirmation of the project key aims, priorities and plans
 Agreeing the Theory of Change (TOC)
 Organisations commitment of resources within a ‘shared 

approach’
 Establishing leads/organisations for the  Neighbourhood 

Network

Statutory 
organisation,  
Third Sector & 
Voluntary 
Partners                                                                                                                 

Community 
Wellbeing Leads 
/ 3G’s 
Development 
Trust

Strategic Leads

Public Service 
Board(PSB) 

October 2018 Confirmed lead and member of the 
Neighbourhood Network 

Outline confirmation of the contribution 
organisations will be able to provide

Agreement to a ‘shared approach’

5 Key Activity:  Set up a local Community Zone Implementation 
Group 
Key Aims: 

MTCBC Elected 
Members 

Community 
Wellbeing Leads 

Mid- September 
2018

Agreed meeting format & TOR

Agreed strategic priorities & 1 year plan

P
age 225



 Agree membership 
 Set the Terms of Reference (TOR)
 Set Strategic delivery plan and 1 year work plan
 Identifying priorities / remove road blocks
 Progress monitoring 
 To develop a co-produced solution to an identified need
 Develop an ACE informed workforce and community

Strategic Partners

Community Leads
Agreed ‘Shared approach’ 

Circulation List and yearly calendar

Key Activity:  Set up a Neighbourhood Network 
Key Aims: 
 Membership
Through a Topic / Themed Approach; 
 Identification of community needs / gaps in provision / 

‘road blocks’
 Support the implementation of a co- produced approach to 

a  proposed solution to a local need
 Progress monitoring 

Tenants & 
residents  
community 
groups

Statutory, Third 
Sector &  
Voluntary 
organisations

Community 
Zone lead/3G’s 
Development 
Trust

November  
2018 (bi 
monthly) 

Agreed meeting format

Agreed priorities

Agreed ‘Shared approach’

Key Activity:  Marketing and Promotion
Key Aims
 Develop a social media plan and ‘brand’
 Promote the initial awareness sessions and workshops
 Naming of the facility and ‘Hub’ launch
 Promote community activities and events 
 Promote community good news stories

Tenants & 
residents  
community 
groups

Statutory, Third 
Sector &  
Voluntary 
organisations

Community 
Zone 
Implementation 
Group

October 2018 Marketing promotion plan

Community zone ‘Brand’

Community engagement and interaction

A better informed community

P
age 226



Neighbourhood Network and Interface with Implementation Group

Implementation
Grp (Governance)

Gurnos 
Neighbourhood 

Network & 
Single Point of 
Contact (SPOC) 

Hub 

Education

Voluntary 
Sector

GP’s

Social 
Services

MVH

Police

Health
Schools

Youth 
Services

Flying 
Start/Families 

First  

Employment 
ServicesCommunity 

members

One Public Service & 
Integrated Working 

Economic 
Development

P
age 227



Regional and Local Governance Framework 

                                    

Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board
(PSB)

Cwm Taf Strategic 
Partnership Board

 (SPB)

Strategic Delivery Group
(Objective 1)

Community Zone 
Implementation Group

(The Gurnos)

Community Zone 
Implementation Group

(Rhondda Fach)

Proposed Implementation Group Key Priorities

1. Agree Terms of Reference (TOR)
2. Review 1 year work plan and assess progress
3. Develop shared understanding of the ‘context’  of the area and its needs based on data 

and lived experiences
4. Identification  of future priority areas for development/challenge
5. Agree a future local work plan across organisations

Page 228



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Implementation of the Section 117 Policy of the 
Mental Health Act

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report will inform members of the revised Section 117 Aftercare Policy.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 The purpose of this policy, which is attached as Appendix 1, is to ensure that after-
care arrangements under Section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 are in place 
and are implemented consistently and effectively across Cwm Taf University Health 
Board (CTUHB) and in conjunction with Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) and Merthyr 
Tydfil (MT) Local Authorities.  

2.2 The Mental Health Act Code of Practice (1983 revised 2016) stipulates that “after-
care services” means services which have the purpose of meeting a need arising 
from, or related to the patients mental disorder, and which reduce the risk of a 
deterioration of the patients mental condition (and accordingly, reduce the risk of the 
patient requiring admission to Hospital again for treatment for mental disorder).

2.3 After-care services may encompass healthcare, social care and employment 
services, supported accommodation, and services to meet the patient’s wider social, 
cultural and spiritual needs.  After-care services are aimed at meeting the need that 
arises directly from, or related to the patients mental disorder; and help reduce the 
risk of deterioration in the patient’s mental condition.  All services should be ‘the 
least restrictive option’.

Date Written 10th September 2018
Report Author Mark Anderton
Service Area Social Services
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 229

Agenda Item 18



2.4 Ensuring after-care is in place is a joint responsibility between CTUHB and the 
relevant Local Authority.  This responsibility includes maintaining an accurate record 
of patients for whom they commission after-care services for.  This will include the 
type of after-care provided. 

3.0 WHERE WE WERE 

3.1 CTUHB and its partner Local Authorities have had a Section 117 After-Care Policy in 
place for a number of years.  The policy requires updating every three years.  This is 
one such update. 

4.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

4.1 The Section 117 After-Care Policy has been reviewed and updated by a multi-
disciplinary working group from CTUHB, RCTCBC and MTCBC.  The revised policy 
has received legal oversight from both RCTCBC and MTCBC and has been 
approved by the Mental Health Act Monitoring Committee and is now operational. 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this policy.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time. The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR                 

SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 230



RHONDDA CYNONTAF

Ref: MHA 117

Policy for Implementation of Section 117 of the 
Mental Health Act

INITIATED BY: LG :Mental Health Directorate 

APPROVED BY:

DATE APPROVED:

VERSION: 3 

OPERATIONAL DATE:

DATE FOR REVIEW: 3 years from date of approval or if any 
legislative or operational changes require

DISTRIBUTION: Clinical Governance Members
Mental Health Act Monitoring Group

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION STATUS: Open

Page 231



Ref: Policy V1.

CONTENTS

1.   Purpose 1
2.   Policy Statement            1
3.   Principles 2
4.   Scope 2
5.   Legislative and NHS Requirements 2
6.   Section 117 Policy interface with continuing health care                       3
7. Procedure 5
8.   Training Implications 10
9.   Review. Monitoring and Audit Arrangements 10
10.  Managerial Responsibilities 11
11.  Retention or Archiving 11
12.  Non Conformance         11
13.  Equality Impact Assessment Statement                         11
14.  References         11
       APPENDIX A - CTP Review Form                                                        
       APPENDIX B - CTP Care Plan Record
       APPENDIX C - Form C Aftercare Discontinuation from Section 117
        APPENDIX D - Transfer of Section 117 patient from Hospital to Community 
                            Setting 
       APPENDIX E - Section 117 joint assessment   
       APPENDIX F - Terms of reference for Section 117 Commissioning 

   arrangements  
       APPENDIX G - Equality Impact Assessment
       APPENDIX H - Training Impact Assessment
       

Policy Definition
A policy is a high level overall guide, which sets the boundaries within which 
action will take place, and should reflect the philosophy of the organisation or 
department. 

It provides a prescribed plan for staff to follow, which should not be deviated 
from.

Page 232



1

1. Purpose

The purpose of this policy is to ensure that after-care arrangements 
under Section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 (the ACT) are in 
place and are implemented consistently and effectively across Cwm 
Taf University Health Board and in conjunction with Rhondda Cynon 
Taf and Merthyr Tydfil Local Authorities.  

2. Policy Statement

What is After-care?
The Mental Health Act Code of Practice (1983 revised 2016) stipulates 
that “after-care services means services which have the purpose of 
meeting a need ‘arising from, or related, the patients mental 
disorder, and which reduce the risk of a deterioration of the patients 
mental condition (and accordingly, reduce the risk of the patient 
requiring admission to Hospital again for treatment for mental 
disorder). 

What constitutes After-care Services?
After-care services may encompass healthcare, social care and 
employment services, supported accommodation, and services to 
meet the patient’s wider social, cultural and spiritual needs.  After-
care services are aimed at meeting the need that arises ‘directly from, 
or related to the patients mental disorder; and help reduce the risk of 
deterioration in the patients mental condition. All services should be 
‘the least restrictive option’.  

Section 117 applies when a patient ceases to be detained and leaves 
hospital (this includes periods of section 17 leave or subject to a 
Community Treatment Order). It applies and will continue until the 
Health Board and Local Authority are satisfied that the person 
concerned is no longer in need of after-care services. If a patient is 
discharged from the Community Treatment Order (CTO), it does not 
mean that they are discharged from after-care services. 

Who is responsible for Section 117 After-care arrangements?
This is a joint responsibility between CTUHB and the relevant Local 
Authority. This responsibility includes maintaining an accurate record 
of patients for whom they commission after-care services for. This will 
include the type of after-care provided. 

Page 233



2

When does after-care commence?
After-care begins when a patient leaves hospital, however, the 
planning of after-care should commence during the admission and be 
in place prior to discharge or release from prison.   

3. Principles

This Policy provides the framework for effective multi-disciplinary 
team working in the assessment, planning, implementation and 
review of aftercare arrangements for such patients. CTUHB and the 
relevant local authority will take ‘reasonable steps’ to consult with the 
patient/family or carer to identify appropriate after-care services. 

The planning of aftercare will commence once the patient has been 
placed upon section within Hospital. Mental Health Tribunals (MHRT) 
and Hospital Managers will expect to see information on after-care 
arrangements as part of the Professionals reports submitted.
The philosophy for implementation is embodied within the Mental 
Health (Wales) Measure – Care and Treatment Planning (CTP) of 
which the key elements are: -

 Systematic arrangements for assessing people’s health 
and social care needs.

 The formulation of a care plan to address the needs
 The appointment of a Care Coordinator to keep in close 

contact with the patient to monitor implementation of the 
planned care

 Regular reviews, including changes to care planned as 
and when appropriate

 Advice and support from Independent Mental Health 
Advocacy 

4. Scope
 
This Policy relates to all patients under Section 46 of the NHS 
(specific sections under the Mental Health Act) within Cwm Taf 
University Health Board, RCT and Merthyr Tydfil Local Authority. 

5. Legislative and NHS Requirements

Section 117 services are community aftercare services under Section 
46 of the National Health Service and The Code of Practice to Parts 2 
and 3 of the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010. It is the duty of 

Page 234



3

Statutory Organisations, in conjunction with voluntary agencies to 
provide after-care services for any person subject to detention under 
the following Sections of the Mental Health Act 1983:-

 Section 3
 Section 37
 Section 45A hospital direction
 Section 47
 Section 48

6. Section 117 Policy interface with continuing 
Health Care 

Where a patient is eligible for services under Section 117, these should 
be provided under Section 117 arrangements and not under NHS 
continuing healthcare. However, this does not prevent either party 
funding the whole package, when taking into account their health or 
social care needs.  
Only needs that are not specific 117 aftercare needs should be 
considered for NHS continuing healthcare, for example, physical health 
needs that may constitute a primary health need. It is preferable that 
there are separate budgets for funding Section 117 and NHS 
continuing healthcare. Where there is funding from the same budget 
they should be ‘distinct and separate entitlements’. 

All those subject to section 117 are considered to be in receipt of 
secondary mental health services as defined under the Mental Health 
(Wales) Measure 2010 (the Measure) and will therefore have a Care 
Co-ordinator and an outcome focussed prescribed Care and 
Treatment Plan (CTP) that is reviewed at least yearly. Detailed 
guidance regarding Care and Treatment planning is given in the Code 
of Practice to Parts 2 and 3 of the Measure. 

There are no powers to charge for services provided under section 
117 of the 1983 Act, regardless of whether those services are 
provided by the NHS or local authorities. Accordingly, the question of 
whether services should be ‘free’ NHS services rather than potentially 
charged-for services does not arise. It is not appropriate to assess 
eligibility for CHC if all the services in question are to be provided as 
after-care under section 117 

However, an individual in receipt of after-care services under section 
117 may also have additional needs which are not related to their 
mental disorder. For example an individual may be receiving services 
under section 117 and develop separate physical needs e.g. following 

Page 235



4

a stroke, which may then trigger the need to consider NHS continuing 
healthcare. 

In such cases the general approach set out in this Framework of 
considering the totality of need in assessing eligibility for CHC still 
applies. The individual may as result, have the services required to 
meet their total care needs funded by the NHS, but this does not 
necessarily remove the joint duty under section 117. The section 117 
joint duty remains unless a joint assessment and agreement by both 
the LA and the LHB determines that those arrangements are no 
longer needed. 

Where an individual in receipt of section 117 services develops 
physical care needs resulting in a rapidly deteriorating condition 
which may be entering a terminal phase (or a catastrophic health 
event which clearly requires CHC), consideration should be given to 
the use of the Fast Track Pathway Tool. 

Where an individual is to be discharged from section 117, eligibility 
for CHC or funded nursing care will need to be considered where the 
transition assessment and plan indicate that these may be required. 
Information should be provided to the individual or their 
representative in regards to the effect that discharge from section 
117 arrangements may have on their finances and/or welfare 
benefits. 

A ‘joint section 117’ commissioning group (CTUHB/RCT/MT) has 
been developed in order to implement this process. It is expected that 
specific health and social care needs will be identified by using the 
‘Section 117 application’ process (see APPENDIX E) that incorporates 
assessment of need identified via individual professional assessments 
and CTP documentation. This information will be presented by the 
relevant clinical team/care coordinator to the commissioning group for 
consideration.  

NB: It is envisaged that the paperwork supporting the Section 
117 application will be the appropriate CTP assessment/care 
plan and risk assessment in the near future. 

All Section 117 applications will need to be agreed by the Senior Nurse 
and LA Team Manager, and must be processed via:-

 the relevant Local Authority  accommodation panel (by the 
social worker involved) and 

 the CTUHB supported accommodation panel (by the CPN/Health 
representative) 

This will need to have been processed prior to presentation at the 
Joint Section 117 commissioning Panel. 

Page 236



5

Jointly Agreed protocols will be in place to support all avenues of 117 
aftercare packages. There should be no exemption of category of care 
provision and the focus should be on the individual’s identified need.

When the Practitioner presents their request to the relevant health or 
local authority panel, a discussion should take place with regards to 
the individual’s identified needs and a decision made whether to 
progress this to the joint 117 panel.  If at any stage in this process 
there is disagreement between health and local authority 
practitioners, this should automatically be escalated to the joint 117 
panel for discussion and resolution.  

The Section 117 Joint Commissioning panel will meet on a monthly 
basis (see Appendix F for terms of reference). The commissioning 
panel will agree the joint funding split and set the criteria for 
monitoring and feedback. If the panel is unable to agree on a decision 
this will be escalated via the necessary board agreement.  

The Section 117 panel will also facilitate discussion in view to 
placements that exceed the ‘agreed residential rate’ and ‘Funded 
nursing care rate’ in order to jointly agree a decision based upon the 
individual’s needs.  

         
7. Procedure

The key stages in the Section 117 aftercare process:- 

(i) Initial Meeting (First meeting after application of 
Section) or Following re-admission to Hospital for 
patient subject to CTO.  

This is the first CTP/Section 117 review meeting held following 
application of section or readmission to hospital 
The purpose of the initial meeting is to: -
-Develop an agreed care plan 
-To ensure a plan for continuous review and amend care plan 
throughout admission
-Establish an agreed care plan for discharge describing 
aftercare arrangements

 Coordination of Meeting 
The Ward Manager (or deputy) will organise the ‘initial meeting’, if 
the person is not known to Mental Health Services. This will be 
supported by the Mental Health Act administrators. 

Page 237



6

If the patient already has an identified Care Coordinator, then this 
care coordinator will coordinate and arrange for all relevant staff 
involved in the patients care to attend. This will include family/ 
carers/ others involved in supporting the patient whilst in the 
community setting.  

This meeting must be held within two – four weeks of the Section 
application. 

Whilst the patient is in Hospital the most appropriate time and place 
to hold the 117 meeting will be within the designated Responsible 
Clinician’s regular Multi-disciplinary meeting slot. All relevant CTP 
documentation will be available prior to this meeting.  

Prior to the initial meeting the Ward Manager (or deputy)/ Care
coordinator will liaise with and invite all relevant staff/family/support
organisations required to attend the meeting.

The minimum professional staff attendance at the initial 
meeting must be:
-Patient and/or Independent Mental Health Advocate (when 
nominated by patient)
-The Responsible Clinician (or nominated deputy)
-Social Worker 
-Named Nurse or deputy 
-Care Coordinator (if allocated) 

The following can be invited to attend the meetings as appropriate;
-Patient’s General Practitioner (always invited)
-Best Interest Assessor (if lacks mental capacity)
-The patients identified or named carer/ and/or advocate (consent of 
patient required)
 -Any other person involved in the patient’s care who the Care Co-
ordinator feels should contribute to the meeting

If the patient’s current condition prevents their attendance at the 
meeting it should still go ahead, however care should be taken to 
ensure the patient’s views are represented at the meeting by their 
nominated advocate.

In the case of no previous social worker involvement, an invite will be 
sent to the team manager of the relevant social work team. The Local 
Authority will need the minimum of 7 days’ notice to attend.

Page 238



7

 Format of the Meeting

The most appropriate person will chair the meeting which will be 
agreed prior to the meeting taking place i.e. Care 
Coordinator/Responsible Clinician. The Chair will be responsible for 
explaining the purpose and aims of the meeting, and will facilitate the 
meeting accordingly. 

During the meeting a Care Coordinator will be nominated (if not 
already nominated) taking into account their suitability for 
coordinating the future agreed care plan.  Once this has been 
established the main points of the care- plan will be agreed and 
recorded on the CTP/Section 117 review form (see Appendix A).

During the meeting the named nurse/care coordinator will:
-Provide a written copy of the current care plan to be reviewed
-Discuss progress/amendments as appropriate
-Ensure that the CTP /Section 117 review form is completed 
accurately  
-Amend care plan/risk assessment accordingly
-Set a review date for the next meeting –expected to be every 3-6 
months and prior to discharge. 
-Copies of the CTP review and care plan will be made available or 
forwarded to all agreed parties (including the GP).  

(ii) Aftercare Review (following discharge from 
Hospital)

Once the patient has been discharged into the Community it is the 
responsibility of the Care Co-ordinator to ensure that regular planned 
reviews takes place. (Appendix A). 

Monitoring arrangements will be agreed and put into place by the 
relevant Team Manager/Leader to ensure adherence to this. 

The nominated Team Administrator is responsible for updating and 
maintaining a database for all patients subject to Section 117 
aftercare. The Team Administrator will also be responsible for 
notifying the Care Coordinator when Section 117 meetings are 
required to be scheduled (minimum of 1 every year).  

It is recommended that CTP review meetings should take place at the 
following intervals:-
-within three months of discharge from Hospital
-then at least every 6 months after. 
-if stable reviews can be held at a minimum of yearly intervals 

Page 239



8

However, a Care Coordinator or deputy/named nurse should arrange 
meetings at more regular intervals should the following arise:-

 patient’s needs have changed or current services no 
longer available

 deterioration in mental health

 patient disengages with care plan

 prior to any transfer of care (i.e. out of area/ team 
transfer/change in Responsible Clinician/Care Coordinator 
etc).

The minimum attendance at ongoing reviews must be:

-Patient and family/carers/ Independent Mental Health Advocate (if 
nominated by patient). 
-Care Coordinator
-Responsible Clinician should attend a minimal of annual CTP review 
meetings
-All professionals actively involved in the care plan

 The following will be invited to attend the meetings as appropriate
-Patient’s General Practitioner (always invited)
-Any other person whom the service user or Care Co-ordinator feels 
could contribute to the meeting. 

The format of the meeting will be the same as for the initial meeting 
described beforehand. Details of the meeting, including any revision 
to the care plan, and any identified unmet need will be recorded upon 
a CTP review form (Appendix A). This form will be made available or 
circulated to all persons involved in the overall care plan, in addition 
to the patient’s GP. A date and time must be set for the next planned 
review at this meeting.

(iii) Termination of Aftercare

Patients’ subject to Section 117 aftercare arrangements have a right 
to receive services free of charge following discharge from Hospital. 
Aftercare should therefore only be terminated when the person no 
longer requires significant input and will be part of their recovery 
process. This decision must be taken collaboratively within the wider 
care team, but must include representatives from the Local Authority 
and Health Board. This decision would have been discussed and 
agreed with the wider MDT and Senior Managers (Health & Local 
Authority) within the relevant locality setting. The decision should take 
into account the views of the patient, their family and carers. 

Page 240



9

A patient should not be discharged from Section 117 purely because 
they have been discharged off a CTO, or an arbitrary time period has 
lapsed. 

If it is felt that a person no longer requires aftercare then Completion 
of the Termination or aftercare Form (Form C in appendix C) must be 
completed at the point of discharge; this is usually coordinated under 
the remit of a Section 117 review meeting organised to formally 
terminate aftercare. It should be completed by an agreed 
representative from the health board and an agreed representative 
from the Local Authority (all decisions to discharge should be made 
jointly between health and social services). 

The completed form should then be given to both the Team Leader for 
admin (within specific locality) and a copy sent to the Mental Health 
Act Administrator. This is necessary in order to keep Section 117 
register updated. A copy will also be stored in the patients’ case notes 
and Mental Health Act folder.  

(iv) Transfer of care

 Patient moving out of Area

A Section 117 meeting should be held prior to the move to or from 
another area.  The care cannot be transferred until an agreement has 
been reached by both the referring team and the locality team being 
referred to. The responsible care co-ordinator will have needed to 
begin negotiations with the relevant NHS Health Board/Trust and 
Local Authority to which the patient is moving and set up the initial 
meeting to discuss the referral. It is good practice that both 
teams work together until the formal handover and transfer of 
care has been agreed. 

Local Authority 117 responsibility will usually remain with the Local 
Authority team where the patient lived (when the section was 
applied).This will include any financial responsibilities for aftercare 
arrangements.

(v) Disengagement

A patient may refuse aftercare services, but unwillingness to accept 
services does not mean the patient does not need them. It does not 
relieve the statutory agencies of their responsibility to offer aftercare 
services. If a client refuses aftercare an urgent review meeting will be 
arranged to determine future action. The Clinical Team must meet 
regularly to review the engagement process and the necessary 
actions to be undertaken in line with the care plan. The Care 

Page 241



10

Coordinator will be responsible for maintaining some form of contact 
with the patient, as agreed by the multi-disciplinary team. 

NB: Please see Cwm Taf Health Board ‘Disengagement policy’ 
for further details

(vi) Mental Health Tribunals and Managers Hearing (MHRT)

The Health Board and Local Authority will be expected to provide 
details to a MHRT or Hospital Managers about appropriate 
preparatory aftercare arrangements. This information will allow the 
MHRT/Hospital Managers to review what care provision is available 
upon discharge.  

8. Training Implications

Training will be provided across all service areas to ensure 
understanding in order to promote best practice. Managers will be 
responsible for ensuring that adequate training is provided 
particularly in line with responsibilities under the Mental Health Act. 

9. Review, Monitoring and Audit arrangements

Review - These guidelines will be reviewed regularly, at last every 12 
months.

Monitoring
- The Section 117 register will be maintained by the nominated 
Team Administrator (CMHT) in the Community setting. The Mental 
Health Act Administrator will notify the relevant Team Administrator 
upon discharge from Hospital.  

- The Section 117 process will be monitored for effectiveness by 
the Section 117 Steering Group and Mental Health Act Monitoring 
Group. 

- Minutes of meetings will be forwarded to responsible manager 
of service.

Audit

Implementation of these guidelines will be audited on a yearly basis 
as part of the Clinical Governance Forum.

 

Page 242



11

10. Managerial Responsibilities

It is the responsibility of all Managers and Heads of Department to 
ensure that this policy is understood and adhered to by all health and 
social care staff. Overall monitoring will be maintained by the Clinical 
Director.

The interface between the Continuing Healthcare and Section 117 
process will be agreed and developed between Cwm Taf Health Board 
and Relevant Local Authority.    

11. Retention or Archiving

This policy will be available via LHB SharePoint / intranet. The 
Directorate will retain all previous versions of this policy for future 
reference. This policy will be version controlled.

12. Non Conformance

Conformance with this policy will be monitored on a regular basis; 
non-conformance may be subject to an investigation.

13. Equality Impact Assessment Statement

This Policy has been subject to a full equality assessment and no 
impact has been identified.

14. References

- The Mental Health Act Code of Practice (1983)
- Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010
- Continuing NHS Healthcare: The National Framework for 

Implementation in Wales (June 2014)
- Together for Mental Health - A Strategy for Mental Health and 

Wellbeing in Wales (Welsh Government February2013)

Page 243



12

Appendix A CTP REVIEW FORM
 

CWM TAF HB, RHONDDA CYNON TAF & MERTHYR TYDFIL LA
MHM CARE & TREATMENT PLANNING:      REVIEW 

CTO No CHC REVIEW No SECTION 117 MHA No
Date Click here to enter a date.

SWIFT # Hos # Consultant

First Names Surname

DOB Post Code

Address

Outcome Areas

Progress / Updates Against CTP Goals
Document what has gone well / what hasn’t.  Document all 

views / updates from all those involved in the Care plan 
including the Service User, family & Carer

Have you 
met your 

goals?

Accommodation, including 
housing

Partial

Education & Training N/A

Finance and money N/A

Medical treatment and other 
forms of treatment, 

including psychological 
interventions

N/A

Parenting or caring 
relationships

N/A

Personal care and physical 
well-being

N/A

Social (including leisure), 
cultural and spiritual

N/A

Work and occupation
N/A

Other areas N/A

Page 244



13

Please state those who contributed to the review 
(Did they attend the meeting, provide written information or verbal report / updates)

Name Designation Attendance Sent Report

Invited & Attended Choose an 
item.

Invited & Attended Choose an 
item.

Invited & Attended Choose an 
item.

Invited & Attended Choose an 
item.

Invited & Attended Choose an 
item.

Invited & Attended Choose an 
item.

 

Discharge / Transfer Plan (if applicable): what happens next for me / how I will manage following my 
discharge / crisis triggers & how to re-access secondary services (MHM Part 3 information)

Anticipated date of Discharge / Transfer:                            Actual Date of Discharge / Transfer:

Name of Team/Care Co-ordinator you are Discharging / Transferring to:

Care Coordinators views / summary & updated formulation

Review & Update of Assessments:

Carers Assessment Direct Payments
Carer exists? Choose an 

item.
Direct Payments offered but declined

If yes, is person a carer under the act Choose an 
item.

Carers assessment offered and accepted
Carer involved in CTP Planning Choose an 

item.

CTP Assessment reviewed and current        Choose an item.
Risk Assessment reviewed and current                       Choose an item.
Does the service user still agree / not agree for their information 
to be shared

Choose an item.

Has the Consent to Share Form been signed by the service User                                     Choose an item.

Page 245



14

Date of Next CTP Review Click here to enter a date.

Signatures Date

Service User (may wish to 
sign)

Click here to enter a 
date.

Reason if unable/unwilling 
to sign

Carer/s (may wish to sign) Click here to enter a 
date.

Care Co-ordinator Click here to enter a 
date.

Manager Click here to enter a 
date.

Page 246



15

Appendix B - CTP CARE PLAN RECORD
CARE AND TREATMENT PLAN

Gall y cynllun hwn cael ei gwblhau yn y Gymraeg neu yn y Saesneg,
neu yn rhannol yn y Gymraeg ac yn rhannol yn Saesneg

This plan may be completed in either the Welsh or the English language,
or partly in Welsh and partly in English

Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010 Section 18 – Care and Treatment Plan
This care and treatment plan has been prepared under 

section 18 of the Mental Health (Wales) Measure

This is the care and treatment plan of 
Name of relevant 
patient

patient’s 
swift 
number 

who lives at (full usual address)

Full usual 
address of 
relevant patient 

The care coordinator who has prepared this care and treatment plan is
Name of care 
coordinator 

who can be contacted at:
Telephone 
number, postal 
address and 
where 
appropriate e-
mail address of 
care coordinator

The care coordinator has been appointed by, and is acting on behalf of
Name of Local 
Health Board or 
Local Authority 
that appointed 
care coordinator

This plan was made on

and is to be reviewed no later than 

Date plan was made and 
date by which the plan 
must be reviewed

However, Name of relevant patient

his or her carer(s), or adult placement carer(s) may request a review of 
this care plan at any time 

Page 247



16

This part of the care and treatment plan records the outcomes which the provision of mental health services are designed to 
achieve, details of those services that are to be provided, and the actions that are to be taken with a view to achieving these 

outcomes.
The planned outcome(s) included in the following part of the plan must relate to one or more of the areas listed, 
and include an explanation of how each outcome relates to each area.  Outcomes also may be achieved in other 
areas, and are to take into account any risks identified in relation to the relevant patient.  This part of the plan 
should also set out details of the services that are to be provided or actions taken to achieve the planned 
outcomes, including when and by whom those services are to be provided or actions taken.

Outcomes to be 
achieved must be 
agreed in relation to 
at least one of the 
following areas

Outcome to be achieved What services are to be
provided or actions taken

When Who by

Accommodation 

Education and 
training 

Finance and 
money

Medical and 
other forms of 
treatment, 
including 

P
age 248



17

psychological 
interventions

Parenting or 
caring 
responsibilities

Personal care 
and physical 
well-being

Social, cultural 
and spiritual

Work and 
occupation

Outcomes to be 
achieved may 
also be agreed 
in relation to 
other areas

P
age 249



18

The following thoughts, feelings or behaviours may indicate that 
Name of relevant 

patient 
Is becoming more unwell and may require extra help from the care team
(these are sometimes called relapse signatures:

If Name of relevant 
patient

 feels that his or her 

mental health is deteriorating to the point where he or she requires extra help or support, the following actions ought to be taken (this is 
sometimes known as a crisis plan and must include the details of services to be contacted):

P
age 250



19

Any language or communication requirements or wishes which 
Name of relevant 

patient 
has (including in relation to the use of the Welsh Language) ought to be recorded here:

The views of Name of relevant 
patient 

on this care and treatment plan, the mental health services that are to be provided, and any future arrangements 
that ought to be considered are:

Record any views that the 
relevant patient wishes to be 
included (including past and 
present wishes and feelings 
about the matters covered 
by the plan) and include any 
statements about any future 
arrangements which may 
apply.  If the patient does not 
have any views or 
statements on these matters, 
or the patient’s views cannot 
be ascertained, this ought to 
be recorded also. 

This care and treatment plan has:

* been agreed with Name of relevant patient 
and is recorded in accordance with section 18(2) of the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010

* not been agreed with Name of relevant patient 

* delete as applicable (one, 
but not more than one 
statement must apply)

but the outcomes have been determined by the mental health service provider(s) and are recorded in 

P
age 251



20

accordance with section 18(6) of the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010.

So far as it is reasonably practicable to do so, the following mental health service provider(s) must ensure that 
the mental health services set out in this care and treatment plan are provided

Enter the name of the Local 
Health Board and/ or the 
Local Authority who are 
responsible for providing 
secondary mental health 
services to the relevant 
patient 

Signed: Relevant patient The relevant patient may 
sign the care and treatment 
plan if they wish 

Signed: Care Coordinator The care coordinator must 
sign this care and treatment 
plan

Date: Enter the date the care and 
treatment plan is made.

P
age 252



21

Appendix C

Cwm Taf University Health Board
Social Services Department Merthyr Tydfil CBC
Social Services Department RCT CBC (Cynon Valley)

FORM C
TERMINATION OF AFTERCARE

Client’s Name ………………………………………………………………………..

Home Address ……………………………………………………………………….

Key Worker ………………………………………………………………………….

Aftercare requirements are terminated because:
(Tick the relevant box and complete details)

1. Formal Aftercare no longer required   or
Date discussed and agreed with patient …………………………………………….
Reasons for cessation of requirement ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

Signature ……………………………………. Designation ……………………….
(Representative of Health Authority)

Signature ……………………………………. Designation ……………………….
(Representative of Social Services)

2. Client Refuses Aftercare  and no  
or longer requires care
Reason for refusing ………………………………………………………………...………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………

P
age 253



22

3. Patient moving/moved out of area  or
Date of move……………………………………………………………………….
New Address ………………………………………………………………………

Is the patient agreeable to the Local Health Board and Local Authority in 
the new area being informed?            *YES/NO (*delete as appropriate)

If YES
………………………………… LHB informed on ………………….      …………………………………      
Local Authority  informed on ……………………

 

4. Death of Client   or
Date of Death ……………………………………………………………………...
Signed ……………………………….    Date …………………………………

Key Worker
       

Copies to

       Responsible Clinician Case notes
       Team Leader Social Services Client (if appropriate)
       Mental Health Act Administrator          Care Coordinator   

P
age 254



23

Appendix D

Transfer of Section 117 patient from Hospital to Community Setting

COMMUNITY
SWIFT REGISTRATION FORM

SECTION 117

Name of Client: …………………………………………………………. 

Address: …………………………………………………………….........……………………………………………………………………… 

Dob:  ……………………………………………………………………… 

Hospital No: ………………………………………………………………. 

Section Placed on: ………………………………………(3, 3, 47 – please state)

Date of original section: ………………………………………………….. 

Date discharged from hospital: …………………………………………..

(This section is to be completed by the Mental Health Act Administrator and faxed to the Business Support 
Team in the relevant CMHT) 

For CMHT Business Support staff only: 
Name of Care Co-Ordinator if identified on SWIFT 

P
age 255



24

APPENDIX E
Section 117 Application for joint commissioning arrangements 

Section 117 Aftercare 
Commissioning and/or Funding Application 

(This form to be completed by Care Coordinator ;.It is necessary to have both health and local authority representation )

Individuals Name: NHS Number:
Swift Number :
Hospital Number:

Date of Birth: Age: 

Address:  (refer to Welsh Demographic Services (WDS) to check residency status/refer to Welsh Government Policy “Responsible Body Guidance for the NHS in Wales” (2013))
                            

Postcode:

Responsible Local Authority:                                                                                              Responsible Health Board:

Care Co-ordinator:  - (Part 2 of the Mental Health (Wales) Measure requires that all people receiving secondary care mental health services in Wales receive a care and treatment 
plan. A care coordinator is required to produce the plan with the engagement of the service user and mental health service providers. The duty to produce outcome-focused care and 
treatment plans will lead to more effective and efficient service delivery, with an emphasis on the recovery of the service user. The requirement for a holistic approach to care planning 
spanning a range of medical, psychological, social and spiritual needs will lead to service delivery that is more comprehensive and more enabling.)

Name:                                                                                                                    Tel:

Address:                                                                                                            Email:                                                                                                       

P
age 256



25

Responsible Clinician:

Address:

Tel:

CMHT Consultant Psychiatrist: (please provide details if not current RC)

Address:

Tel:

Current Location: ( if different, i.e. hospital, community)

MHA Status:  - (evidence required to confirm eligibility for S117 Aftercare)

Brief Summary of Case: - (provide a brief summary overview of the rationale for this request, i.e. what has led to this decision, what has already been tried and previous outcomes)

P
age 257



26

Identified Care & Support Needs: - (include details of needs in relation to both mental and physical health and social care needs identified in the individual’s Care and Treatment 
v Plan, Unified and Integrated Assessments. You may find it useful to refer to the domains within these assessments. These should include clear reference to what services are required as part 
of S117 aftercare needs. Include rational and evidence on type of accommodation/service required, e.g. domiciliary care in own home, residential, mental health nursing home and 24hr 
supported community placement. This information will assist in the future review and monitoring of services provided and also as part of S117 Aftercare reviews as to whether services are 
still required. This information may also be used to help determine unmet needs and service development opportunities for Health and Local Authorities).

Recommendations of MDT: - 
 Name and full address of recommended placement and company:

 Total Cost of placement :  Please provide weekly and yearly cost (please attach assessment and service provision and funding breakdown agreed 
with placement) 

Date of MDT:    -  (this could also refer to ward round, CTP meeting)

MDT Representatives:

Name Designation Name Designation
1 4
2 5
3 6

Individual’s Views: (Include the individual’s view on the proposed aftercare plan including their expectations. Where capacity issues are present ensure the MCA principles are 
followed and the need to hold a best interest meeting with the relevant representatives present for the individual concerned).
 

P
age 258



27

Expected outcomes of Placement/Package of Aftercare support: (Provide details of what the expectations are in regards to expected outcomes from the 
placement/package of support. Identified and clear outcome at the onset will form the basis of future monitoring and review processes within the framework of governance and contractual 
arrangements. Where possible provide timescales of when you expect outcomes to be achieved as this will assist in monitoring reviews).

Placement status in relation to Future Care Pathway: (Please provide details of the next stage of the care pathway e.g. independent living, reduced support, nursing or 
residential care. Where there is no future care pathway identified then give details of this, e.g. long term care).

Does the Patient have capacity to consent to this plan? Please consider the need for MCA, the need for IMCA involvement, is there a Best 
Interest assessment or lasting power of attorney evidence. ?  

Supporting Evidence Required which must be attached to this application

CTP/CPA Documentation (including 
MDT 
specific reports)

 Care & Treatment Plan 
 Risk Assessment
 Last CTP Review 

- This should include details in relation to the 117 Aftercare Plan
- Include latest CTP/CPA packs including minutes of most recent MDT meeting.
- These would also include specific assessment reports, OT, Psychology, Social Work
- Please include relevant current assessments, e.g. HCR- 20, SRV-20. 
- This will need to identify the ‘triggers’ for this application.

P
age 259



28

Assessment and funding  report from 
provider

- This will include the assessment of need by provider and total cost of placement/care planned 

Any other Additional Reports - Please specify

Submission completed by:  Designation:                                                Date:

..................................................................                     ...................................................                   ...............................        

Submission quality assured and agreed by:                                                

1) Senior Nurse (Health)                                     

  ………………………………………                       Date:  

                                                                                                                            
2) Team Leader (Local Authority)                     
                              
  ……………………………………….                      Date:

P
age 260



29

APPENDIX F
Terms of reference for Section 117 Commissioning arrangements  

CWM TAF HEALTH BOARD
CLINICAL PLACEMENT PANEL – LOCALITY LEVEL

TERMS OF REFERENCE – MENTAL HEALTH SECTION 117 PANEL

Purpose and Authority

The Panel will have delegated authority in line with the Scheme of Delegation to consider and make decisions regarding an individual’s 
eligibility for joint packages of care to be provided in line with Section 117 aftercare in partnership with the relevant Local Authority in respect 
of Cwm Taf residents.  

 Section 117 services are community aftercare services under Section 46 of the National Health Service and The Code of Practice to Parts 2 
and 3 of the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010. It is the duty of Statutory Organisations, in conjunction with voluntary agencies to provide 
after-care services for any person subject to detention under the following Sections of the Mental Health Act 1983:-
-Section 3
-Section 17A
-Section 37
-Section 37/41
-Section 45A hospital direction
-Section 47
-Section 48

P
age 261



30

The Panel will make recommendations on care packages required to meet identified need to the Assistant Director of Operations (Mental 
Health) and ….. equivalent with LA?  

Frequency of Panel Meetings

The Section 117 Panel will meet twice monthly at the Directorate Office, Mental Health Unit, Royal Glamorgan Hospital. The meeting will form 
the latter part of the Clinical Placement Panel.

Terms of Reference

 Ensure all applications relate to Rhondda Cynon Taff / Merthyr Tydfil residents.
 Ensure that all applications are robust and that there is sufficient evidence to support the Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) 
recommendation.
 To consider all applications in an equitable and consistent manner.
 To ensure that in-house service provision has been thoroughly considered, including where services can be utilised differently.
 To ensure appropriate monitoring arrangements are in place following Section 117 approval.
 Ensure that accurate notes are maintained of the Panel decision making to audit consistency of process and to provide evidence of 
decisions made.  
 Ensure clear financial processes are in place and adhered to in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation
 To implement any changes in policy or guidance arising from the Welsh Assembly Government, Ombudsman or legal 
challenges/recommendations.
 Where decisions on care packages exceed delegated limits, or wider service redesign is required to meet needs identified in care 
packages, cases will be progressed through to the Executive Management Board for decision on committing resources.

Mental Health Clinical Placement Panel – Membership

Panel Members
Head of Mental Health Nursing
Local Authority Representative – Rhondda Cynon Taff
Local Authority Representative – Merthyr Tydfil

P
age 262



31

In Attendance (not decision-makers)
CPNs and Social Workers for Clinical Areas
Finance Representative
Administrator

Quoracy

At least three members of the Panel should be present (one of which must be the Health Board representative and the other the Local 
Authority Representative from the relevant area of the cases to be discussed)

Consideration of cases

All cases will be placed upon an agenda once the relevant completed paperwork has been received and will include:-
1. Completion of Section 117 aftercare and funding application (see attached form)
2. Detailed Care and Treatment Plan 
3. Risk assessment (updated from most review review) 
4. Last CTP review, detailing triggers for consideration at Section 117 panel

All documentation and recommendations will have been scrutinised and endorsed by the relevant Senior Nurse/Local Authority Manager prior 
to this. Evidence of this will be necessary, prior to presentation at Section 117 panel (see need for agreement and signature on Section 117 
panel application). 

The Administrator will be responsible for collating all necessary paperwork and advising the Care Coordinator/MDT when the respective case 
will need to be presented. 

The Administrator will forward all necessary paperwork to the Section 117 Panel members at least 1 week prior to the meeting. 

Disputes
If a decision cannot be agreed at the Section 117 Panel it will be classed as a dispute and forwarded to the Executive Team Level in CTUHB 
and Local Authority for consideration. 

P
age 263



32

Review

These Terms of Reference and the process for consideration of cases will be reviewed in six months.

Appendix G 
Equality Impact Assessment

*Add in once policy agreed * 

P
age 264



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Valley Life Wellbeing Centre

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report will update members on the developments with regard to the Valley Life 
Dementia Well Being Centre.  This is part of the on-going strategic developments for 
services for people with dementia in Merthyr Tydfil.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 The proposed development of a Health and Wellbeing centre on the Keir Hardie 
Health Park (KHHP) site as part of the Valley Life programme is a unique opportunity 
to bring together a number of key partners in one building with a focus on the early 
detection of dementia and the support of people with this diagnosis and their 
families. 

2.2 The combination of social services, health and the third sector will create a centre of 
expertise and excellence to not only support people with dementia but also support 
the primary caregiver at home ensuring maximum quality of life and avoiding 
unnecessary admission to hospital. 

3.0 WHERE WE WERE 

3.1 In the last year discussions have taken place between officers of Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council (MTCBC) and Cwm Taf University Health Board (CTUHB) 
to establish a model which is reflective of MTCBC Wellbeing Outcomes, the Market 
Position Statement, Population Needs Analysis and the existing patterns of service. 

Date Written 10th September 2018
Report Author Mark Anderton
Service Area Social Services
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 265

Agenda Item 19



3.2 During February 2018 an outline proposal was discussed with the Assembly Minister 
Alun Davies, Cabinet Secretary for Local Government and Public Services and 
government officials.  Following positive feedback both MTCBC and CTUHB were 
invited to develop proposals for further consideration. 

3.3 To improve outcomes for people with a diagnosis of dementia, health and social care 
organisations will need to collaborate with the many systems that impact health-
including housing, public safety, employment, and education.  New strategies will 
need to be put in place to enhance interaction within and between hospitals, social 
services, public health and community organisations, and to boost information-
sharing across institutions and sectors. 

3.4 MTCBC and CTUHB conducted a multidisciplinary stakeholder session in the Orbit 
Centre Merthyr Tydfil on 1st December 2017 with the aim of meeting with architects 
(commissioned utilising a 2017/18 Independent Care Fund capital grant) to begin the 
long process of designing the Health & Wellbeing Centre for KHHP.

3.5 EPT Partnership Chartered Architects worked on the feedback from the stakeholder 
session and produced an Initial Concept Design which highlighted estimated capital 
costs of circa £5 - 6m for the build of the new Health and Wellbeing Centre.  This 
work is at a very early stage and the costs are indicative only.

3.6 The advantage of siting the Health and Wellbeing Centre on this site is as follows:

 Local transport links are already developed.
 Access to the site is already developed.
 “Wrap around” services for people with dementia are already on site.
 There is room for further expansion.

3.7 The stakeholder session produced an initial high level design concept where the 
Health and Wellbeing Centre would have a clinical front end (ie. memory 
assessment clinic) however the overall project would be based upon a social care 
type model. 

3.8 The outcome of the discussions has been to progress the development of a 
Wellbeing and Dementia Centre aligned to the existing facilities at the KHHP site. 
This model will be predicated on the following three principles:

 Early Diagnosis and Assessment.
 Condition Management.
 Effective Discharge Planning.

3.9 These principles align with the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act which 
promotes people having a voice and control over their wellbeing outcomes.  The 
development of the Health and Wellbeing Centre will incorporate the following key 
elements:

 Memory Clinic – early diagnosis and assessment.
 Integrated Health and Social Care Day Service – this incorporates assessment 

and longer term condition management.

Page 266



 Enhance existing community teams to support people to remain at Home.
 Advanced therapies such as dietetics and speech and language.

4.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

4.1 The Valley Life Dementia Wellbeing Centre has been agreed in principle as a 
pipeline scheme at a regional level via the Transformational Leadership Group and 
the Regional Partnership Board.

4.2 An outline business case has been submitted to Welsh Government for 
consideration using the indicative figure outlined above.

4.3 A comprehensive business case is currently being prepared for submission to Welsh 
Government against the Intermediate Care Fund Capital Grant Scheme. 

4.4 A stakeholder engagement and consultation plan will be drawn up once the scheme 
has received formal approval for funding.

5.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

5.1 In a strategic stakeholder session during 2017, which included partners from Local 
Authority, Health and the Third Sector, the following outcomes were agreed for the 
Valley LIFE programme:

 Prevent dementia by encouraging healthier lifestyles and wellbeing.
 Provide early detection, diagnosis and treatment for people with dementia within 

their communities.
 Increase independent living for older people with cognitive and memory 

problems, their carers and families.  The Health and Wellbeing Centre will 
support people to remain in their own homes.

 Respond quickly to crisis of any type, seven days per week, to ensure the person 
with dementia and their carer return to stability as soon as possible.  We also 
want to avoid unplanned admissions to hospital through improved services in 
communities.

 Develop community support with the voluntary sector and people from across our 
communities, increasing local people’s understanding of dementia and the role 
they can play in supporting people, their carers and families to live well at home.

 Transform our paid and volunteer workforce to support new ways of working to 
deliver the Valley Life vision.

5.2 In terms of milestones and timescales it is anticipated that a build will take up to 
2 years from grant approval and then one year following that the outcomes as 
described above will be achieved. 

6.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

6.1 Complete a detailed business case which will require approval from Council.

6.2 If approved submit the detailed business case for submission to Welsh Government. 

Page 267



7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Funding is an area that is under discussion with regards to capital and Cabinet will 
be updated when this has been agreed.  The operating costs will be met through the 
transfer of existing revenue budgets. 

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this early 
stage in the development of the project.  The form can be accessed on the Council’s 
website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR                 

SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 268



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Update on Young People’s Participation and 
Facilitation of the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide 
Youth Forum (MTBWYF) and Office of Youth Mayor

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report outlines the progress made on the young people’s participation agenda 
and the facilitation of MTBWYF during 2017-18.  The report highlights the successes 
during the year and the work to be taken forward.

1.2 Key successes during the year include a significant increase in the number of young 
people participating in the Youth Mayor elections; the development and roll out of a 
young person led Mental Health DVD; improved membership of the MTBWYF to 
include young people from hard to reach groups and participation in the Young 
Person’s Wellbeing Conference, the views of which will be taken to the Public 
Service Board (PSB).

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Merthyr Tydfil has a successful background in supporting young people to participate 
effectively in the decision making process and this is achieved through working in 
partnership with young people to ensure services meet their needs and are 
sustainable in the longer term.

2.2 Since July 2016 Safer Merthyr Tydfil has been commissioned to manage the 
Participation Service.  The aim of the service is to support young people between the 
ages of 11 and 25 to participate effectively in the decision making processes around 
services that affect them.  It also supports the Office of the Youth Mayor and 
facilitates the Youth Cabinet and MTBWYF.

Date Written 10th August 2018
Report Author Samantha Morgan
Service Area Community Wellbeing
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 269

Agenda Item 20



2.3 These duties are undertaken in line with the statutory requirement of Extending 
Entitlement 2002 for young people to ‘be consulted, to participate in decision making, 
and to be heard on all matters which concern them or have an impact on their lives’; 
and also Article 12 of the United Nations Commission on the Rights of the Child 
(UNCRC) and the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015.

2.4 In order to ensure that this commitment continues under the new administration, the 
previous Youth Mayor gave a presentation to the Full Council in October 2017 and 
this gave new and existing members an overview of MTBWYF and its roles and 
responsibilities.

3.0 KEY SUCCESSES AND IMPACTS DURING 2017-18

3.1 This approach has enhanced partnership working with young people and the wider 
youth support services sector, including third sector providers, and has fostered a 
degree of independence from the local authority.  As a result, this has strengthened 
the voice of young people and empowered them to table their own proposals within 
reports to council.  Examples of this include:

 MTBWYF undertaking a review of the role of the Youth Mayor and the 
mechanism for election.  This resulted in the Council agreeing to move the 
inauguration of the Youth Mayor to fall in line with the local authority Mayor.

 the ‘Make your Mark’ campaign where the young people tabled a paper 
proposing support for votes at 16, which was unanimously supported by council 
members. 

 the report to consider young person representation as co-opted members on the 
local authority Scrutiny Committee’s which was agreed.  As a result, young 
people are able to provide information; express their viewpoint; monitor and 
challenge executive and council decisions and examine the quality of service 
delivery through questioning council members and officials.  Young people have 
been supported by staff from the Democratic Services to fully engage in this 
process.

3.2 A revised campaign and election procedure in order to raise the profile of learner 
voice and improve the inclusivity of the Youth Mayor Election process, saw the 
number of young people participating in the Youth Mayor election rising from 
37 votes in 2016 to 2500 votes in 2017.  This was achieved through presentations at 
secondary school assemblies, presentation of candidate’s hustings via a DVD and 
with support from Democratic Services staff.  

3.3 Active membership of MTBWYF has improved from a baseline of 28 members at the 
start of the year to 137 at the end of the year, with membership coming from hard to 
reach groups of young people such as the Pink Iris Forum (LGBT) and the Rainbows 
group for young people who are looked after.  This was achieved through improved 
partnership working with young people’s organisations and groups in the area and 
also through the development of the opportunity for young people to link in via social 
media.

Page 270



3.4 Positive mental health was also chosen by the young people of MTBWYF as the 
issue they wanted to champion this year.  In conjunction with the ‘Up and Coming 
Project’ they developed a Mental Health First Aid tool kit in the form of a DVD and 
accompanying magazine.  This was launched in October 2017 and also showcased 
at the Student Conference in November 2017.  The value of this piece of work has 
been recognised through the achievement of the prestigious High Sheriff Award 
2018 and endorsed by the Children’s Commissioner for Wales.  It was also featured 
on the BBC Sunday Politics programme in January 2018.

3.5 Members of MTBWYF supported the delivery of the annual Student Conference 
2017, the focus of which was how to improve the wellbeing and resilience of children 
and young people.  In response to an MTBWYF presentation, children and young 
people identified how they would like support, and how to develop self-help 
mechanisms when dealing with low level mental health concerns.  In response to this 
a mental health toolkit was developed by the Education Department and this, along 
with the mental Health First Aid toolkit, was used as part of a mental health training 
programme delivered by Valleys MIND in our local schools and is also used by other 
adults and groups working with young people.

3.6 MTBWYF members were also lead facilitators at the children and young person’s 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Conference, which was organised by the Education 
Department and took place in March 2018.  This sought the views of young people 
on the seven wellbeing goals and the results will be shared with the PSB, with a view 
to it being used to shape future direction.  This will link in with work undertaken by 
the Information, Communication and Engagement Group that is looking at ways to 
improve PSB engagement with young people, with proposals at an early stage of 
development.

3.7 In order to recognise and celebrate young people’s achievement the young people of 
MTBWYF relaunched, organised and hosted the Academy of Success 2018 in 
partnership with local organisations

3.8 A participation network has been established via the Participation Agenda Group and 
over the year this has expanded from four to eighteen members, representing a 
range of organisations that work with children and young people.

4.0 AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT 2018-19

4.1 Members of the Youth Cabinet have finalised their work plan for the forthcoming year 
and have taken into consideration the feedback from the Wellbeing Conference 
when shaping this.  Projects and topics to be taken forward are radicalisation, 
homelessness and further work on mental health aimed at primary school pupils.

4.2 A review of the new Youth Mayor electoral process is also underway.  Members of 
MTBWYF have developed a survey for use with pupils in the secondary schools to 
evaluate the new hustings process.  The results will be used to improve this year’s 
Youth Mayor electoral campaign. 

Page 271



4.3 To support organisations to consult with their service users, the  roll out of ‘Young 
People Say’ training by members of MTBWYF will provide participating organisations 
with meaningful ways of listening and responding to the voices of children and young 
people and support them to effectively undertake their duties in line with the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015.  It will also enable them to achieve the 
relaunched National Participation Standards.

4.4 Following a request from the Cwm Taf Public Engagement Group and in partnership 
with the Participation service in RCT, a working group of young people is in the initial 
stages of being set up to explore effective ways of engaging with the PSB.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 272



Document is Restricted

Page 273

Agenda Item 21
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Scrutiny Report Recommendations – Capital Engineering Project Referral (Brandy Bridge Scheme/ Road Slip – South Of Pontygwaith
	4 Earmarked Reserves Review
	5 Integrated Impact Assessment
	6 Competitive Leagues In Schools
	7 Cwm Taf Winter Pressures Plan 2018-19
	Appendix 1

	8 Regional Strategy for Children, Young People and Families
	Appendix 1

	9 Children’s Services Inspection
	Appendix 1

	10 Petition - Reduction in speed limit on the A4054 Merthyr Road Pentrebach from 40mph to 30mph
	Appendix 2

	11 NEETs Prevention and Performance
	12 Future Funding for Gypsy Roma and Traveller Learners and Pupils for whom English is an Additional Language (EAL)
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7

	13 Play Sufficiency Assessment
	14 Flying Start Programme Performance
	15 Employee Benefits and Rewards
	16 MTCBC Change Programme – Quarter One Progress 2018-2019
	17 Community Zones - Update
	18 Implementation of the Section 117 Policy of the Mental Health Act
	Appendix 1

	19 Valley Life Wellbeing Centre
	20 Update on Young People's Participation and Facilitation of the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF) and Office of Youth Mayor
	21 Cyfarthfa Castle Developments

